Department of Mental Health and Alcohol Research, National Public Health Institute, Helsinki, Finland and Department of Psychiatry, University of Helsinki, Finland

OFFSPRING OF MOTHERS WITH PSYCHOTIC DISORDER: CHILDHOOD DEVELOPMENT AND ADULTHOOD PSYCHIATRIC MORBIDITY

Laura Niemi

Academic Dissertation

To be publicly discussed, with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, in the auditorium of the Department of Psychiatry in Helsinki, Lapinlahdenkatu 1, on December 10th, 2004, at 12 noon.

Publications of the National Public Health Institute Copyright National Public Health Institute

Julkaisija-Utgivare-Publisher

Kansanterveyslaitos (KTL) Mannerheimintie 166 FIN-00300 Helsinki, Finland puh. (09) 4744 1, fax (09) 4744 08

Folkhälsoinstitutet Mannerheimvägen 166 FIN-00300 Helsingfors, Finland tel. (09) 4744 1, fax (09) 4744 08

National Public Health Instutute (NPHI) Mannerheimintie 166 FIN-00300 Helsinki, Finland tel. +358-9-4744 1, fax +358-9-4744 08

ISBN 951-740-471-9 ISBN 951-740-472-7 (pdf) ISSN 0359-3584 ISSN 1458-6290 (pdf)

Yliopistopaino, Helsinki 2004

Supervisors:

Professor Jouko Lönnqvist, M.D., Ph.D.

Department of Mental Health and Alcohol Research,

National Public Health Institute, Helsinki, Finland

Department of Psychiatry, University of Helsinki, Finland

and

Docent Jaana Suvisaari, M.D., Ph.D.

Department of Mental Health and Alcohol Research,
National Public Health Institute, Helsinki, Finland
Tampere School of Public Health, Tampere, Finland

Reviewers:

Professor Matti Joukamaa, M.D., Ph.D. Tampere School of Public Health, Tampere, Finland

and

Professor Pirkko Räsänen, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Psychiatry, University of Oulu, Finland

Opponent:

Professor Matti Isohanni, M.D., Ph.D Department of Psychiatry, University of Oulu, Finland

CONTENTS

A]	BBREVIATIONS	7
1.	ABSTRACT	9
2.	LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	11
3.	INTRODUCTION	13
	3.1. Schizophrenia	13
	3.1.1. History of the concept 'schizophrenia'	13
	3.1.2. Symptoms of schizophrenia	15
	3.1.3. Current diagnostic classifications of schizophrenia	15
	3.1.4. History of the theories of schizophrenia	18
	3.1.5. Current theories of schizophrenia	19
	3.1.6. Prevalence and incidence of schizophrenia	23
	3.2. Methods to studying the effects of environmental and genetic factors	
	associated with schizophrenia	24
	3.2.1. Family studies	24
	3.2.2. Adoption studies	25
	3.2.3. Twin studies	25
	3.2.4. High-Risk studies	26
	3.2.4.1. General characteristics of High-Risk studies	27
	3.2.4.2. Differences between high-risk and control children in HR studies	31
	3.3. Risk factors for schizophrenia	36
	3.3.1. Genetic factors	36
	3.3.1.1. Familiality of schizophrenia	36
	3.3.1.2. Gene findings associated with schizophrenia	37
	3.3.2. Environmental risk factors	39
	3.3.2.1. Birth and pregnancy complications	39
	3.3.2.2. Malnutrition	40
	3.3.2.3. Infections	40
	3.3.2.4. Season of birth	41
	3.3.2.5. Urbanization	41
	3.3.2.6. Social environment and family related factors	42
	3.3.2.7. Cannabis	43

	3.4. Early indicators for schizophrenia	43
	3.4.1. Neurological and motor development	43
	3.4.2. Cognitive functioning	45
	3.4.3. Behaviour and social adjustment	46
	3.4.4. Structural brain abnormalities	47
	3.4.5. Psychiatric symptoms	48
	3.5. Ultra High-Risk studies and prevention of psychotic disorders	51
	3.6. Summary of the review of the literature	52
4.	AIMS OF THE STUDY	53
5.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	55
	5.1. Design	55
	5.2. Subjects	56
	5.3. Methods	57
	5.3.1. Diagnostic assessment and demographic information	57
	5.3.2. Interrater reliability	59
	5.3.3. Information on childhood development and growth	59
	5.3.4. Statistical methods	60
6.	RESULTS	65
	6.1. Cumulative incidence of mental disorders among high-risk offspring (Study II)	65
	6.1.1. Demographic information of the cohort	65
	6.1.2. DSM-IV-TR diagnoses of the HR and control mothers and fathers	65
	6.1.3. Cumulative incidences of psychiatric disorders among HR offspring	67
	6.2. Maternal symptomatology and its effect on offspring's morbidity from psychotic	
	disorders (Study III)	70
	6.2.1. The average scores of different maternal diagnostic groups	70
	6.2.2. Factor analysis	70
	6.2.3. Effect of maternal symptoms to offspring's morbidity	71
	6.3. Childhood developmental predictors of psychiatric morbidity (Study IV)	71
	6.3.1. Differences between HR and control children	71
	6.3.2. Factors predicting later development of mental disorders among HR offspring	72
	6.3.3. Factors predicting later development of mental disorders among	12
	schizophrenia HR offspring	74
	6.4. Childhood growth and its effect on morbidity from psychotic disorders (Study V)	74 74
	6.4.1. Differences between HR and control children	7 4 74
	6.4.2. Factors predicting later development of mental disorders among HR offspring	
	5. 1.2. I actors producing fator development of mental disorders among fitt offspring	, ,-т

7. DISCUSSION	75
7.1. Methods and methodological limitations	75
7.2. Cumulative incidence of mental disorders among high-risk offspring (Study II)	78
7.2.1. Cumulative incidence of schizophrenia	78
7.2.2. Cumulative incidence of other mental disorders	79
7.3. Maternal symptomatology and its effect on offspring's morbidity from	
psychotic disorders (Study III)	80
7.3.1. Factor solution	80
7.3.2. Association between maternal symptomatology and offspring's morbidity	81
7.4. Childhood developmental predictors of psychiatric morbidity (Study IV)	83
7.4.1. Differences between HR and control children	83
7.4.2. Developmental factors predicting future development of schizophrenia	
spectrum disorders	84
7.4.3. Developmental factors predicting other mental disorders	84
7.5. Childhood growth and its effect on morbidity from psychotic disorders (Study V)	86
7.5.1. Differences between HR and control children	86
7.5.2. Factors related to growth predicting future development of schizophrenia	87
7.6. General discussion	88
8. IMPLICATIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH	91
9. CONCLUSIONS AND CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS	93
10. SUMMARY	95
11. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	97
12. REFERENCES	99
13. APPENDIX	131

ABBREVIATIONS

BMI Body Mass Index CI Confidence Interval

DSM-IV-TR Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental disorders,

Fourth Edition, Text Revision

HR High-Risk

ICD International Classification of Diseases

MMPI Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory MSSS Major Symptoms of Schizophrenia Scale

OCCPI Operational Criteria Checklist for Psychotic Illness

OR Odds Ratio

PDM Pandysmaturation RR Relative Risk

SANS Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms
SAPS Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms

SD Standard Deviation UHR Ultra High-Risk

1. ABSTRACT

The High-Risk (HR) method attempts to study the effects of genetic and environmental risk factors on the development of psychosis, as well as indicators of emerging psychotic disorder, by using repeated assessments through childhood and adolescence among individuals who are at increased risk for psychotic disorder, typically offspring of an affected parent(s). The Helsinki High-Risk Study follows up all women born between 1916 and 1948 who were treated for schizophrenia spectrum disorders in mental hospitals in Helsinki, and their offspring and controls. The present study forms part of the Helsinki HR Study, and follows the HR offspring born between 1960 and 1964.

The aims of this thesis were:

- to comprehensively review the findings of previous HR studies and to compare them with those obtained from cohort and family studies
- to determine the cumulative incidence of adulthood DSM-IV-TR disorders based on hospital case notes among HR offspring grouped according to maternal DSM-IV-TR diagnosis
- to determine if maternal symptomatology has an effect on offspring's morbidity from psychotic disorders
- to compare the development of HR and control children based on information obtained from childhood and school health cards, and to investigate which developmental factors predict future psychiatric disorders
- to compare childhood growth among HR and control children, and to investigate whether factors related to childhood growth predict later development of psychotic disorders.

The cumulative incidences of any psychotic disorder were 13.5, 10.0, 10.0, 4.0, and 1.1 % among offspring of mothers with schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, other schizophrenia spectrum disorders, affective disorders, and controls, respectively. The corresponding figures for schizophrenia were 6.7, 5.0, 6.7, 0, and 0.6 %, and for any

mental disorder 23.1, 20.0, 20.0, 12.0, and 6.9 %. In the factor analysis of maternal psychotic or affective symptomatology, a four-factor solution was found (negative, positive, catatonic, and affective symptom factors). High maternal positive symptom factor score predicted decreased morbidity from schizophrenia among HR offspring.

During childhood and adolescence, HR children had more behavioural and neurological symptoms compared to controls. Among HR offspring, social adjustment problems at pre-school age and severe neurological symptoms predicted future schizophrenia spectrum disorder. The high-risk girls were shorter and lighter at birth, while HR boys were shorter at age 10 compared with controls. Among HR children, the combination of being in the lowest tertile for ponderal index at birth but having BMI in the highest tertile at seven years predicted future schizophrenia spectrum disorder.

Several factors were associated with an increased or decreased risk for mental disorders. Maternal positive symptoms seem to be less harmful to the child than other maternal psychotic symptoms. Pre-school problems in social adjustment and severe neurological symptoms predicted future schizophrenia spectrum disorders, while school-age problems - emotional symptoms and problems in social adjustment -predicted non-psychotic psychiatric morbidity. Catch-up growth seems to be especially harmful for offspring of mothers with psychotic disorder. Whether these factors are independent risk factors, reflections of some other risk factors for psychotic disorders, or merely indicators of an ongoing process, needs further research.

2. LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications.

- I. Niemi, LT, Suvisaari, JM, Tuulio-Henriksson, A, Lönnqvist, JK. Childhood developmental abnormalities in schizophrenia: evidence from high-risk studies. Schizophrenia Research 2003;60:239-258.
- II. Niemi, LT, Suvisaari, JM, Haukka, JK, Wrede, G, Lönnqvist, JK. Cumulative incidence of mental disorders among offspring of mothers with psychotic disorder. Results from the Helsinki High-Risk Study. British Journal of Psychiatry 2004;185:11-17.
- III. Niemi, LT, Suvisaari, JM, Haukka, JK, Lönnqvist, JK. Do maternal psychotic symptoms predict offspring's psychotic disorder? Findings from the Helsinki High-Risk Study. Psychiatry Research 2004;125:105-115.
- IV. Niemi, LT, Suvisaari, JM, Haukka, JK, Lönnqvist, JK. Childhood predictors of future psychiatric morbidity in offspring of mother with psychotic disorder. Results from the Helsinki High-Risk Study. British Journal of Psychiatry, in press.
- V. Niemi, LT, Suvisaari, JM, Haukka, JK, Lönnqvist, JK. Childhood growth and later development of psychotic disorder among Helsinki high-risk children. Schizophrenia Research, in press.

3. INTRODUCTION

Psychotic disorders are severe psychiatric disorders. They are described as conditions where there has been some loss of contact with reality and where abnormal inner experiences are mistakenly taken as real (Bogenschutz & Nurnberg, 2000). They are usually divided into disorders with predominantly affective (mood-related) symptoms or disorders without prominent affective symptoms (so called schizophrenia spectrum or nonaffective psychoses), the latter being traditionally considered the more severe. Schizophrenia, the most prevalent nonaffective psychotic disorder (Gottesman, 1994), is one of the most severe of all psychiatric disorders. It is a clinical syndrome that causes enormous personal and economic costs worldwide. In Finland, the Mini Finland Health Survey Study found a prevalence of all psychotic disorders of 2.2%, and of schizophrenia 1.3% (Lehtinen et al., 1990). Schizophrenia is the most common reason for disability pension: it is the cause of 8% of all disability pensions in Finland (ETK & KELA, 2004). Many of the individuals who develop schizophrenia are not able to return to work or school, and are usually able to manage only limited social relationships. About 10% of patients with schizophrenia commit suicide (Siris, 2001). On this basis, the World Health Organisation considers schizophrenia to be one of the ten most disabling disorders.

It seems that schizophrenia is a complex disorder, whose onset and course are influenced by both genes and environmental risk factors. One of the goals of psychiatric epidemiological research is to search for risk factors in the physical and social environment and early antecedents that are associated with the disorder. The High-Risk method is one method to study the effects of genetic and environmental risk factors and indicators of emerging schizophrenia by using repeated assessments through childhood and adolescence among individuals who are at increased risk for schizophrenia, typically offspring of an affected parent(s).

3.1. Schizophrenia

3.1.1. History of the concept 'schizophrenia'

Descriptions of psychotic symptoms have been found as early as the 15th century BC (Colp, 2000). In 100-200 AD, Greek physicians described a pathological behaviour of patients with delusions of grandeur and paranoia, and that the same patients had a deterioration in cognitive functions and personality (Colp, 2000). However, according to a recent review,

there were no descriptions of individuals that would meet DSM-IV criteria for schizophrenia in ancient Greek and Roman literature (Evans et al., 2003). In the 19th century clinical descriptions of the behaviour of patients contained many descriptive categories, but they were not divided into specific groups (Colp, 2000).

Emil Kraepelin (1856-1926) was first to suggest that major psychoses could be divided into three groups: dementia praecox, which deteriorated to dementia; manic-depressive psychosis, which did not deteriorate; and paraphrenias. Paraphrenias were characterised by delusions and hallucinations and lack of symptoms of emotion and volition. The symptoms of dementia preacox were hallucinations, delusions, incoherence of thought and speech, catatonic symptoms, disordered attention, disordered judgement, emotional dullness, avolition, and autism. However, he considered no symptom as pathognomonic for dementia preacox. He divided dementia preacox into three clinical subtypes: hebephrenic, catatonic, and paranoid. (Kraepelin et al., 1919)

Eugen Bleuler (1857-1939) introduced the name "schizophrenia" and described its symptoms. The term came into persistent use because it described the fragmentation of mental functioning characteristic of the disorder. Bleuler divided symptoms of schizophrenia into two groups: fundamental symptoms and accessory symptoms. Fundamental symptoms were present in every schizophrenia patient throughout the entire illness period, while accessory symptoms were not necessarily present throughout the whole illness period and only some patients had them (Bleuler, 1911). He considered hallucinations and delusions to be accessory symptoms. Fundamental symptoms were disturbances in association, affect and attention, and symptoms of ambivalence and autism. He suggested that a person with schizophrenia does not necessary have delusions or hallucinations, and that patients without accessory symptoms are more common in community and that they (those with "simple schizophrenia") often remain unrecognised and untreated (Bleuler, 1911). This historical distribution into broad and narrow concepts of schizophrenia still exerts an important impact on epidemiological studies.

Kurt Schneider (1887-1967) described characteristic symptoms for schizophrenia and divided them into "first rank" and "second rank symptoms". First rank symptoms were a group of hallucinations and delusions which he regarded as pathognomonic for schizophrenia (Carpenter et al., 1973). They were: audible thoughts, voices arguing or discussing, or both, commenting voices, somatic passivity experiences, thought withdrawal and other experiences of influenced thought, thought broadcasting, delusional perception, made impulses, thoughts, or volitional acts. The concept of first rank symptoms is still used in psychiatry.

3.1.2. Symptoms of schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is clinically heterogeneous. The criteria of symptomatology for the disorder have changed over time. There still are no objective, measurable criteria for assigning the diagnosis of schizophrenia, which is based on symptomatology. (Ratakonda et al., 1998)

3.1.3. Current diagnostic classifications of schizophrenia

The essential features of schizophrenia are the presence of characteristic psychotic symptoms (hallucinations, delusions, thought disorder) during the active phase of the disorder, a decline in social or occupational functioning below the level prior to the disorder, and a certain duration of the disorder. These symptoms must not be caused by organic brain disease, by alcohol or drugs, or by mood disorder. (WHO, 1993; APA, 2000)

The current diagnostic criteria according to the main diagnostic classifications DSM-IV-TR and ICD-10 are listed in Tables 1 and 2.

The principal differences between DSM-IV-TR and ICD-10 classifications are the duration of illness (in ICD-10 one month, in DSM-IV-TR six months) and premorbid deterioration. DSM-IV-TR requires deterioration from a premorbid level of functioning. The criterion for the schizoaffective and mood disorder distinction is different in ICD-10 and DSM-IV-TR: for diagnosing schizophrenia, ICD-10 requires that psychotic symptoms precede the onset of mood symptoms, while DSM-IV-TR allows affective symptoms only if the duration of those symptoms is brief relative to the total duration of active and residual symptoms. (WHO, 1993; APA, 2000)

Table 1. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision, published in 2000

A. Characteristic symptoms: Two or more of the following, each present for a significant portion of time during a one-month period (or less if successfully treated):

- 1. Delusions
- 2. Hallucinations
- 3. Disorganized speech
- 4. Grossly disorganized or catatonic behaviour
- 5. Negative symptoms

Only one Criterion A symptom is required if delusions are bizarre, or hallucinations consist of a voice keeping up a running commentary on the person's behaviour or thoughts, or two or more voices are conversing with each other.

- B. Social/occupational dysfunction: for a significant portion of the time since the onset of the disturbance, one or more major areas of functioning such as work, interpersonal relations or self-care are markedly below the level achieved prior to the onset (or, when the onset is in childhood or adolescence, failure to achieve the expected level).
- C. Duration: Continuous signs of the disturbance persist for at least six months, of which at least one month should be of symptoms that meet Criterion A. The six months may include periods of prodromal and residual symptoms.
- D. Schizoaffective and mood disorder exclusion: Schizoaffective disorder and mood disorder with psychotic features have been ruled out because either no major depressive, manic, or mixed episodes have occurred concurrently with the active-phase symptoms, or if mood episodes have occurred during active-phase symptoms, their total duration has been brief relative to the active and residual periods.
- E. Substance/general medical condition exclusion: The disturbance is not due to the direct physiological effects of a substance or a general medical condition.
- F. Relationship to a pervasive developmental disorder: if there is a history of autistic disorder or another pervasive developmental disorder, the additional diagnosis of schizophrenia is made only if prominent delusions or hallucinations are also present for at least a month (or less if successfully treated).

(APA, 2000)

Table 2. International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Edition, published in 1993

- I. Either at least one of the syndromes, symptoms and signs listed under 1. below, or at least two of the symptoms and signs listed under 2. should be present for most of the time during an episode of psychotic illness lasting for at least 1 month (or at some time during most of the days):
- 1. At least one of the following must be present:
- a) Thought echo, thought insertion or withdrawal, or thought broadcasting
- b) Delusions of control, influence or passivity, clearly referred to body or limb movements or specific thoughts, actions, or sensations; delusional perception
- Hallucinatory voices giving a running commentary on the patient's behaviour, or discussing the patient among themselves, or other types of hallucinatory voices coming from some part of the body
- d) Persistent delusions of other kinds that are culturally inappropriate and completely impossible
- 2. Or at least two of the following:
- Persistent hallucinations in any modality, when occurring every day for at least one month, when accompanied by delusions without clear affective content, or by persistent over-valued ideas
- b) Neologisms, breaks, or interpolations in the train of thought, resulting in incoherence or irrelevant speech
- c) Catatonic behaviour, such as excitement, posturing, or waxy flexibility, negativism, mutism or stupor
- d) "Negative" symptoms, such as marked apathy, paucity of speech, and blunting or incongruity of emotional responses

II. Exclusion clauses:

- 1. If the patient also meets criteria for manic episode or depressive episode, the criteria listed under I(1.) and I(2.) above must have been met before the disturbance of mood developed
- 2. The disorder is not attributable to organic brain disease, or to alcohol- or drugrelated intoxication, dependence or withdrawal

(WHO, 1993)

3.1.4. History of the theories of schizophrenia

Throughout history, insanity has affected and interested humankind. There have been various attempts to explain divergent behaviour.

Hippocrates of Cos (ca 460 BC-370 BC) was perhaps the first to create a theory of mental disorders. He suggested that abnormal human behaviour was caused by imbalance in four humors (blood, phlegm, yellow bile, and black bile), for example melancholia was due to excess of black bile, and that the disorders were treatable by specific diets. Plato (427 BC-347 BC) instead divided soul into three parts: rational, appetitive (lusts and greed), and affective. He suggested that insanity is either inspired by the divine, or caused by the lost of the influence of the appetitive soul on the rational soul, and that insanity could be treated with a verbal dialectic between the patient and a philosopher or physician. Plato's pupil Aristotle (384 BC-322 BC) suggested that mental disorders are caused by changes of temperature, black bile, or the emotions in the soul. (Colp, 2000)

In the middle ages, 400-1400 AD, the causes of mental disorders were thought to be evil astrological influences or demons affecting the soul. Treatment (including driving out demons with magical techniques, folk remedies and medical treatments) was applied by physicians or lay persons who were thought to have special powers. (Colp, 2000)

During the renaissance, fear of witchcraft influenced the understanding and treatment of psychiatric disorders. Women (or rarely men) who showed psychotic or hysterical symptoms were thought to be witches, and this led to the execution of many thousands. (Colp, 2000)

Nevertheless, mental disorders did not emerge as a medical condition worthy of study and treatment in common until the 18th century, when the power of rational thinking replaced older beliefs. This century gave birth to many hypotheses for mental illnesses. William Cullen (1710-1790) thought that mental disorders were caused when parts of the brain were simultaneously in unequal states of excitement and collapse, whereas Franz Joseph Gall (1758-1828) suggested that the brain can be divided into specific areas which shape the personality. During this century, most individuals with mental diseases were thought to be incurable. Philippe Pinel (1745-1826), however, stated that mental disorders were mainly caused by heredity and influences from the environment, and that most psychiatric symptoms could be relieved. (Colp, 2000)

In the early 19th century, psychiatry became a specialty apart from medicine, and most psychiatrists were guided by the principles of Philippe Pinel in their work with patients. During this century, the first drug-induced psychoses were described (Colp, 2000).

Kraepelin (1856-1926) noted at the turn of the 20th century that "dementia praecox is without doubt one of the most frequent of all forms of insanity", and that "the causes of

dementia praecox are at the present time still wrapped in impenetrable darkness" (Kraepelin et al., 1919). He also noted that the abnormal development in some cases began in early childhood, and that most individuals who developed schizophrenia had symptoms before the onset of the illness.

Sigmund Freud (1856-1939) discovered the effect of the unconscious on psychiatric symptomatology and started to use it in treating psychiatric patients (Freud, 1900; Freud, 1905). Although he created an aetiological model of schizophrenia, he did not suggest treating patients with schizophrenia with psychoanalytic techniques.

Franz Kallman (1897-1965) indicated that familiality is relevant in schizophrenia and established the first full-time genetic department in a psychiatric institution in America (Colp, 2000).

3.1.5. Current theories of schizophrenia

Twin, family and adoption studies have shown that schizophrenia is at least partly a *genetic disorder*. However, there seem not to be single genes that cause schizophrenia. The mode of transmission is complex, oligogenic or polygenic, and non-Mendelian. One possible mechanism of the effect of genes is that certain genes make an individual more vulnerable to environmental factors, and that schizophrenia develops at a critical threshold. (Gottesman & Shields, 1967; McGue & Gottesman, 1989) See also section 3.3.1.

The *viral hypothesis* of schizophrenia is not new. Already a hundred years ago there were investigators who suggested that infections are involved in schizophrenia (Colp, 2000). There are now many studies which have investigated the association between certain viruses and schizophrenia (Yolken & Torrey, 1995; Brown & Susser, 2002), especially virus exposure *in utero*. The association between virus exposure and schizophrenia appears equivocal (Brown & Susser, 2002), but virus exposure is nowadays more likely to be seen as a risk factor for schizophrenia among others, not as an independent hypothesis. The association between virus exposure and schizophrenia in described in detail in section 3.3.2.3.

The *neuroanatomical theories* of schizophrenia are based on structural findings associated with schizophrenia. The most replicated structural findings are enlargement of the lateral and third ventricle(s) (McCarley et al., 1999; Shenton et al., 2001), and reduced volume of the hippocampus or hippocampal-amygdala complex (Lawrie & Abukmeil, 1998; Wright et al., 2000; Shenton et al., 2001), which have also been found among individuals prior to their first psychosis (McCarley et al., 1999), in unaffected relatives of a patient with schizophrenia (O'Driscoll et al., 2001; Seidman et al., 2002; van Erp et al., 2002), and in young adults at high risk for developing schizophrenia (Lawrie et al., 1999; Schreiber et al., 1999; Lawrie et al., 2001). This suggests that these abnormalities are not caused by medication or untreated psychosis. The enlargement of the lateral or third ventricle (McDonald et al., 2002) and abnormalities in the superior temporal region (Rajarethinam et

al., 2004) are associated with a familial risk for schizophrenia. A history of obstetric complications seem to further increase the volume of the ventricles in subjects who are at genetic risk for schizophrenia (McDonald et al., 2002), and the amount of the reduction in temporal lobe size is greater among those with psychotic symptoms than in those without (Johnstone et al., 2002). However, individuals with ultra high-risk (UHR) for developing psychosis have been found to have smaller hippocampal volume compared to controls if they did not develop psychosis within 12 months, while larger left hippocampal volume was associated with a higher risk of psychosis within that time (Velakoulis et al., 2000). However, some brain changes observed in imaginary studies have been found to be reversible, suggesting that at least some of them could be neuroplastic adaptations to environmental factors (such as unstimulating environment, long-standing chronic disease, substance abuse, or long-term medication) (Weinberger & McClure, 2002).

The dopamine hypothesis is perhaps the most promising biochemical hypothesis of schizophrenia. It is based largely on the efficacy of neuroleptic medication, and suggests that patients with schizophrenia have abnormal dopamine activity (Davis et al., 1991; Abi-Dargham, 2004). Decreased levels of dopamine in the cortical regions (especially prefrontal) have been reported in patients with schizophrenia with poor prognosis and severe social impairment, while increased levels in the subcortical (especially striatal) regions have been found among patients with prominent positive psychotic symptoms (Davis et al., 1985; Davis et al., 1991; Laruelle et al., 2003; Abi-Dargham, 2004). Some studies have shown that the regions with low dopamine receptor binding are situated in the thalamic subregions, which is suggested to be the mechanism underlying positive symptoms in schizophrenia (Yasuno et al., 2004). It has been shown that individuals with schizotypal personality disorder also have temporal lobe reductions, but that they have greater frontal capacity and reduced striatal dopaminergic activity compared to individuals with schizophrenia, which might contribute to sparing individuals with schizotypal personality disorder from psychosis and severe deterioration of chronic schizophrenia (Siever & Davis, 2004). Glutamatergic neurons are the major excitatory pathways linking the cortex, limbic system, and thalamus. Postmortem studies have shown alterations in pre- and postsynaptic markers for glutamatergic neurons among patients with schizophrenia. Thus, dysfunction of glutamatergic neurotransmission may also play an important role in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia (Goff & Coyle, 2001). A study comparing 20 adolescents with a high genetic risk for schizophrenia with those without genetic risk found that the HR offspring more often had glutamate/glutamine abnormalities in the brain than controls (Tibbo et al., 2004).

The *psychoanalytic theories* still have much to contribute to overall understanding of the causes and especially pathogenesis of severe mental disorders. The clinical treatment of mental disorders is influenced by a psychoanalytically based understanding of the personality factors that contribute to the illness. The classical psychoanalytic model was initiated by Freud (Freud, 1900; Freud, 1905), who thought that individuals with psychotic disorders were not suited for psychoanalytic treatment. However, he suggested an aetiological hypothesis of schizophrenia, which stated that the precondition for

schizophrenia is the withdrawal of object cathexis (i.e. individuals with schizophrenia loose themselves from any libidinal or emotional connection to external objects or their intrapsychic representations). He originally considered schizophrenia as a regression from object love to an autoerotic stage of human development in which one does not have to deal with the frustrations and conflicts associated in interpersonal relationships. Thus, he suggested that patients with schizophrenia cannot form transference attachments to those treating them. He regarded psychosis as a conflict between the internal and the external world; reality is remodelled to conform to the patient's internal distortions. However, recent psychoanalytic papers have demonstrated that at least some schizophrenic patients do develop transference, although it is qualitatively different from that seen among neurotic patients. After Freud's time came many other psychoanalytic theories of schizophrenia. The British object relation theorist Melanie Klein (Klein, 1980), for example, described a child prone to schizophrenia who had strong sadistic and envious impulses leading to paranoid anxieties, which in turn progressed to withdrawal, splitting and projective identification. Another approach came from D.W. Winnicott (Winnicott, 1951), who actually never presented a hypothesis of schizophrenia, but from his theories it has been interpreted that schizophrenia can be seen as a failure in the development of the spontaneous and competent true self out of its relational matrix. Psychoanalytic theories are difficult to evaluate scientifically, although life events have been demonstrated to have an effect on the onset and symptomatology of schizophrenia (Lukoff et al., 1984; Norman & Malla, 1993).

In the 1980s, the hypothesis that schizophrenia is a neurodevelopmental disorder became popular (Murray & Lewis, 1987; Weinberger, 1987). This suggests that interaction between early pathology or insult and normal processes of structural and functional brain development makes the central nervous system prone to psychosis (McGrath et al., 2003). This hypothesis is supported by several lines of evidence (Weinberger, 1995; McGrath et al., 2003). It is based on the results of follow-up, cohort and conscript studies that have found delays or abnormalities in childhood or adolescent cognitive (Crow et al., 1995; David et al., 1997; Kremen et al., 1998; Davidson et al., 1999; Cannon et al., 2000), motor (Fish et al., 1992; Jones et al., 1994; Crow et al., 1995; Cannon et al., 1999; Walker et al., 1999; Rosso et al., 2000; van Erp et al., 2002), speech (DeLisi et al., 1991; Jones et al., 1994; Bearden et al., 2000), and/or social (Walker et al., 1993; Crow et al., 1995; Malmberg et al., 1998; Davidson et al., 1999; Bearden et al., 2000) development among children who later develop schizophrenia. The presence of minor physical anomalies (Murphy & Owen, 1996; Ismail et al., 1998) that are thought to be caused by some injury during the first or second trimester of foetal life, obstetric complications (Geddes & Lawrie, 1995; Zornberg et al., 2000; Cannon et al., 2002b), and infections or malnutrition during pregnancy (Mednick et al., 1988; Barr et al., 1990; Susser et al., 1996; Brown et al., 2000a) among children who later develop schizophrenia are seen as further support for the neurodevelopmental aspect. Neuropathological findings suggest abnormalities in brain development among patients with schizophrenia; absence of gliosis suggests, although does not prove, that they may be of foetal origin (Dwork, 1997; Heckers, 1997).

There are several more recent theories of the neurodevelopmental mechanism underlying schizophrenia. The progressive neurodevelopmental mechanism of schizophrenia suggests that the process begins prenatally, progresses until it reaches a critical threshold (typically in the second or third decade), and causes progressive brain volume loss at a rate that is maximal in the first two decades, slows with age, and does not cause persistent gliosis (Woods, 1998). This hypothesis is supported by results from imaging studies, which have shown that excessive brain volume loss occurs after maximum brain volume expansion, and that it continues after the onset of the illness (Woods, 1998). Another hypothesis is that schizophrenia is a disorder of developmentally reduced synaptic connectivity (McGlashan & Hoffman, 2000). It suggest that changes in brain structure in schizophrenia are caused by a reduction of neuritic processes rather than loss of neuronal or glial cell bodies. The reduced synaptic connectivity arises from disturbances of brain development during prenatal and adolescent periods (McGlashan & Hoffman, 2000). There is some evidence for reduced connectedness in schizophrenia from postmortem and neuroimaging studies (McGlashan & Hoffman, 2000). A neo-Bleulerian unitary model of schizophrenia suggests that an abnormality in the circuitry between cortical regions and the cerebellum mediated through the thalamus leads to misconnection in many aspects of mental activity (Andreasen, 1999).

There has been increased interest in the role of psychosocial factors in the development or precipitation of schizophrenia. The stress-vulnerability model (also known as diathesis-stress, gene-environment, developmental risk factor, or descriptive life-span model) suggests that schizophrenia is caused by an underlying psychobiological vulnerability, determined early in life by genetic and environmental effects (Mueser & McGurk, 2004). The onset and course of the disorder is then determined by the dynamic interplay of biological (e.g. medication, substance misuse) and psychosocial (stress, coping skills, social support) factors (Mueser & McGurk, 2004). In other words, according to this model, persons have different levels of sensitivity to environmental circumstances (Isohanni et al., 2000). It has been found that stress worsens the symptoms of schizophrenia, and that individuals prone to schizophrenia are hypersensitive to stress (Walker & Diforio, 1997). A clinical example could be an anxious schizotypal personality (which is probably genetically determined) who has cognitive deficits probably due to an underlying abnormality of neural networks and which lead already during childhood to increasing social isolation and academic difficulties, which then further leads to increasing isolation from friendships (that perhaps could normalize his ideas and behaviour) (Murray & Fearon, 1999). This suggests a cascade that propels a child to more and more extreme situations, and perhaps to cannabis abuse and social adversity, for example, which are possible risk factors for schizophrenia (Murray & Fearon, 1999). The stress-vulnerability hypothesis is consistent with findings on prenatal factors, and with biochemical and neuroanatomical abnormalities. It is supported by findings from the Copenhagen HR Study, for example, where obstetric complications increased the ventricle-brain ratio, especially among offspring of mothers with psychotic disorder (Cannon et al., 1993). Again, in the Finnish Adoptive Family Study, the risk for schizophreniform thought disorder and schizophrenia spectrum disorder was highest among adoptees of parents with schizophrenia who were living in an adoption family with a dysfunctional rearing environment (communication deviance, i.e. a pattern of confusing, indirect, and unclear communication that is similar to, but milder than, overt thought disorder) (Tienari et al., 1994; Tienari et al., 2004). However, it is also possible that people with a certain genotype would select an environment that increases the risk for schizophrenia. Still, the stress-vulnerability model provides a framework for explaining some key features of the developmental course and clinical presentation (Walker & Diforio, 1997).

3.1.6. Prevalence and incidence of schizophrenia

The prevalence or prevalence rate refers to the proportion of a population who have a particular health condition at a point or period in time. A point prevalence rate is the number of cases of a disorder present at a particular point in time (for example the persons fulfilling the diagnostic criteria of major depression at a stated point in time divided by the number of persons in the community). A period prevalence rate uses the same denominator as a point prevalence rate, but expands the numerator to include all cases present during a selected time period (week(s), month(s), year, or lifetime). The period prevalence is often used in psychiatry because it allows individuals with chronic psychiatric conditions who are temporarily in remission to be included in prevalence rates. (Zahner et al., 1995)

The prevalence of schizophrenia has been assessed in several studies around the world. A recent review compared the prevalence between 18 studies and found a pooled rate of 0.55 per 100 for lifetime prevalence (Goldner et al., 2002). Prevalence variations were found across geographical regions of between two- and five-fold. The US National Comorbidity Survey, one of the largest cohort studies, found a lifetime prevalence rate of 0.15 per 100 for schizophrenia (the male/female ratio was 1.4), and 0.7 per 100 for all nonaffective psychotic disorders (Kendler et al., 1996). In Finland, the incidence for schizophrenia has found to be 1.3 per 100 in a interview-based study (Lehtinen et al., 1990), and 1.2 per 100 in a register-based study (Hovatta et al., 1997).

Incidence refers to new outcomes occurring over time among a population with candidates for such outcome. Incidence density refers to a number of outcomes occurring per unit of population per unit of time. In estimating incidence density, the population under study should exclude all individuals with the health outcome at the start of the period of observation. This candidate population is often referred to as the population at risk. Cumulative incidence is an estimate of the probability of the occurrence of an outcome over a specified period of time. It is usually used to describe the probability of outcome occurrence among a group or population. Risk is usually used to predict an individual's chance of such an event. Risk can also be expressed by its mathematical complement, the probability of surviving (survival rate). (Zahner et al., 1995)

Incidence rates are epidemiologically more informative than prevalence (Campbell & Machin, 1993), because prevalence rates are influenced by death rates and migration, and are therefore not stable.

A recent review found that the incidence density of schizophrenia from studies around the world varied between 7.7 and 43 per 100 000 person years. Older studies reported higher rates. The rates were higher among males than females (the male/female ratio was 1.4) and among migrants compared to native-born persons (the migrant/native ratio was 4.6). (McGrath et al., 2004b)

In Finland, the incidence density of schizophrenia and schizophreniform disorder has been found to be 36 per 100 000 person years (Salokangas, 1993), which is in the range of broadly defined schizophrenia in the WHO Ten Country Study (Jablensky et al., 1992). A study based on the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register found that the incidence density of all nonaffective psychotic disorders was 69 per 100 000 person years (Korkeila et al., 1998). The incidence of schizophrenia has declined among individuals born between 1954 and 1965, which may suggest that the intensity or frequency of some risk factors has decreased (Suvisaari et al., 1999b).

3.2. Methods to studying the effects of environmental and genetic factors associated with schizophrenia

3.2.1. Family studies

It has long been known that psychotic disorders run in families. Family studies traditionally calculate the morbid risk for a disorder among relatives of a proband with the disorder. The risk is usually calculated separately for parents, siblings and offspring, since the expected genetic covariance between parents and offspring differs from that between siblings. The morbid risk for the disorder is compared to that of control probands or the general population. Several family studies have found that relatives of probands with schizophrenia have an increased risk for schizophrenia, and that the risk decreases from close to distant relatives (Gottesman, 1994). The risk for schizophrenia among first degree relatives of an individual with schizophrenia is approximately 10% (Kendler & Diehl, 1993), and the risk for other schizophrenia spectrum disorders is also increased (Kendler & Diehl, 1993). The most recent epidemiological family study found a morbid risk of 6.5 for schizophrenia, 6.7 for schizoaffective disorder, 6.9 for schizotypal personality disorder, 5.1 for other nonaffective psychosis, 2.8 for psychotic affective illness, and 0.6 for nonpsychotic affective illness among first-degree relatives of probands with schizophrenia (Kendler et al., 1993a). The risk of schizophrenia was also higher among relatives of probands with psychotic affective illness. Among relatives, the risk of schizophrenia was significantly higher in siblings than in parents (Kendler et al., 1993a).

3.2.2. Adoption studies

There are three types of adoption studies: *a) adoptee studies* (Tienari et al., 2004), where the biological parent of an adoptee is the proband. Parents have the diagnosis of schizophrenia and have had a child adopted away soon after birth. The risk of schizophrenia is compared between adoptees whose biological parent(s) has schizophrenia and adoptees whose biological parent(s) does not have schizophrenia; *b) adoptee's family studies* (Kety et al., 1994; Cardno et al., 2002), where the adoptee is a proband. The adoptee has the diagnosis of schizophrenia, and the risk for schizophrenia is compared in their biological parents, their adoptive parents, and in the biological and adoptive parents of unaffected control adoptees; *c) cross-fostering design studies* (Gottesmann & Shields, 1982), where the risk for schizophrenia is compared between adoptees with unaffected adoptive parents but affected biological parents and adoptees with affected adoptive parent(s) but unaffected biological parents.

Adoptee studies can be regarded as part of HR studies. However, the adoptees are not exposed to the same environmental risk factors as HR offspring, and therefore the two study methods are kept separately.

Several adoption studies have shown a higher rate (about 4 to 9-fold) of schizophrenia among biological relatives of probands than controls (Tienari et al., 2000; Owen et al., 2002; Tienari et al., 2003). A gene-environment interaction has also been found in the Finnish Adoption Study; offspring who had a biological risk for schizophrenia also had the highest risk for schizophrenia (Tienari et al., 2004) or for schizophreniform thought disorder (Tienari et al., 1994) if their adoptive family had a communication deviance. Thought disorder predicted later development of schizophrenia in both low and high-risk groups (Metsanen et al., 2004). The relatives of an adoptee with schizophrenia also had more frequent other schizophrenia spectrum psychotic disorders and schizotypal personality disorder (Kendler et al., 1994a; Tienari & Wynne, 1994; Tienari et al., 2003).

3.2.3. Twin studies

The twin study method is feasible for comparing the effects of genetic and environmental risk factors for disorders. Monozygotic twins have almost identical genomes, and dizygotic twins share approximately half of their genes. In straightforward terms, if environmental factors were to entirely explain the familiar clustering, there would be no differences in the concordances (i.e. the proportion of twin pairs who are similarly affected) between monozygotic and dizygotic twins. Conversely, if genetic factors were to entirely explain the familiar clustering, there would be 100% concordance among monozygotic twins and 50% concordance among dizygotic twins. In the twin study design, monozygotic and dizygotic twins are proposed to share environmental risk factors to the same degree. However, monozygotic twins may share the environmental risk factors to a larger degree, because they tend to socialise together more and their parents tend to emphasise their

similarities more (Kendler & Gardner, 1998). Further, about 65% of monozygotic twins share the same chorion, while dizygotic twins always have two chorions. Sharing the same chorion could make the monozygotic twins either more or less similar (Martin et al., 1997). Sharing the same chorion could make the environment more similar, because the foetuses share the same blood supply and are therefore equally likely to be exposed to viral infections, for example. On the other hand, sharing the same chorion can lead to competition for nutrition and thereby to different growth rates. The concordance rate of schizophrenia for monozygotic twins in some studies has been approximately 40-46%, while the comparable rate for dizygotic twins has been about 5-10% (Cannon et al., 1998; Cardno et al., 1999; Sullivan et al., 2003). However, heritability estimates of schizophrenia from twin studies are as high as 83% (Cannon et al., 1998; Cardno et al., 1999). The results of twin studies suggest that genetic factors are important risk factors for schizophrenia, but that environmental factors also play a role in its aetiology.

3.2.4 High-Risk studies

As the morbidity from schizophrenia in the general population is quite low, a study method has been developed to enrich the sample with individuals who are more likely to later develop schizophrenia. This method is called the High-Risk (HR) method.

High-Risk (HR) research refers to a method of studying genetic and environmental risk factors and their interaction in the aetiology of schizophrenia and its early antecedents by investigating individuals who have an increased risk for developing it (Cornblatt & Obuchowski, 1997). HR studies of schizophrenia have typically followed up offspring of an affected parent(s), because the risk of developing schizophrenia among such individuals is approximately 10%, increasing to almost 50% if both parents are affected, compared to a 1% risk in the general population (Gottesman, 1994). In essence, the approximate contribution of genetic or other family related risk can be studied by comparing HR offspring with control children, and the approximate contribution of environmental factors by comparing HR offspring who develop schizophrenia with those who remain unaffected. Indicators of emerging schizophrenia can be studied by repeated examinations through childhood and adolescence, and then in adulthood by comparing offspring who developed schizophrenia with those who did not. The HR method is suitable for studying such indicators, for example neuropsychological deficits, because the functioning of persons who already have schizophrenia may simply reflect epiphenomena related to the disorder (Mednick & McNeil, 1968).

HR research for schizophrenia started in the 1920s with small studies of children of psychiatrically ill mothers. The New York Infant Study, begun in 1952, was the first to add longitudinal follow-up to the study design (Fish et al., 1992). Since then there have been several long-term HR studies. Recently, the concept of Ultra High-Risk (UHR) studies has been emerged, whereby the high-risk status is based on clinical risk estimation. The criteria for UHR individuals differ between studies, but the risk is generally defined as having a genetic risk and some prodromal symptoms of schizophrenia.

The advantage of the HR method is that the information is prospectively collected and can be quite detailed (Cornblatt & Obuchowski, 1997). When adulthood psychiatric morbidity and its determinants among HR children are investigated, an ideal control group exists already: those HR children who remained unaffected. These benefits of HR research outweigh the disadvantages of the method, the most important of these being that HR children who develop schizophrenia represent a highly familial form of schizophrenia, and the findings may not be generalizable to less familial forms of the disorder.

3.2.4.1 General characteristics of High-Risk studies

In this chapter, the most important HR studies are introduced. Studies which have included 20 or fewer schizophrenia HR offspring are not reported here, with the exception of the first genuine HR study, the New York Infant Study. Only studies with longitudinal follow-ups have been included here.

The following 14 HR studies were included here: the New York Infant Study, the HR Studies of the National Collaborative Perinatal Project (NCPP), the Copenhagen HR Study, the St. Louis Risk Research Project, the Minnesota HR Study, the Israeli HR Study, the Rochester Longitudinal Study, the New York HR Study, the Stony Brook HR Study, the University of Rochester Child and Family Study, the Jerusalem Infant Development Study, the Swedish HR Study, the Emory University Project, and the Edinburgh HR Study. Table 3 summarizes their general characteristics (and additionally the Helsinki HR Study). There may be small inaccuracies concerning sample sizes, birth years and ages at follow-ups, because there was some variation in these between different publications from the same study. The reported sample size in the Minnesota HR Study includes only the first phase of the study conducted by Rolf during 1968-69, because the sample size of the subsequent study by Marcus (conducted in 1972) was not available (Garmezy et al., 1984). The reported sample sizes in the New York HR Study and the Jerusalem Infant Development Study include siblings who were recruited into the studies later.

Table 3. General characteristics of HR studies for schizophrenia

Study	Start year	Location	Inclusion criteria	Offspring's year of birth	Sample size	Follow-ups (age)
The New York Infant Study (Fish, 1987)	1952	New York, NY, USA	Mother DSM-I sch	1952-53, 1959-60	HR=12 C=12	0, 9-10, 15-16, 18-19 20-21, 27-34 years
The Boston NCPP HR Study (Rieder et al., 1977)	1959	Boston, MA, USA	Parent sch (criteria described in (Rieder et al., 1975))	1959-66	HR=93, C=*	0, 4, 8 months, 1, 4, 7 years
The Boston and Providence NCPP HR Study (Goldstein et al., 2000)	1959	Boston, MA, USA; Providence, RI USA	Parent DSM-IV sch or aff	1959-66	HRsch=118, HRaff=126, C=165	0, 4, 8 months, 1, 4, 7 years
The Copenhagen HR Study (Mednick et al., 1987)	1962	Denmark	Mother sch (project criteria, later DSM III)	1942-52	HR=207 C=104	10-20, 15-25, 20-30, 28-38, 34-48 years
The Israeli HR Study (Marcus et al., 1987; Mirsky et al., 1995a)	1964	Israel	Parent sch (hospital records, later DSM-III-R)	1952-59	HR=50 C=50	8-15, 14-21, 23-30, 31-40 years
St. Louis Risk Research Project (Worland et al., 1984)	1966	St. Louis, MO USA	Parent DSM-II sch or aff	1955-61	HRsch=100 HRaff=60 C=130 Cphys=78	7, 10, 13, 16, 19, 22, >25years
The Minnesota HR Study (Rolf, 1972; Garmezy et al., 1984)	1968	Minnesota, MN, USA	Mother DSM-II sch (case records, later project criteria described in (Nuechterlein, 1984))	1952-59	HRsch=28 Csch=56 HRint=26 Cint(HR)=52 Int=27 Cint=54 Ext=26 Cext=52	13-23 years
The Rochester Longitudinal Study (Sameroff et al., 1984; Sameroff et al., 1987)	1970	Rochester, NY, USA	Mother DSM-II sch, de, or pd	1970-73	HRsch=29 HRde=58 HRpd=40 C=57	0, 4 months, 1, 2.5, 4 years

Study	Start year	Location	Inclusion criteria	Offspring's year of birth	Sample size	Follow-ups (age)
The New York HR Study (Erlenmeyer-Kimling & Cornblatt, 1987; Erlenmeyer-Kimling	A: 1971 B:	NY, USA	A: Parent sch or aff (DSM II, later RDC)	A:1959-65	A:HRsch=84 HRaff=67 C=136	6 assessments, first 9 years, latest 30 years
et al., 1997; Erlenmeyer-Kimling, 2000 Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000)	1977		B: Parent RDC sch or aff	B:1965-72	B:HRsch=46 HRaff=39 C=65	
The Stony Brook HR Project (Weintraub & Neale, 1984; Weintraub, 1987)	1971	Stony Brook, NY, USA	Parent sch, bd, or mdd (DSM-II, later DSM III)	1956-64	HRsch=80 HRmdd=154 HRbp=134 C=176	7-15, 10-18, >18 years
The University of Rochester Child and Family Study (Wynne et al., 1987)	1972	Rochester, NY, USA	Parent sch, aff, op, or other (DSM-II, later DSM III)	1963-72	HRsch=20 HRaff=38 HRop=10 other=77	4, 7, 10, 13 years
The Jerusalem Infant Development Study (Marcus et al., 1981; Marcus et al., 1993)	1973	Israel	Parent sch, pd, neu or affective disorder (DSM-II, later RDC)	1973-77	HRsch=29 other=30 C=27	0, 3, 14 days, 4, 8, 12 months, 7-14, 14-21 years
The Swedish HR Study (McNeil et al., 1987)	1973	Southwest Sweden	Mother RDC psychosis	1973-77	HRsch=23 HRaff=22 HRop=8 HRschaff=11 C=103	0, 3 days, 3, 6 weeks, 3.5, 6 months, 1, 2, 6 years
The Helsinki HR Study (Wrede et al., 1980)	1974	Helsinki, Finland	Mother ICD-8 sch	1960-64	HRsch=204 C=204	15 years
The Emory University Project (Goodman, 1987; Goodman & Emory, 1992)	1981	Atlanta, GA, USA	Mother DSM-III sch, mdd	1976-81	HRsch=61 HRmdd=33 C=33	0-5, 1-6, 2-7, studied 3 times one year apart
The Edinburgh HR Study (Hodges et al., 1999; Lawrie et al., 1999; Johnstone et al., 2000)	1994	Scotland	2 or more first or second degree relatives sch (DSM III-R)	1969-	HRsch=162 C=36	16-25, follow-ups at 18 month intervals for 5 years

Key: aff affective psychosis, bd bipolar disorder, C control group, de depression, ext externalizer, HR high risk group, int internalizer, mdd major depressive disorder, mo mother, neu neuroses, op other psychosis, other other mental disorder, pd personality disorder, phys physical problem, sch schizophrenia, schaff schizoaffective disorder, *cohort study

The Rochester Longitudinal Study, the Jerusalem Infant Development Study and the Swedish HR Study began when the mothers were pregnant. Data collection in both NCPP HR studies also began when the mothers were pregnant, although the follow-ups as HR studies began only later. All the other studies began when the offspring were children or adolescents. The offspring have been followed-up until adulthood only in the New York Infant Study, the Copenhagen HR Study, the Israeli HR Study, the New York HR Study, and the Swedish HR Study. The first reports from the ongoing follow-up of the Edinburgh HR Study have also been published (Johnstone et al., 2000; Miller et al., 2002b; Miller et al., 2002c; Byrne et al., 2003).

The New York Infant Study (Fish et al., 1992) was the first HR Study. It was initiated in 1952 to test the pandysmaturation hypothesis, which postulated that the inherited part in schizophrenia was a neurointegrative defect. Although the children underwent a comprehensive and systematic examination, the sample size was small, only 12 HR children and 12 controls (Fish, 1987).

The Copenhagen HR Study (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968; Carter et al., 1999), the first statistically notable HR study, has a special focus on psychophysiological measurements and brain imaging, although it has also collected a wealth of obstetric and developmental data. Besides having one of the largest study samples, it also has the longest follow-up time. The National Collaborative Perinatal Project has collected information on pregnancy, delivery, and neonatal period, and assessed children's mental, motor, sensory and physical development at several points during the first seven years of life (Goldstein et al., 2000). The Boston NCPP HR Study initially consisted of offspring of parents with schizophrenia from the Boston NCPP sample (Rieder et al., 1977). The Boston and Providence NCPP HR Study extended the Boston NCPP HR Study sample to include offspring of parents with DSM-IV psychotic disorder from both sites, and is currently conducting a follow-up study on the sample (Goldstein et al., 2000).

Both the New York and Israeli HR Studies have concentrated primarily on neuropsychological assessments, the main emphasis in the former being attention dysfunction (Erlenmeyer-Kimling & Cornblatt, 1992), and in the latter attention deficit disorder-like neurointegrative deficits in HR offspring (Marcus et al., 1987). The third study with the primary focus on assessing attention functioning was the Minnesota HR Study (Garmezy et al., 1984), which chose four high-risk groups: children having a mother with schizophrenia, children having a mother with psychopathology manifesting as internalizing symptoms, and children without genetic predisposition but considered vulnerable because of internalizing or externalizing behaviour pathology (Rolf, 1972). The Israeli HR Study has also studied the influence of the rearing environment: half of the index and control-children were raised on a kibbutz and the other half with their biological parents. The Stony Brook HR Project emphasised investigation of the family environment (Weintraub, 1987).

The St. Louis Risk Research Project was more psychodynamically oriented than the others and also included offspring of parents with severe physical disorders (Worland et al., 1984). The University of Rochester Child and Family Study concentrated on developmental relationships, parental and child's psychopathology and health, and family system functioning (Wynne et al., 1987). The focus of the Swedish HR Study (McNeil et al., 1983) has been on intensive assessment of pre- and perinatal complications and early childhood development, which have also been the main interest in the Jerusalem Infant Development Study (Marcus et al., 1981). The Emory University Project assessed neuropsychiatric, social and intellectual functioning of preschool-aged HR children (Goodman, 1987). The Edinburgh HR Study (Hodges et al., 1999) is the most recent HR study to begin, and uses a slightly different methodology from the others mentioned. The HR group, aged between 16 and 25 years at entry, has at least two first- or second-degree relatives suffering from schizophrenia. The individuals are being followed up for five years, and are regularly monitored by neuropsychological assessment and magnetic resonance imaging (Hodges et al., 1999).

3.2.4.2. Differences between high-risk and control children in HR studies

The findings of HR children in childhood and adolescence are presented in Table 4.

Children at high risk for schizophrenia have more developmental problems than controls. They have abnormalities in neurological and motor development from infancy on, which continue through school age and adolescence. Most HR studies that have addressed this issue have found that schizophrenia HR children have more problems in neurological and motor development than controls (Rieder & Nicholas, 1979; Fish, 1984; Marcus et al., 1985; Marcus et al., 1987; Marcus et al., 1993; McNeil et al., 1993a; McNeil et al., 1993b; Hans et al., 1999; Rund & Borg, 1999; Erlenmeyer-Kimling, 2000; Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000). The Swedish HR Study found more neurological deviations among schizophrenia HR offspring than among controls already in the third to fourth day of life (Blennow & McNeil, 1991). However, these abnormalities found during infancy seem not to persist until adulthood, while neurological abnormalities during school-age were predictive of the presence of neurological soft signs in adulthood (Schubert & McNeil, 2004). Nevertheless, the Emory University Project failed to find any relationship between mother's diagnosis and the presence of neurological signs in her offspring (Goodman, 1987).

Table 4. Findings of HR children in childhood and adolescence

Age (years)	Neuromotor development	Cognitive functioning	Behaviour and social adjustment	Psychiatric symptoms
0-2	 pandysmaturation (NYIS) (Fish et al., 1992) passivity (CHR, NYIS) (Parnas et al., 1982; Fish, 1987) poorer psychomotor development during 1st year (RLS, JIDS) (Marcus et al., 1981; Sameroff et al., 1984) neuromotor deviations neonatally (SHR) (McNeil et al., 1993b) 	• low IQ (EUP) (Goodman, 1987) • abnormal use of language (SHR) (Walker & Aylward, 1984)	 absence of fear of strangers (SHR) (Näslund et al., 1984a) low communicative competence (EUP) (Goodman, 1987) quietness (NYIS)(Fish, 1987) lower reactivity to the examiner (RLS) (Sameroff et al., 1984) 	
2-7	neurological deviation, e.g. clumsiness, poor coordination, choreatic involuntary movements, poor balance, difficulty in crossing the body midline (SHR, BNCPP) (Rieder et al., 1979; McNeil et al., 1993b)	• low IQ (BNCPP, BPNCPP) (Rieder et al., 1979)	less expression of affection, anxiety, and hostility (EUP) (Goodman, 1987) isolation and loneliness (BNCPP, RLS) (Rieder & Nicholas, 1979; Sameroff et al., 1984) disturbed behaviour (NYIS, EUP) (Fish, 1987; Goodman, 1987)	depressivity (RLS) (Sameroff et al., 1984), hyperactivity (BNCPP) (Rieder & Nicholas, 1979) immaturation (BNCPP) (Rieder & Nicholas, 1979) increased activity, impulsivity, distractibility, and emotional lability (BNCPP) (Rieder & Nicholas, 1979)
8-12	poor coordination, balance, and motor overflow (IHR) (Marcus et al., 1985) poor neurobehavioural functioning (JIDS) (Marcus et al., 1993; (Hans et al., 1999) dyslexia, poor neurological maturation (NYIS) (Fish, 1987) poorer gross motor skills (NYHR) (Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000)	I lower IQ (CHR, IHR, NYHR, SB) (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968; Neale et al., 1984; Sohlberg & Yaniv, 1985; Mednick et al., 1987; Dworkin et al., 1993) attention dysfunction (NYHR, SB, MHR) (Garmezy et al., 1984; Weintraub, 1987; Erlenmeyer-Kimling & Cornblatt, 1992; Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000) poor concentration (IHR) (Lifshitz et al., 1985; Sohlberg, 1985) formal thought disorder (SB, NYHR) (Weintraub, 1987; Bolinskey et al., 2001) poorer memory (NYHR) (Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000)	disturbing and aggressive school behaviour (CHR, SB) (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968; Weintraub et al., 1984) lower cognitive and social competence in school (SB, IHR) (Marcus et al., 1987; Weintraube & Neale, 1984) problems in interpersonal relations, social isolation (IHS, NYIS, EHR, MHR) (Garmezy et al., 1984; Nagler & Glueck 1985; Fish, 1987; Hodges et al., 1999; Johnstone et al., 2000) low self-esteem (IHS) (Nagler & Glueck 1985) early offending behaviour (EHR) (Hodges et al., 1999) (Johnstone et al., 2000) poor affective control (NYIS, IHS) (Nagler & Glueck 1985; Fish, 1987)	more psychopathology (StL) (Worland et al., 1979; Worland et al., 1984) more clinical involvement (e.g. need for residential treatment, special school for emotional problems, externalizing and/or internalizing) (SB) (Weintraub, 1987) tendency to anhedonia or euphoria, depression, and aggression (IHR) (Nagler & Glueck, 1985)

Age (years) Neuromotor development	Cognitive functioning	Behaviour and social adjustment	Psychiatric symptoms	
• poorer coordination and balance, lower perceptual-motor and visual motor functioning (IHR) (Lifshitz et al., 1985; Marcus et al.,1985) • poorer neurobehavioural functioning (JIDS) (Hans et al., 1999)	Iow IQ (CHR, SB, EHR) (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968; Neale et al., 1984; Weintraub et al., 1984; Weintraub, 1987; Byrne et al., 1999) greater decrease in IQ scores between 7 and 16 years of age (StL) (Worland et al., 1982) worse in arithmetic tests and spelling (IHR) (Ayalon & Merom, 1985; Lifshitz et al., 1985; Sohlberg & Yaniv, 1985) evidence of formal thought disorder (CHR, SB) (Weintraub, 1987) attention dysfunction (NYHR, SB, IHR) (Lifshitz et al., 1985; Sohlberg, 1985; Weintraub, 1987; Erlenmeyer-Kimling & Cornblatt, 1992) poor executive functioning (EHR (Byrne et al., 1999) eneuropsychological differences in many areas (EHR) (Byrne et al., 2003) deficient ability to ignore irrelevant input (SB) (Weintraub, 1987) problems in learning and memory (EHR) (Byrne et al., 1999)		greater affective flattening, reduced smiling (NYHR) (Dworkin et al., 1993) more anxious (IHR) (Kugelmass et al., 1995) more clinical involvement (e.g. need for residential treatment, special school for emotional problems, externalizing and/or internalizing) (SB) (Weintraub, 1987) poorly adjusted (CHR) (Mednick & Schulsinger, 196	

BNCPP Boston NCPP HR Study, BPNCPP Boston and Providence NCPP Study, BSID Bayley Scales of Infant Development (Bayley, 1969), CHR Copenhagen HR Study, EHR Edinburgh HR Study, EUP Emory University Project, HHR Helsinki HR Study, IHR Israel HR Study, JIDS Jerusalem Infant Development Study, MHR Minnesota HR Study, NYHR New York HR Study, NYIS New York Infant Study, RLS Rochester Longitudinal Study, SB Stony Brook HR Study, SHR Swedish HR Study, StL St. Louis Risk Research Project

Several (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968; Rieder et al., 1977; Neale et al., 1984; Goodman, 1987; Dworkin et al., 1993; Byrne et al., 1999; Goldstein et al., 2000) HR studies, although not all (Klein & Salzman, 1984; Sameroff et al., 1984; Worland et al., 1984; Sohlberg & Yaniv, 1985; Sameroff et al., 1987), found a lower IQ among schizophrenia HR children than controls. In some studies, the difference between HR and control children diminished with age (Goodman, 1987; Dworkin et al., 1993), while the opposite trend was found in the St. Louis Risk Research Project (Worland et al., 1982). The Edinburgh HR Study found differences in many areas of neuropsychological functioning among both HR offspring who later developed schizophrenia and those who did not, suggesting that the disorder itself is not inherited but rather a state of vulnerability which is manifested by neuropsychological impairment (Byrne et al., 2003). However, the Rochester Longitudinal Study (Sameroff et al., 1993) found in the early childhood assessments that low social status and severity of maternal illness were stronger predictors of low IQ than specific maternal diagnosis (Sameroff et al., 1993).

Several HR studies have investigated positive formal thought disorder-like symptoms. HR children in the Copenhagen HR Study tended to give more idiosyncratic and fragmented associations in the single-word association test (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968). Children of the Stony Brook HR Study were found to have cognitive slippage, i.e. poor control of thoughts and verbal expression, at school-age and adolescence (Weintraub, 1987). The New York HR Study assessed the occurrence of thought disorder among HR children retrospectively from videotaped interviews conducted at age nine, and found that positive thought disorder could be observed already at that age and was predictive of adulthood schizophrenia spectrum disorders (Ott et al., 2001). Other abnormalities in cognitive functioning among HR children include poor concentration (Lifshitz et al., 1985; Sohlberg, 1985), decreased ability to ignore irrelevant input (Weintraub, 1987), poor performance in mathematics and spelling (Ayalon & Merom, 1985), poor executive function, poor mental coding/encoding and learning, and poor memory (Byrne et al., 1999). The most consistently found neurocognitive deficit among schizophrenia HR children was attention deficit (Garmezy et al., 1984; Lifshitz et al., 1985; Sohlberg & Yaniv, 1985; Weintraub, 1987; Erlenmeyer-Kimling & Cornblatt, 1992).

The Rochester Longitudinal Study (Sameroff et al., 1984) investigated social adjustment during the first four years, and found more abnormalities in social adjustment among offspring of mothers with depressive disorder than among schizophrenia HR offspring (Sameroff et al., 1984). Severity and chronicity of maternal illness and low social status were more powerful predictors of poor social adjustment than maternal diagnosis (Sameroff et al., 1984; Sameroff et al., 1987). Several HR studies have found more problems in social adjustment among school-aged (Nagler & Glueck, 1985; Hodges et al., 1999; Johnstone et al., 2000) and adolescent HR offspring (Rolf, 1972; James & Worland, 1983; Ayalon & Merom, 1985; Nagler & Glueck, 1985; Marcus et al., 1987; Dworkin et al., 1993; Hodges et al., 1999; Johnstone et al., 2000). Teachers (James & Worland, 1983; Worland et al., 1984;

Olin et al., 1995) or peers (Ayalon & Merom, 1985) rated them as being more aggressive, disruptive or withdrawn, or having poorer concentration and less participation in class (Ayalon & Merom, 1985), and as being susceptible to future emotional or psychotic problems (Olin et al., 1995). They also had problems in peer relations as judged by both teachers (Rolf, 1972; Ayalon & Merom, 1985) and peers themselves (Rolf, 1972; Garmezy et al., 1984; Worland et al., 1984; Ayalon & Merom, 1985). At the outset of the Copenhagen HR Study (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968), children already mentally ill at the initial assessment were excluded. However, the psychiatric interview rated 24% of the HR children as poorly or relatively poorly adjusted, as opposed to only 1% of the low risk children (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968). Several other HR studies also found more non-specific psychopathology among HR offspring at their initial assessment (Worland et al., 1984; Weintraub, 1987; Kugelmass et al., 1995).

The mother-infant interaction has been found to be different in HR families in some of the HR studies. The Rochester Longitudinal Study found that when the children were four months of age, both depressed mothers and those with schizophrenia were less spontaneous and less in proximity to their children than controls, but the effect of maternal diagnosis had disappeared by the 12-month assessment. However, the severity and chronicity of maternal disorder were associated with problems in the mother-infant interaction at both assessments (Sameroff et al., 1984). In the Emory University Project, mothers with schizophrenia showed less affectional involvement and responsiveness to their children than control mothers, and this was significantly associated with the child's IQ (Goodman & Brumley, 1990). The child rearing environment of mothers with schizophrenia was significantly poorer, while mother's education or severity of illness had no effect (Goodman & Brumley, 1990). The mother-infant interaction was evaluated regularly during the first two years of the Swedish HR Study (Persson-Blennow et al., 1988). Interaction was consistently more negative among the schizophrenia HR group than controls (McNeil et al., 1985; Näslund et al., 1985; Persson-Blennow et al., 1986), and anxious attachment at one year of age was more common among schizophrenia HR children (Näslund et al., 1984b). Compared with controls, schizophrenia HR offspring also more often showed a total absence of fear of strangers during the first year of life (Näslund et al., 1984b). Mental disturbance at six years, measured by the Children's Global Assessment Score, was related in the HR group to maternal psychotic episodes during the offspring's early childhood (six months to two years) (McNeil & Kaij, 1987). None of the studies assessing mother-infant interaction has completed an adulthood follow-up.

The Edinburgh HR Study (Lawrie et al., 1999) was the first to include repeated brain imaging as a part of the longitudinal follow-up. In the initial magnetic resonance imaging assessment, HR adolescents were compared with matched controls and patients having their first episode of schizophrenia. The general pattern was that the findings of high-risk individuals were midway between those of controls and first episode patients. Significant difference emerged in the volume of the left amygdala-hippocampal complex, which was significantly smaller in the first episode patients than in the other two groups, and significantly smaller among HR individuals than among controls. HR individuals

also had a significantly smaller thalamus than the control group. Within the high-risk group, individuals with at least one affected first-degree relative had smaller regional brain volumes and greater ventricular volumes than individuals with only second-degree relatives with schizophrenia, suggesting that structural brain abnormalities are largely genetically mediated (Lawrie et al., 1999).

3.3. Risk factors for schizophrenia

The term risk refers to the likelihood of a person who does not currently have schizophrenia developing the disorder after exposure to certain factors (risk factors). A risk factor is a characteristic or an external condition associated with increased probability of developing schizophrenia. Current understanding of causal mechanisms supports the view that there is no single causal factor for any complex disorder, and the current view is that there are multiple risk factors for schizophrenia. (Mueser & McGurk, 2004)

3.3.1. Genetic factors

3.3.1.1. Familiality of schizophrenia

Numerous family studies have found a morbid risk for schizophrenia among the first-degree relatives ranging from 1.4% to 6.5% (Kendler & Diehl, 1993). The risk for schizophrenia has been found higher among siblings than parents of a patient with schizophrenia (Kendler et al., 1993a; Gottesman, 1994). The risk for schizophrenia is about 6% among half-siblings, 4% among nephews or nieces, and 2% among first cousins of a patient with schizophrenia (Gottesman, 1994).

The prevalence of schizophrenia among adoptees having a biological mother with schizophrenia was 5.1% in the Finnish (Tienari et al., 2003) and 5.7% in the Danish Adoption Study (Kendler & Gruenberg, 1984). A Danish population-based cohort found that having a mother with schizophrenia was associated with 9-fold risk wheareas having a father with schizophrenia was associated with 7-fold risk of developing schizophrenia compared to controls (Mortensen et al., 1999). In previous HR studies, the risk for schizophrenia among offspring of a parent with schizophrenia has varied between 3.6% in the Swedish HR Study (Schubert & McNeil, 2003) and 16.2% in the Copenhagen HR Study (Parnas et al., 1993). For this estimation, the offspring of the Swedish HR Study had been followed up only until 22 years of age, which explains the lower prevalence. The Copenhagen HR Study includes several families in which both parents have schizophrenia (Parnas, 1985). It is also possible that the high prevalence observed in the Copenhagen HR study was partly caused by the case selection method (they included only families where the mother was hospitalized by the beginning of the study), or diagnostic criteria (self made criteria for the project, DSM-III criteria in later publications) used in the study.

The relatives of probands with schizophrenia also have an increased risk of other schizophrenia spectrum disorders: schizotypal and paranoid personality disorder (about 8-fold), and other nonaffective psychotic disorders (about 1.2-fold) (Kendler & Diehl, 1993). Some studies have also shown that the risk for non-schizophrenic disorders is increased among first-degree relatives of schizophrenia as well. The New York HR Study found that schizophrenia-related psychotic disorders, schizoaffective disorders, and non-psychotic and psychotic affective disorders were all increased among the schizophrenia HR offspring compared with controls (Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 1997). Swedish (Schubert & McNeil, 2003) and Israeli (Ingraham et al., 1995) HR Studies found an increased rate of non-psychotic mood disorders among HR offspring. In the Copenhagen (Parnas et al., 1993) and Swedish (Schubert & McNeil, 2003) HR studies, alcohol or other substance abuse was more common among the HR than control offspring, whereas there was no significant difference between the HR and control groups in the New York HR Study (Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 1997).

Some studies have shown that there is an approximately equal morbid risk for schizophrenia among relatives of probands with any of the schizophrenia spectrum disorders. The Irish Roscommon Family Study found that the risk of schizophrenia and schizophrenia spectrum disorders was approximately equal among the relatives of probands with schizophrenia, schizotypal personality disorder, schizoaffective disorder, or other non-affective psychotic disorders (Kendler et al., 1993a; Kendler et al., 1993b; Kendler et al., 1993c). In the Roscommon Family Study, the risk of schizophrenia was also higher among relatives of probands with psychotic affective illness (Kendler et al., 1993a). The Iowa Study found an increased risk for schizophrenia among relatives of probands with schizophrenia, schizophrenia spectrum disorders or psychotic affective illness (Kendler et al., 1985; Kendler et al., 1986).

3.3.1.2. Gene findings associated with schizophrenia

The high heritability of schizophrenia has stimulated much research to locate the susceptibility genes for it. However, in a recent meta-analysis of genetic research on schizophrenia, only the region 2p11.1-q21.1 in chromosome 2 met the criteria for genome-wide significance (Lewis et al., 2003), although many other regions almost reached significance.

Most recent studies implicate the Neuregulin 1 (NRG1) and Dysbindin (DTNBP1) genes as schizophrenia susceptibility genes (Harrison & Owen, 2003), and other genes, such as G72, Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) or proline dehydrogenase (PRODH) (both situated in 22q11), AKT1, DISC-1, and GSK-3 β have also been of great interest (O'Donovan et al., 2003; Ozeki et al., 2003; Emamian et al., 2004).

Neuregulin is a component of the dystrophin protein complex, which modulates synaptic function in the brain, e.g. of the glutaminergic NMDA-receptors (Suvisaari, 2004). The association between Neuregulin 1 and schizophrenia was first found in Iceland (Stefansson et al., 2002), and this association has been replicated in six independent studies (Suvisaari, 2004). *Dysbindin* was first found in an Irish Study (Straub et al., 2002), and the association with schizophrenia has been replicated in four independent studies (Suvisaari, 2004). It probably participates in synaptic regulation, particularly in the same regions as GABA-A receptors are located.

G72 activates D-amino acid oxidase (DAAO), which oxidizes the D-serine and which in turn is an activator of the NMDA receptor. It has been found to be associated with both schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (Suvisaari, 2004). Thus, it has been suggested that there is an overlap in genetic susceptibility to schizophrenia and bipolar disorder that can be thought as predisposing to psychosis, and other genes and environmental effects might then have specific effects leading to schizophrenia or bipolar disorder (Walker et al., 2002).

A microdeletion of 22q11 causes velo-cardio-facial syndrome (VCFS), and about 25% of patients with this syndrome develop schizophrenia. COMT and proline dehydrogenase (PRODH) lie in this area, and are therefore of interest. COMT inactivates dopamine molecules in the synaptic cleft. The association between COMT and schizophrenia has been found in two studies, but has not been replicated (Suvisaari, 2004). PRODH has been associated especially with childhood onset schizophrenia in one study, but this result has yet to be confirmed (Suvisaari, 2004). AKTI and $GSK-3\beta$ were also associated with schizophrenia in a recent study, but again the result awaits confirmation (Emamian et al., 2004).

The *DISC-1* gene located on Chromosome 1 has been associated with schizophrenia in Finnish (Ekelund et al., 2001; Hennah et al., 2003; Ekelund et al., 2004) and Scottish (Millar et al., 2000) studies. Expression of DISC-1 displays pronounced developmental regulation in late embryonic life when the cerebral cortex develops. It interacts with a variety of cytoskeletal proteins that are important in neurodevelopment (Ozeki et al., 2003).

Epigenetic factors have also been suggested to play a major role in the development of schizophrenia. This would mean that genomic functions are regulated by heritable and potentially reversible changes in DNS methylation and/or chromatin structure. Epigenetic factors may not be completely erased during meiosis and could therefore be transmitted from one generation to another. Epigenetic regulation is only partially stable, and therefore the daughter chromosomes do not necessarily carry the same epigenetic patterns as parental chromosomes. Accordingly, schizophrenia can be seen as a result of a pre-mutation that increases the risk for schizophrenia, but does not necessarily indicate that the disorder is unavoidable. Pre-mutations may undergo further changes during tissue differentiation in the foetal period, childhood or adolescence, as well as due to sporadic factors and probably some external environmental factors. (Petronis, 2004)

Showing that a disorder runs in families does not conclusively mean that genes cause the disorder. All mechanism that could lead to a familial clustering of disease should be considered. It may also include a threshold effect. Nevertheless, if the genetic research can clarify the genes that are underlying schizophrenia, it may help us to understand the basic pathophysiology, to develop new drugs or to help to select proper drugs for a certain genotype, to identify genetic vulnerable HR individuals for early intervention, and to improve classification of psychiatric disorders.

3.3.2. Environmental risk factors

3.3.2.1 Birth and pregnancy complications

The suggestion that perinatal hypoxia may be aetiologically relevant to hippocampal dysfunction in schizophrenia, at least among individuals who are at high genetic risk for it, was firstly suggested by Mednick in the 1970s (Mednick, 1970). However, findings pointing to pregnancy and delivery complications are somewhat contradictory: other studies show that low birth weight and premature birth increase the risk of schizophrenia (Jones et al., 1998), and some that obstetric complications, particularly hypoxic-ischemia-related complications, increase the risk for later development of schizophrenia (Geddes & Lawrie, 1995; Zornberg et al., 2000), while some case-control studies have shown that these factors have only minor (Byrne et al., 2000) or no influence at all (Kendell et al., 2000).

However, a meta-analysis of the association of obstetric complications and schizophrenia found that three groups were significantly associated with schizophrenia: pregnancy complications, abnormal foetal growth and development, and delivery complications (Cannon et al., 2002b). A recent study revealed a dose-response relationship between number of obstetric complications and decreasing age of onset of schizophrenia (Kelly et al., 2004).

Some cohort studies have found an association between maternal-foetal Rh incompatibility and schizophrenia (Hollister et al., 1996; Cannon et al., 2002b). It has been confirmed that the cause of this phenomenon is not genetic, because in the proximity of the RhD-locus there was no genetic relationship with schizophrenia (Palmer et al., 2002). It has therefore been suggested that the relationship is caused by foetal hypoxia resulting from haemolysis caused by maternal-foetal incompatibility, or by hyperbilirubinaemia in the infant (Hollister et al., 1996). Since most of the children with obstetric complications do not develop schizophrenia, such complications may interact with genetic vulnerability to increase the risk of the disorder (Mueser & McGurk, 2004).

Nevertheless, it remains unclear whether the increased number of obstetric complications among individuals who later develop schizophrenia is at least partly a result of maternal characteristics, since studies have shown that women with a psychotic disorder are more prone to obstetric complications (Wrede et al., 1980; Bennedsen et al., 1999; Bennedsen et al., 2001).

3.3.2.2. Malnutrition

Mother's nutritional status during pregnancy seems to influence the child's later metabolism and adulthood morbidity from several disorders, such as hypertension and coronary heart disease (Barker, 1994; Barker, 1998; Parizkova, 1998). Whether maternal nutritional state might have an effect on later psychiatric disorders is not known, although individuals who were exposed to severe malnutrition *in utero* during a famine in the Netherlands during the Second World War had an increased incidence of schizophrenia (Susser et al., 1996). However, the association between the famine and later schizophrenia may have been caused by some other factor related to the time point, since in developing countries, where poor nutrition is common, the prevalence of schizophrenia is not increased (Jablensky et al., 1992). A Finnish cohort study found an association between low BMI during childhood and later development of schizophrenia (Wahlbeck et al., 2001).

3.3.2.3. Infections

Infections during pregnancy may also increase the risk for later developing schizophrenia among the offspring. Many studies (Mednick et al., 1988; Barr et al., 1990; Susser et al., 1996; Brown et al., 2000a) have found an association between second-trimester influenza epidemics and later development of schizophrenia, but not all (Torrey et al., 1988; Susser et al., 1994). However, these studies were based on dates of influenza epidemics or on maternal recall to define influenza exposure. A recent serological study found an association between influenza exposure during the first trimester and later schizophrenia (Brown et al., 2004). Another recent cohort study found that increased maternal plasma concentration of immunoglobulins G and M, and especially of Herpes Simplex type 2, before delivery were associated with increased risk for schizophrenia among offspring (Buka et al., 2001). Enteroviruses, especially poliovirus, have also been suggested to be associated with schizophrenia, but only a few studies have investigated this association. Some studies have found an association between poliomyelitis-infection during pregnancy and later development of schizophrenia (Torrey et al., 1988; Suvisaari et al., 1999a), while some have not (Watson et al., 1984; O'Callaghan et al., 1994; Cahill et al., 2002). In utero exposure to rubella infection has been studied with serological tests and found to be associated with later development of schizophrenia (Brown et al., 2000b; Brown et al., 2001). In utero exposure to respiratory infection has been similarly associated with later schizophrenia (Brown et al., 2000a). A Finnish study found an association between childhood CNS infections and later development of schizophrenia (Rantakallio et al., 1997; Koponen et al., 2004), but another did not (Suvisaari et al., 2003). Despite the evidence of an association between influenza and schizophrenia, the link between virus exposure and schizophrenia appears equivocal (Brown & Susser, 2002).

3.3.2.4. Season of birth

Patients with schizophrenia have an excess of births during the winter and early spring compared with the general population (Torrey et al., 1997). In the northern hemisphere, children who later develop schizophrenia are more often born from January to April (Davies et al., 2003), whereas in the southern hemisphere they are more often born from July to September (McGrath et al., 1995). Interestingly, it has been shown that both patients and unaffected siblings have the same seasonal birth clustering, but that this seasonal clustering is wider among offspring who develop schizophrenia (Suvisaari et al., 2001). The cause of this phenomenon is unknown. It has been suggested that parents of individuals with schizophrenia have a seasonal conception pattern that differs slightly from that of the general population, possibly because of different or missing family planning, or some biological factor that has an effect on fertility (Suvisaari et al., 2001). Other suggested causes include meteorological factors (Tochigi et al., 2004), infections (Yolken & Torrey, 1995; Brown & Susser, 2002), nutritional factors (McGrath et al., 2004a), factors on the paternal side (Lam et al., 2002; Tochigi et al., 2004), and factors involving the infant after birth (Brown et al., 2000a; Xu et al., 2001; Tochigi et al., 2004). However, except for evidence of the effect of infections on subsequent schizophrenia, none of these hypotheses has been confirmed (Tochigi et al., 2004).

3.3.2.5. Urbanization

The prevalence of schizophrenia has been observed to be higher in urban than rural areas in most western countries (Tsuang, 2000; McGrath et al., 2004b), and the risk increased with rising levels of urbanization in a dose-response matter (Sundquist et al., 2004; van Os, 2004). The incidence of schizophrenia in Finland used to be higher in rural areas, but in younger birth cohorts the risk is higher in urban-born individuals (Haukka et al., 2001). The risk for schizophrenia increases with the number of years spent in an urban region during childhood (Pedersen & Mortensen, 2001b). Psychosis-like experiences are also more common in urban (23%) than rural (13%) areas (van Os et al., 2001). The reason for this association remains unknown, although there are several hypotheses to explain it, including a viral hypothesis (Tochigi et al., 2004), obstetric complications (Harrison et al., 2003), maternal educational level (Harrison et al., 2003), amount of substance misuse (van Os, 2004), selective migration (Tochigi et al., 2004), or socio-economic factors during childhood (Tochigi et al., 2004). However, none of these hypotheses have been confirmed by convincing evidence.

3.3.2.6. Social environment and family related factors

The association between urbanization and schizophrenia might be explained by influences in the wider social environment, such as community level of social fragmentation, social isolation and social inequality, all of which have been found associated with schizophrenia in small areas (van Os et al., 2000; van Os, 2004). Social adversity during early life or adolescence may be associated with schizophrenia (Howes et al., 2004). It has also been suggested that because stress induces dopamine release, genetically vulnerable individuals who may be neurodevelopmentally impaired might be susceptible to dysregulation of dopamine, which could act as a final pathway leading to the onset of a psychotic illness (Howes et al., 2004).

Some factors related to family structure have been found associated with schizophrenia, e.g. number of siblings, birth order, and age difference to older siblings. The Northern Finland 1966 Birth cohort found that multiparity (i.e. mother who has undergone six or more deliveries) was associated with psychoses other than schizophrenia, and with alcoholism and depressive disorder, but not with schizophrenia itself (Kemppainen et al., 2000). Nevertheless, the same study found that specific birth order status was associated with schizophrenia: the risk for schizophrenia was increased among male first-borns and female last-borns (Kemppainen et al., 2001). However, other studies have found a decreased incidence of schizophrenia among first-borns (Hare & Price, 1970; Sham et al., 1993), or no effect of birth order on schizophrenia (Westergaard et al., 1999). One study has suggested that having siblings three to four years older would be associated with later development of schizophrenia (Sham et al., 1993), while another study found that having less than two years age difference to the nearest older or younger sibling was associated with later development of schizophrenia (Westergaard et al., 1999). It has been suggested that some biological factors or psychological stressors linked with these positions may have an impact on the risk for schizophrenia (Kemppainen et al., 2001). Advanced paternal age has also been found to be associated with schizophrenia in several studies (Malaspina et al., 2001; Brown et al., 2002; Dalman & Allebeck, 2002).

The Copenhagen HR Study found that institutionalization (Walker et al., 1981) and severe instability of the early rearing environment (Parnas et al., 1985) predicted later development of schizophrenia among offspring of mothers with schizophrenia (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968; Cannon et al., 1990). The HR children who were raised in children's homes had an increased risk for schizophrenia, while those who were raised by relatives had a more favourable outcome than their peers raised by mothers with schizophrenia (Carter et al., 2002). A poor relationship with both parents also predicted later development of schizophrenia (Schiffman et al., 2002). The Israeli HR Study found that Axis I disorders were more prevalent among the kibbutz-reared HR offspring than in those reared by their own parents, or in control offspring (Mirsky et al., 1995b).

However, a recent Finnish study found no association between maternal separation at birth and later development of psychotic disorders (Maki et al., 2003). This divergent finding might be explained by the relatively short duration of separation used in the study (from directly after birth for seven months, on average), or by the fact that these children were separated because of tuberculosis in the family, and not because of an otherwise suboptimal rearing environment (Maki et al., 2003).

Nevertheless, familial or parental dysfunction has been shown to predict schizophrenia in several studies (Wahlberg et al., 1997; Carter et al., 2002; Tienari et al., 2004). Other studies have shown an increased risk in children subjected to adverse physical conditions, such as overcrowded housing and deprived neighbourhoods (Carter et al., 2002). A recent study found that early psychological childhood trauma increased the risk for later positive symptoms (Janssen et al., 2004).

3.3.2.7. Cannabis

Cohort studies have shown that a dose-related association exists between schizophrenia and cannabis abuse (Arseneault et al., 2004): the risk for schizophrenia is greater when the abuse has started earlier and has been heavier (Arseneault et al., 2002; Zammit et al., 2002). There was no relationship between other drugs and psychotic disorders (Arseneault et al., 2002; Zammit et al., 2002). A recent review suggested that elimination of cannabis use would reduce the incidence of schizophrenia by about 8% (Arseneault et al., 2004).

3.4. Early indicators for schizophrenia

Kraepelin and Bleuler observed almost a century ago that many of the individuals who develop schizophrenia already differ from others during childhood and adolescence (Bleuler, 1911; Kraepelin et al., 1919). Clouston observed a syndrome of 'developmental insanity', where developmental abnormalities predicted later psychosis (Colp, 2000). Indeed, the first schizophrenia HR study was initiated to test the hypothesis of developmental disorder (Fish et al., 1992).

3.4.1. Neurological and motor development

A large follow-up study of children with childhood-onset schizophrenia conducted in the 1940s observed deviations in neurological maturation among them (Fish et al., 1992). This led Barbara Fish to propose that "what was inherited in schizophrenia, at least in individuals with the earliest onset and most chronic course, was a neurointegrative defect" (Fish et al., 1992). Specifically, she suggested that a neurointegrative disorder in infancy termed pandysmaturation (PDM), consisting of concurrent transient retardation of motor and/or visual motor development, abnormal profile of function, and retarded skeletal growth, predicted later development of schizophrenia. She tested the hypothesis

in the New York Infant Study (Fish et al., 1992), in which seven out of 12 HR infants and one out of 12 controls were found to have had PDM. The seven HR subjects who received a diagnosis of schizophrenia or schizotypal or paranoid personality disorder in the adulthood follow-up had all had PDM in infancy. Several HR and cohort studies since then have investigated early childhood motor and neurological development.

Later attainment of motor milestones (Jones et al., 1994; Isohanni et al., 2001b) and deficits in motor coordination (Crow et al., 1995; Walker et al., 1999; Bearden et al., 2000; Cannon et al., 2000; Rosso et al., 2000) have been associated with schizophrenia in several cohort studies. The British 1958 Perinatal Mortality Survey (Crow et al., 1995) found that pre-schizophrenic children had poor coordination compared with controls (Crow et al., 1995). The Northern Finland 1966 Birth cohort found that severe perinatal brain damage is associated with increased risk for developing schizophrenia (Jones et al., 1998). HR studies have also found poor neurobehavioural functioning associated with later schizophrenia (Fish, 1984; Marcus et al., 1987; Hans et al., 1999; Erlenmeyer-Kimling, 2000; Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000; van Os, 2004). In the New York HR Study, neuromotor deviance predicted affective flattening among the schizophrenia HR group in adolescence and identified 75% of those who developed schizophrenia spectrum psychoses in adulthood (Erlenmeyer-Kimling, 2000; Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000). The Northern Finland 1966 Birth cohort found that children who learned to stand latest were more likely to perform poorly in school in motor and academic subjects, independent of genetic and perinatal factors (Isohanni et al., 2004). A population-based longitudinal study in Finland found that children who later developed schizophrenia performed worse in sports and handicrafts, suggesting problems in motor development (Cannon et al., 1999).

There seems to be a continuity between childhood developmental problems in neuromotor functioning and neurological signs in adult patients with schizophrenia. The Swedish HR Study found that neurological signs in young adulthood were associated with the presence of neurological signs during childhood, but not during infancy (Schubert & McNeil, 2004). A review concluded that the prevalence of most neurological signs is higher among patients with schizophrenia than among controls, and particularly impaired motor coordination seems to be specific to schizophrenia (Boks et al., 2000). Neurological soft signs are also more common among individuals with first episode psychosis (Dazzan & Murray, 2002).

However, a recent cohort study found that deviance in motor coordination in childhood predicted both adult schizophrenia and being an unaffected sibling of a patient with schizophrenia (Rosso et al., 2000). Interestingly, motor uncoordination has been the most common finding differentiating HR children from controls in many HR studies, too. This could suggest that deviance in motor coordination may be associated with the genetic risk for developing schizophrenia, or with some other family-related factors, but is not necessarily an indicator for its development. In a recent study, maltreatment but not parental psychopathology was found to affect children's neuromotor functioning (Bergman et al., 1997). The same study observed that maltreatment of children was quite common in families with a schizophrenic parent (Bergman et al., 1997). Thus, it is possible that

some of the observed differences in neuromotor development between schizophrenia HR and control children are related to family characteristics other than having a parent with schizophrenia.

3.4.2. Cognitive functioning

Bleuler regarded attention deficit as one of the fundamental symptoms of schizophrenia (Bleuler, 1911). Family studies have since found that attention deficits are evident in patients with schizophrenia as well as their unaffected first-degree relatives, although they are less severe among relatives (Michie et al., 2000). The deficit in patients is independent of clinical state, suggesting that the impairment is trait- rather than statedependent (Michie et al., 2000). A deficit in sustained attention is regarded as one of the most promising phenotypic indicators of vulnerability to schizophrenia for genetic studies (Michie et al., 2000). It is also one of the key features of "schizotaxia", a term introduced by Meehl to describe the premorbid neurological substrate of schizophrenia which precedes but does not necessarily proceed to schizophrenia (Tsuang et al., 2000). Childhood attention deficit has been found to predict schizophrenia spectrum psychoses in adulthood in some HR studies (Marcus et al., 1987; Erlenmeyer-Kimling & Cornblatt, 1992; Mirsky et al., 1995a; Erlenmeyer-Kimling, 2000; Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000), although the Edinburgh HR Study failed to find any association between sustained attention deficit and genetic liability to schizophrenia, nor between sustained attention deficit and the occurrence of psychotic symptoms (Cosway et al., 2002).

The British 1958 Perinatal Mortality Survey (Crow et al., 1995) found in cognitive assessments conducted at the ages of 7, 11, and 16, that preschizophrenic subjects performed worse than controls in both oral and reading abilities as well as in tests of mathematical skills. Verbal short-term memory deficit predicted 83% of the HR offspring who developed schizophrenia-related psychosis in the New York HR Study (Erlenmeyer-Kimling & Cornblatt, 1992; Erlenmeyer-Kimling, 2000; Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000).

Many cohort and conscript studies have found that low IQ increases the risk of developing schizophrenia (Aylward et al., 1984; Davidson et al., 1999), one even finding a linear trend in risk regarding intellectual functioning and schizophrenia (Davidson et al., 1999). Adolescents who later developed schizophrenia showed significant premorbid deficits on all intellectual and reading measures (Reichenberg et al., 2002). It seems that low IQ is also associated with psychiatric disorders other than schizophrenia, but for non-schizophrenic disorders the effect is less marked and non-linear (David et al., 1997). The Edinburgh HR Study found a decline in IQ from the initial assessment among individuals who developed psychotic symptoms during the follow-up (Cosway et al., 2000). However, not all studies have been able to confirm this association. Adulthood schizophrenia was not related to IQ in the New York HR Study (Dworkin et al., 1993), and the Copenhagen HR Study even found that children who later developed schizophrenia had a slightly higher premorbid IQ than their unaffected HR peers (Carter et al., 2002). Two Finnish cohort studies found no difference in school marks in academic subjects between

children who later developed schizophrenia and other cohort members (Isohanni et al., 1998; Cannon et al., 1999), while another found that excellent school marks were more common among males who later developed schizophrenia than among males with no psychiatric disorders (Isohanni et al., 1999).

The Philadelphia NCPP cohort study found that subjects who later developed schizophrenia and their siblings both performed worse than controls in verbal and nonverbal cognitive tests at four and seven years (Cannon et al., 2000), suggesting that low IQ may be associated with the familial risk of developing schizophrenia but is not necessarily a risk factor for it. Low IQ could also reflect other risk factors that are more prevalent in these families, as suggested by the Rochester Longitudinal Study (Sameroff et al., 1998). However, a recent family study found that schizophrenic patients had significantly lower premorbid IQ than their relatives and controls (Gilvarry et al., 2000). One reason for these disparate findings could be the different ages at assessment. It is also possible that low IQ is associated with an environmental risk factor for schizophrenia, but is not a risk factor itself.

3.4.3. Behaviour and social adjustment

Several cohort, conscript and HR studies have found that problems in behaviour or antisocial competence from early childhood predict later development of schizophrenia (Jones et al., 1994; Mirsky et al., 1995a; Olin et al., 1995; David et al., 1997; Isohanni et al., 1998; Davidson et al., 1999; Bearden et al., 2000).

Walker et al. (Walker et al., 1993) compared the early childhood development of children who later developed schizophrenia and their unaffected siblings by investigating their behaviour in home movies made in early childhood. They found that children who later developed schizophrenia showed greater negative affect, and preschizophrenic girls also showed less joy responses. Other cohort studies have found that solitary play preference at the age of four and six years (Jones et al., 1994), or social maladjustment at seven years (Bearden et al., 2000) predicted later development of schizophrenia. The Philadelphia follow-up of the National Collaborative Perinatal Project found that children who developed schizophrenia, as well as their unaffected siblings, showed more focal deviant behaviour than controls (Bearden et al., 2000). It seems that problems in social adjustment continue into young adulthood: pre-schizophrenic conscripts have reported problems with interpersonal relationships more often (Malmberg et al., 1998).

Behavioural problems seem to differ between males and females. The British 1958 Perinatal Mortality Survey (Done et al., 1994; Crow et al., 1995) found that only boys at the age of seven who were more anxious and hostile towards adults and children and more often engaged in inconsequential behaviour had an increased risk for schizophrenia. At the age of 11, male pre-schizophrenic subjects were more depressed than controls. Female pre-schizophrenic subjects were more withdrawn and depressed and more likely to dismiss adult values. In the HR group of the Copenhagen HR Study, males who later developed

schizophrenia had disrupted class with inappropriate behaviour more often, were emotionally highly-strung, lonely, and judged by their teachers as susceptible to future emotional or psychotic problems (Olin et al., 1995). Females who later developed schizophrenia were more nervous, and again judged by their teachers as susceptible to future emotional or psychotic problems (Olin et al., 1995).

Disruptive school behaviour (Mirsky et al., 1995b; Olin et al., 1995) or delinquent, aggressive or withdrawn behaviour (Miller et al., 2002b) have been found to predict later development of schizophrenia in some other HR studies, too. In the Israeli HR Study, eight of the nine children who later received a schizophrenia spectrum diagnosis had behaved undesirably (Marcus et al., 1987), and in the Copenhagen HR Study, the HR adolescents who later developed schizophrenia also experienced more interpersonal difficulties and showed disruptive behaviour (Parnas et al., 1982). Cannon et al (Cannon et al., 1997) found that the risk of psychosis increased linearly with worsening premorbid social and school adjustment functioning.

It is not clear whether problems in social adjustment are early manifestations of emerging schizophrenia, or risk factors for it (Ellison et al., 1998). However, poor social and school adjustment seem to be among the most commonly found development abnormalities in pre-schizophrenic individuals.

3.4.4. Structural brain abnormalities

Many studies have shown that non-psychotic individuals who later develop schizophrenia have premorbid brain abnormalities, such as reduced volume of the hippocampus or hippocampal-amygdala complex (Lawrie & Abukmeil, 1998; McCarley et al., 1999; Wright et al., 2000; Shenton et al., 2001).

In one study, small left amygdala-hippocampal complex was associated with familial risk for schizophrenia, while increased volume of this complex predicted the onset of psychosis within one year (Velakoulis et al., 2000). A recent study of a Finnish twin cohort found that hippocampal volumes of individuals with schizophrenia were smaller than those of their healthy co-twins and healthy twins, while the hippocampal volume of their co-twins was smaller than that of healthy twins (van Erp et al., 2004). The hippocampal volume of MZ or DZ healthy co-twins of an individual with schizophrenia were similar, which suggests that although the hippocampal volume is largely mediated by genetic factors, there seems to be a greater modulation by environmental factors in individuals with schizophrenia and their relatives (van Erp et al., 2004). However, a recent study of adolescent offspring of a patient with schizophrenia found that they had superior temporal gyrus abnormalities more often, possibly suggesting that this developmental deviance is associated with a genetic risk for schizophrenia (Rajarethinam et al., 2004). The Edinburgh HR Study found a greater reduction in temporal lobe size among HR individuals who had psychotic symptoms than among HR individuals who did not (Johnstone et al., 2002).

In the Copenhagen HR Study, HR and control offspring underwent a computed tomographic scan of the brain in adulthood. As in the Edinburgh HR Study, cortical and ventricular cerebrospinal fluid-brain ratios increased linearly with increasing genetic risk (Cannon et al., 1993). Genetic risk interacted with birth complications in predicting enlargement of the ventricular system (Cannon et al., 1993). In comparing HR individuals with schizophrenia, schizotypal personality disorders and unaffected HR individuals, an equal degree of sulcal enlargement was found among both HR individuals with schizophrenia and schizotypal personality disorder, while ventricular enlargement was evident only among HR individuals who developed schizophrenia (Cannon et al., 1994).

However, at least some of these brain changes could be neuroplastic adaptations to environmental factors, since some of the brain changes found among individuals with schizophrenia have been found to be reversible (Weinberger & McClure, 2002).

3.4.5. Psychiatric symptoms

The findings of predictive factors associated with schizophrenia in cohort studies are presented in Table 5, and the predictive factors associated with schizophrenia in HR studies are presented in Table 6.

Children who later develop schizophrenia have been found to have emotional symptoms already before school-age (Study I).

A cohort study found that childhood possible or definite psychotic symptoms in childhood predict the development of schizophreniform disorder in adulthood (Poulton et al., 2000). Moreover, the Finnish Adoption Study found that thought disorder predicted later development of schizophrenia in both low risk and high risk groups (Metsanen et al., 2004). Both the New York and Copenhagen HR Studies found that schizophrenia HR children who later developed schizophrenia scored higher on several psychosis-related MMPI-scales (Carter et al., 1999; Bolinskey et al., 2001). Scales of the MMPI measuring unusual beliefs and antisocial traits have also been predictive of schizophrenia among individuals who are not at high genetic risk for schizophrenia (Carter et al., 2002). The New York HR Study investigated physical anhedonia among HR children, as measured with the Physical Anhedonia Scale (PAS) (Freedman et al., 1998). PAS scores were directly related to lack of empathy in adulthood and to suspicious solitude. Male schizophrenia HR children had higher PAS scores than their female counterparts, and high scores were associated with poor social outcome in adulthood (Freedman et al., 1998). They found also that global, positive or negative thought disorder, or negative symptoms at the age of nine, predicted later development of schizophrenia (Ott et al., 2002).

Table 5. Factors that have predicted later schizophrenia in cohort studies

Study	Country	Birth years	Factors that predicted later development of schizophrenia			
The Northern Finland 1966 Birth cohort (Isohanni et al., 2001b)	Finland	1966	later learning to stand (boys only) abnormalities in neurological development not attending age-appropriate class at the age of 14 especially good performance in school (boys only)			
British 1946 National Birth cohort (Jones et al., 1994)	UK	1964	 later learning to walk problems in speech development problems in social adjustment worse performance in school 			
National Child Development Study (Crow et al., 1995)	UK	1958	 problems in speech development problems in social adjustment worse performance in school attention problems depression at the age of 11 years problems in coordination clumsiness 			
Dunedin Multidiscplinary Health and Development Study (Cannon et al., 2002a)	New Zealand	1972-73	later learning to walk abnormalities in neurological development delayed motor development problems in speech development lower IQ internalized symptoms problems in social adjustment			
National Collaborative Perinatal Project (Bearden et al., 2000; Cannon et al., 2000; Rosso et al., 2000)	USA	1959-66	lower IQproblems in coordinationabnormal movements			

Table 6. Factors predicting schizophrenia among HR offspring

Study	Sample size	Factors that predicted schizophrenia
The New York Infant Study (Fish, 1987)	HR=12 C=12	• pandysmaturation (Fish et al., 1992)
The Copenhagen HR Study (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968)	HR=207 C=104	 institutional care (Walker et al., 1981; Cannon et al., 1990) severe instability of early rearing environment (Walker et al., 1981; Cannon et al., 1990) passivity in infancy (rated by parents) (Parnas et al., 1982), inappropriate behaviour (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968; Parnas et al., 1982; Olin et al., 1995) being emotionally highly-strung (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968; Parnas et al., 1982; Olin et al., 1995) being lonely, susceptible (by teachers) to future emotional or psychotic symptoms (Olin et al., 1995) poor affective control (Mednick & Schulsinger, 1968; Parnas et al., 1982; Olin et al., 1995) higher scores on several scales of the MMPI (Carter et al., 1999)
Israeli HR Study (Marcus et al., 1987; Mirsky et al., 1995a)	HR=50 C=50	 poor neurobehavioural functioning (Marcus et al., 1987) undesirable behaviour (Marcus et al., 1987) higher anxiety ratings (Kugelmass et al., 1995)
The New York HR Study (Erlenmeyer-Kimling & Cornblatt, 1987; Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 1997; Erlenmeyer-Kimling, 2000; Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000)	A:HR=sch=84 HRaff=67 C=136 B:HRsch=46 HRaff=39 C=65	deficits in verbal short-term memory (Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000) attentional deficit (Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000) deficit in gross motor skills (Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 2000) behavioural problems (Amminger et al., 1999) positive formal thought disorder (NYHR) (Ott et al., 2001) high scores on Schizophrenia Proneness Scale (MMPI-derived) (NYHR) (Bolinskey et al., 2001)
The Jerusalem Infant Development Study (Hans et al., 1999)	HR=29 C=27	• poor neurobehavioural functioning (Hans et al., 1999)
The Edinburgh HR Study (Hodges et al., 1999; Miller et al., 2002b; Miller et al., 2002c)	HR=162 C=36	 delinquent-aggressive behaviour (Miller et al., 2002b) withdrawn behaviour (Miller et al., 2002b) high RISC (Rust Inventory of Schizotypal Cognitions) scores (Miller et al., 2002c) reduction in temporal lobe size (Johnstone et al., 2002)
The Boston and Providence NCPP HR Study (Goldstein et al., 2000)	HRsch=118 HRaff=126 C=165	• problems in social adjustment (Goldstein et al., 2000)

Higher anxiety ratings at age 16 were predictive of future development of schizophrenia in the Israeli HR Study (Kugelmass et al., 1995). The Edinburgh HR Study found that high scores on the Rust Inventory of Schizotypal Cognitions (RISC) were associated with later development of schizophrenia, although less than half of those who developed schizophrenia had high RISC scores (Miller et al., 2002a). The Hillside Recognition and Prevention programme (RAP) studied adolescents at high clinical risk for schizophrenia and found that negative symptoms and other behavioural abnormalities (decline in school functioning, magical beliefs or delusions, anxiety, and paranoid or referential thoughts) characterized those adolescents who were at the prodromal phase for developing schizophrenia (Lencz et al., 2004).

3.5. Ultra High-Risk studies and prevention of psychotic disorders

The idea of preventing psychotic disorders among individuals with prodromal symptoms was originally initiated by Falloon (Falloon, 1992), who asked general practitioners in an English county to send patients with signs and symptoms suggestive of schizophrenic disorders to mental health services. The incidence of first episode schizophrenia subsequently declined, which was seen as a possible effect of early intervention (Yung, 2003). Enthusiasm for early intervention is based on several observations. Firstly, it has been shown that individuals with prolonged duration of untreated psychosis need a longer period of treatment to attain clinical remission (Mueser & McGurk, 2004). Secondly, clinical symptoms tend to worsen during the first years after the onset of the illness (Mueser & McGurk, 2004). Thirdly, the development of schizophrenia is associated with an arrest of both social development and attainment of usual social roles, which contributes to a worse clinical and social prognosis (Mueser & McGurk, 2004). Thus, is has been suggested that rapid intervention at the first psychosis could improve long-term outcome, relieve the burden on relatives and patient, and reduce the cost of treatment (Mueser & McGurk, 2004).

The first pre-psychosis clinical and research centre (PACE clinic) was established in Melbourne (Yung, 2003). Based on knowledge of the clinical symptoms of the prodrome prior to first episode psychosis, and on the high-risk literature, Yung and colleages developed criteria for identifying individuals at high risk of onset of psychosis within a brief follow-up time. These are: attenuated psychotic symptoms occurring several times a week, this change in mental state having been present at least one week, OR transient psychotic symptoms having resolved spontaneously within one week, OR family history of a first degree relative with any psychotic disorder, or schizotypal personality disorder in the individual and any change in mental state, and functioning which results in a loss of 30 points or more on the Global Assessment of Functioning scale for at least one month (Yung et al., 1998). Individuals fulfilling these criteria were named as Ultra High-Risk (UHR) individuals. The transition rate to psychosis over six months was 40% among UHR individuals. Poor functioning, long duration of symptoms, high levels of depression and reduced attention were the strongest predictors of psychosis (Yung et al., 2004). There are several prodromal studies ongoing. The only published clinical trial among the Ultra High-Risk population used antipsychotic medication combined with cognitive therapy compared with treatment as usual (supportive case management) (Yung, 2003). Significantly fewer individuals in the prodromal treatment group developed psychosis during the six-month follow-up. However, this difference did not remain at the post-treatment six-month follow-up (Yung, 2003). The same clinic is now conducting a study where pharmacological and psychological treatments are analyzed separately, and a trial of psychological treatment alone is currently underway in Manchester. At this point in time the long-term benefits of early intervention are still unknown.

While the prodromal criteria are suitable for investigating factors immediately preceding the onset of psychosis which promote or prevent the development of psychosis, they are not helpful for investigating childhood developmental factors associated with schizophrenia or other psychotic disorders.

3.6. Summary of the review of the literature

According to family studies, first degree relatives of a proband with schizophrenia have an increased risk for schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Cohort studies have shown that individuals who develop psychotic disorder in adulthood show developmental abnormalities in childhood, including delays in attainment of speech and motor milestones, problems in social adjustment, and poorer academic and cognitive performance. HR studies have found that the development of children of a parent with schizophrenia differs from that of children without a family history of schizophrenia, but it is not clear which mechanisms are involved in addition to having a parent with schizophrenia. Factors which appear to predict schizophrenia among HR children include problems in motor and neurological development, deficits in attention and verbal short-term memory, poor social competence, positive formal thought disorder-like symptoms, higher scores on psychosis-related scales in the MMPI, and severe instability of early rearing environment.

As the morbidity of schizophrenia in the general population is quite low, very large numbers of children are needed to detect predictive factors for schizophrenia or other psychotic disorders. The HR method enriches the sample with individuals who will develop schizophrenia in adulthood. The study method offers the possibility of searching for factors that differentiate HR and control children and that predict later development of psychiatric disorders. Although previous HR studies have used various factors in assessing these children, none has assessed childhood growth patterns or compared maternal symptomatology and adulthood morbidity among HR offspring. Moreover, this is the first HR study to employ standard ratings of childhood development that are in use in general population health care systems and have been used in larger cohort studies. Therefore, the results of previous HR studies may not be applicable in the primary care setting. Neither is a comparison of developmental problems predictive of schizophrenia between HR children and those in the general population possible, since all previous HR studies have used different assessments from cohort studies. Compared to cohort studies, the HR method is more suitable for assessing factors related to parents and childhood family that predict future development of psychiatric disorders (parental diagnoses and symptomatology, other family or rearing environment related factors). Because of the increased risk of psychotic disorders in HR groups, this special group of children and adolescents form an important target group for preventive programmes.

4. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The present study forms part of the Helsinki High-Risk Study, and its aim was to determine which psychiatric disorders the HR offspring born between 1960 and 1964 are at increased risk of, what developmental factors distinguish the HR and control offspring, and what maternal or childhood developmental factors are associated with later psychiatric morbidity.

The specific aims of the study were (the roman numbers of each aim refer to the original publications):

- to comprehensively review the findings of previous HR studies and to compare them with those obtained from cohort and family studies.
- II. to assess the cumulative incidence of hospital-treated DSM-IV-TR Axis I disorders among HR and control mothers, fathers and offspring.
- III. to analyse psychotic and affective symptoms among HR mothers and to compare them with those obtained from previous studies, and to examine whether maternal symptom patterns were able to predict offspring's morbidity from psychotic disorders.
- IV. to compare the childhood development of high-risk offspring and controls, and to determine which behavioural or developmental factors predicted future emergence of mental disorders among the high-risk offspring.
- V. to compare childhood growth of high-risk offspring and controls, and to determine if any patterns in childhood growth predicted future emergence of psychotic disorders among the highrisk offspring.

5. MATERIALS AND METHODS

5.1. Design

The Helsinki High-Risk Study was launched in the 1970s (Wrede et al., 1980; Wrede, 1984). Initially, mothers were rediagnosed on the basis of their hospital case notes as suffering from chronic (n=54) or "mild" (n=117) schizophrenia or other psychotic disorder (n=28). "Mild" schizophrenia was further divided into paranoid and non-paranoid. Studies performed in the 1970s were limited to the offspring of mothers with schizophrenia (Wrede, 1984). Two separate studies were conducted in the 1970s in this cohort (Wrede et al., 1980; Wrede, 1984). The first one compared the incidence of pre-, peri- and neonatal complications among the high-risk and control mothers and their offspring. The same-sex hospital delivery that took place in the same maternity hospital immediately before that of the high-risk child was taken as the control. Both pre- and perinatal complications were found to be more common among mothers with schizophrenia than among controls, and the neonatal condition was worse among the high-risk than control children (Wrede et al., 1980). The second study assessed social adjustment among the high-risk children when they were approximately 15 years old. While the children of mothers with chronic or non-paranoid schizophrenia did not differ significantly from their peers, children of mothers with paranoid schizophrenia were rated superior to controls in social adjustment, both by peers and teachers (Wrede, 1984).

Since the 1980s, this cohort of high-risk children has not been followed up until now. They have now passed the age of highest risk for developing schizophrenia. The Helsinki HR Study cohort has recently been extended to include all offspring born to these mothers, but this study investigates only the original study sample, children born between 1960 and 1964.

This follow-up has been approved by the Ethics Committees (Institutional Review Board) of the National Public Health Institute (25.8.1999) and of the Hospital Discrict of Helsinki and Uusimaa (30.10.2002), and by the Social Insurance Institution, the Statistics Finland, the National Research and Development Center for Health and Welfare, by the Legal Register Center, and by the Ministry of Social Affairs.

5.2. Subjects

In 1974, all women (n=3242) born between 1916 and 1948 who had been treated for schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, or schizophreniform disorder (named as acute schizophrenic episode in the ICD-8) up till 1974 in any mental hospital of the City of Helsinki were identified from the central archives of mental hospital care, Helsinki, Finland (Wrede, 1984). The original case selection was made according to ICD-8 diagnoses (Wrede et al., 1980), according to which criteria schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder and acute schizophrenic episode (known today as schizophreniform disorder) were all under the schizophrenia diagnosis. Thereafter, those (n=192) who had given birth between 1960 and 1964 were identified from the Helsinki register office (central register of the Lutheran Church, register of the Greek Orthodox Church, and Population Register of non-church-members). Their offspring born from 1960 to 1964 (n=212) formed the high-risk group.

Because social security numbers were not used uniformly in the early 1960s when the offspring were born and most of the mothers had their hospital treatments, the first task in this follow-up was to identify social security numbers for the index and control mothers, fathers, and offspring. Of the original high-risk group (192 mothers), we were able to find the social security numbers of 183 (born between 1918 and 1946), who had produced 203 offspring between 1960 and 1964. The control group was then re-formed by locating for each HR offspring the previous same-sex birth at the same maternity hospital.

For the adulthood follow-up of the offspring we collected developmental, social, occupational and psychiatric outcome information. Information on mental disorders was obtained from two sources: data on hospital treatments from 1969 to 1999 (age of offspring 35-39 years, age of HR mothers 53-81 years), plus after 1995 all inpatient detoxification treatments in social welfare institutions, were derived from the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register kept by the National Research and Development Centre for Health and Welfare, while Statistics Finland provided data on causes of death and death certificates till 2000, and occupational information. Based on the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register information, all hospital records including any psychiatric diagnosis were collected. If any information on outpatient treatments was obtained from the hospital records, the outpatient records were collected as well. Lack of adequate information meant we were unable to assign a diagnosis for 22 mothers (with 24 offspring). For 20 of them we could not obtain the case records, either because all information on the patient had been destroyed (n=4), or the case records had been destroyed (n=16). For only two of them was the information in the hospital case notes too limited to assign a diagnosis (n=2). In contrast, for HR fathers as well as for their offspring and the control group, inadequate information leading to diagnostic deferral was often caused by a scarcity of data from a short treatment period for non-psychotic symptoms. The Hospital Discharge Register data for the mothers for whom we could not assign any diagnosis revealed the following diagnoses at discharge: 12 with schizophrenia, two with schizophreniform disorder, one with psychosis due to a general medical condition, two with psychotic disorder NOS, and one with depressive disorder NOS. Of their 24 offspring, two had psychiatric hospitalisations. The consensus diagnosis for one of them was psychotic disorder NOS, while the case notes of the other were missing and the only relevant document found was a register diagnosis of schizophreniform disorder. (Studies II-V)

The final HR sample consisted of 161 mothers with 179 offspring. For 149 offspring, the father was identified (altogether 132 fathers), whereas for the remainder the father was unknown to the Population Register. The final control group consisted of 176 offspring, 176 mothers and 176 fathers. Three controls were missing because of problems in their identification. (Studies II-V)

5.3. Methods

5.3.1. Diagnostic assessment and demographic information

Based on the register information, all case records from hospital and outpatient treatments until 1999 were collected and assessed separately by two residents in psychiatry, Laura Niemi and Jaana Suvisaari, followed by consensus diagnoses based on the DSM-IV Text Revision criteria (APA, 2000). Based on the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register, all hospital records including any psychiatric diagnosis were collected. If any information on outpatient treatments was obtained from the hospital records, the outpatient records were collected as well. Diagnostic assessment was similar for HR and control mothers, fathers and offspring. It consisted of assigning DSM-IV-TR diagnosis and completing the Operational Criteria Checklist for Psychotic Illness (OCCPI checklist) (McGuffin, 1991), the Major Symptoms of Schizophrenia Scale (MSSS) (Kendler et al., 1993a), the global ratings of anhedonia-asociality and of avolition-apathy on the Scale for Assessment of Negative Symptoms (SANS) (Andreasen, 1982), and the global rating of bizarre behaviour on the Scale for Assessment of Positive Symptoms (SAPS) (Andreasen, 1984). (Studies II-V)

OCCPI is a scale designed for the assessment of psychotic and affective symptoms. It includes 90 items assessing i.e. the onset and duration of symptoms, premorbid social and work adjustment, deteriation from premorbid level of functioning, family history, and several symptoms (i.e. catatonic, manic, and depressive symptoms, disorganized thought and behaviour, anhedonia, and several types of hallucinations and delusions) of psychotic and affective disorders. (McGuffin, 1991) (Studies II-V)

The Major Symptoms of Schizophrenia Scale (MSSS) was designed for use in a best-estimate procedure to code symptom and course features over the entire duration of illness. For each symptom, the rating was made according to the duration of symptom over the course of the illness, its effect of patients behaviour and functioning, and e.g. regarding

delusions, on the degree of conviction related to the particular delusion. All the other variables were coded on a five-point scale, but the variable 'chronicity of the course' was coded on a four-point scale. The scales had the following guidelines: 1=clearly not present, 2=possibly present but subthreshold, 3=clearly present but moderate, 4=clearly present and prominent, 5=clearly present and severe. (Kendler et al., 1993a) (Study III)

Because the OCCPI and the MSSS do not assess some symptoms in detail, we decided to add the global ratings of anhedonia-asociality and of avolition-apathy on the Scale for Assessment of Negative Symptoms (SANS) (Andreasen, 1982), and the global rating of bizarre behaviour on the Scale for Assessment of Positive Symptoms (SAPS) (Andreasen, 1984) to the assessment battery. These variables were coded on a six-point scale with the following grades: 0=no evidence of the symptom, 1=questionable, 2=mild, 3=moderate, 4=marked, 5=severe. (Study III)

Besides the rating scales, we collected some additional information concerning symptomatology, medication, and childhood living circumstances (e.g. number of siblings, maltreatment, parental alcohol abuse, divorce, periods when living separately from the mother and/or father) where available. The author completed the whole assessment procedure for all case notes. Jaana Suvisaari assigned DSM-IV-TR diagnoses for all case notes but completed the whole procedure only for every 5th case note. In cases of disagreement, the case records were reassessed together and consensus ratings made. (Study II)

Age of onset of the disorder was recorded, using the OCCPI (McGuffin, 1991) definition, as the earliest age (nearest year) at which medical advice was sought for psychiatric reasons. The duration of treatment contact was calculated from the earliest to the latest date of medical contact for psychiatric reasons, obtained from the case records. (Study II)

Offspring were grouped according to the most severe maternal diagnosis, the four groups being schizophrenia (n=104), schizoaffective disorder (n=20), other schizophrenia spectrum disorders (n=30), affective disorders (n=25), and controls (n=176). Because the sample sizes of separate affective disorders were small, we formed one group for the analysis by combining bipolar I disorder with or without psychotic features, major depressive disorder with or without psychotic features, and mood disorder NOS (n=23). Similarly, mothers suffering from psychotic disorder NOS, schizophreniform disorder, schizotypal personality disorder, and brief psychotic disorder were combined to form the group of schizophrenia spectrum disorders (n=28). (Studies II-V)

5.3.2. Interrater reliability

Interrater reliabilities (between Laura Niemi and Jaana Suvisaari) concerning DSM-IV-TR-diagnoses were tested using kappa values. (Studies II and III) The interrater reliability for DSM-IV-TR diagnoses between the two raters was lowest for schizophrenia spectrum disorder (κ =0.42, 95% CI 0.25-0.60) and highest for schizophrenia (κ =0.79, 95% CI 0.61-0.79). The kappa values for schizoaffective disorder, bipolar disorder and major depressive disorder were 0.47 (95% CI 0.29-0.65), 0.57 (95% CI, 0.36-0.79) and 0.48 (95% CI 0.23-0.73), respectively. (Study II)

Interrater reliabilities (between Laura Niemi and Jaana Suvisaari) in the MSSS, SANS, and SAPS ratings were tested using intraclass correlations. Intraclass correlation between the two raters in assessing maternal symptomatology varied between 0.51 (negative thought disorder) and 0.81 (catatonic behaviour). The mean of intraclass correlations was 0.68. (Study III)

5.3.3. Information on childhood development and growth

Information on childhood development was obtained from childhood developmental records and school health care records that are kept in separate archives in each school district. Guidance relating to child health in Finland is provided by public health nurses and physicians in co-operation with other specialists in primary care. Child health guidance provided for newborn babies and their families is a continuation of prenatal and maternity guidance, and extends to all children under school age (seven years). Thereafter the children visit school health nurses and physicians in their school area. After the initial home visit from a public health nurse at eight to 14 days old, infants attend the child health centre at 1 month, and 2, 3, 5, 6, 10, 12 and 15 months of age; toddlers are taken when 2, 3, 4 and 5 years old. They see a doctor at 1.5, 4, 8 and 18 months, and at 3 and 6 years. Nurses and physicians complete a standard form with measurements (e.g. weight, height) and other standard observations (e.g. reaching motor milestones) at every visit. School children visit the school nurse once a year and are seen by the school doctor at 7, 12, 15 and 17 years. Using the information obtained from the Population Register Centre and maternal records, we located the municipal area where each child was living during pre-school and school ages. In most cases, the entire childhood health check information was collapsed in the last school health card. In some of the cases we located separately the area of living during pre-school and school ages. The health cards for each HR and control child were obtained from their home district. The card data cover childhood health checks for each visit from infancy to the end of school age. (Studies IV and V)

We found childhood and school health cards for 159 HR offspring of 143 HR mothers, and for 99 control offspring of 99 mothers. Childhood and school health cards were missing for 12 offspring of mothers with schizophrenia, for one offspring of a mother with

schizoaffective disorder, for three offspring of mothers with other schizophrenia spectrum disorder, and for four offspring of mothers with affective disorder. Because we had less information on the controls, we were able to trace the cards of only 99 of them. (Studies IV and V)

The following items were extracted from each card: information on child's growth (weight and height), nurse's rating on whether the child was walking at 12 months, and whether speaking words at two years; nurse's or doctor's ratings on whether the child had a speech problem during childhood (at 5 or 6 years) or during school-age (7-17 years), whether there were emotional symptoms during childhood (before 7 years) or during school age (7-17 years), problems in social adjustment (only at 5 and 6 years), problems in neurological development (coded as severe neurological symptoms in severe cases, e.g. with hemiplegia or spasticity, and as neurological soft signs in less severe cases, e.g. with tics or subthreshold hypotony) during childhood or adolescence; nurse's rating of failure to reach the age-appropriate level of mental development (coded as delayed mental development, assessed yearly between 1 and 6 years), and of need for extra follow-up in the school health system for any reason (assessed at school age); nurse's or doctor's rating during school age for being socially inhibited, and having conduct problems, attention problems or academic impairment indicated by repeating the same class; any examination by a psychologist or doctor because of severe problems in academic performance, or any transfer to a special school due to severe problems in academic performance. (Studies IV and V)

Information was often missing for variables assessing walking at 12 months (the information was missing of 30% of HR and of 46% of the control children) and speaking at two years (the information was missing of 53% of the HR and of 67% of the control children). Otherwise, missing information was minimal. (Study IV)

The needed information on growth and height (at least 9 height and weight measurements available from childhood and school health cards by age 15) was found for 114 HR and 53 control offspring (12 offspring of mothers with DSM-IV-TR diagnosis of affective disorder, 16 offspring of mothers with other nonaffective psychoses, 69 offspring of mothers with schizophrenia, and 17 offspring of mothers with schizoaffective disorder). (Study V)

5.3.4. Statistical methods

Differences in background demographic variables between the groups were tested for proportions with the likelihood ratio statistics using the χ^2 -test. For comparing the means between groups we used the analysis of variance (ANOVA), and significance was tested using the F-test. These methods are commonly used to compare differences between multiple groups. Incidences were modelled using Poisson regression, with the group (schizophrenia, any psychotic disorder, non-psychotic mood disorders, hospital treated alcohol, other substance abuse or dependence) as the explanatory variable, and tested with likelihood

ratio statistics using the χ^2 -distribution. Differences between the groups were reported as relative risks (RR). In the outcome analyses the odds for having mental disorder among HR and control fathers were compared using logistic regression, tested with likelihood ratio statistics using the χ^2 -test, and reported as odds ratios (OR). (Study II)

Poisson regression is a commonly used model for investigating the incidence of a particular disorder when the study population is large and the probability small (Vogt, 1999). Likelihood is a measure of the support provided by data for a particular value of the parameter of a probability model (Clayton & Hills, 1993). Likelihood ratio is a ratio of two likelihoods. Likelihood ratio tests are widely used as test statistics in epidemiology to test the statistical significance of the observed parameter value (Clayton & Hills, 1993). They are usually based on log likelihood ratios (Clayton & Hills, 1993). Relative (or excess) risk is the ratio of the incidence of an outcome in those who are exposed to a certain risk factor compared with the incidence in an unexposed group. In other words, it is a measure of how much more prone those who have been exposed to a risk factor are to have a given effect, compared to those who have not been exposed. (Study II)

The effect of paternal alcohol or substance use disorder on offspring's risk of the same disorders was analysed using logistic regression with maternal and paternal alcohol or substance use disorders as explanatory variables. Because there were only a few mothers (n=16) with more than one offspring belonging to the selected birth year range, there was no need to take intrafamily correlation into account. (Study II)

All tests for Study II were two-tailed, with α level set at 0.05.

In the principal factor analysis, we used for all mothers ratings made by Laura Niemi. The following items from the MSSS were used in the factor analysis: Hallucinations, delusions, bizarreness of delusions, positive thought disorder, catatonic behaviour, affective deterioration, negative thought disorder, depressive symptoms, manic symptoms, course, outcome, precipitating factor. In addition, we used the global ratings of bizarre behaviour from SAPS, and the Global rating of avolition-apathy and of anhedonia-asociality from SANS. (Study III)

Factor analysis is a technique where a set of variables is presented in terms of a smaller number of hypothetical variables. We hypothesised that maternal symptoms could be collapsed into factors representing different aspects of maternal symptomatology, and that some symptoms might be more harmful to the offspring than others. Before conducting the principal factor analysis, we calculated the mean maternal symptom scores among affected and unaffected offspring for each individual symptom item. For the principal factor analysis, the offspring were classified into four diagnostic groups according to DSM-IV-TR diagnostic criteria: schizophrenia (n=9), schizoaffective disorder (n=3), affective psychoses (n=4), and any schizophrenia spectrum disorder (n=17) (including schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, schizotypal personality disorder, delusional disorder, and psychotic disorder NOS). (Study III)

To compare symptom profiles in each maternal diagnostic group we calculated the mean scores for each symptom and course item for each maternal diagnostic group. After that, the information on all mothers was combined, and a principal factor analysis with VARIMAX rotation was conducted. VARIMAX rotation is a orthogonal rotation method. The number of factors was determined using the likelihood ratio test. To examine whether the factor structure was similar in the combined group and among mothers with schizophrenia, the factor analysis was also conducted using information on mothers with schizophrenia only. We then examined whether the factor scores predicted offsprings' psychiatric morbidity. The relationship between factor scores of maternal symptoms and offspring's probability of developing schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, affective psychosis, or any schizophrenia spectrum disorder was first modelled using generalized additive models (GAM) (Hastie & Tibshirani, 1990). Further modelling was carried out using logistic regression analyses (McCullagh, 1994), and tested using likelihood ratio statistics. The explanatory variables in models were maternal factor score and offspring's sex. (Study III)

The occurrence of developmental problems was compared between HR and control offspring using the χ^2 -test, or Fisher's exact test when the expected number in any cell was less than five. Fisher's test is a test statistic for measures of association that relate two nominal variables. It is used mainly in 2x2 tables when the expected frequency is too small to trust the use of the chi-square test (Vogt, 1999). (Study IV)

Developmental problems were compared between offspring in each maternal diagnostic group using the Likelihood ratio test. Examining the relationship between childhood developmental problems and psychiatric morbidity in adulthood was confined to the high-risk group, because the cumulative incidence of mental disorders in the control group was low (Study II). To investigate the relationship within the HR group we used logistic regression models in which the six dichotomised diagnostic outcomes were used as dependent variables. Logistic regression analysis is a regression analysis used when the dependent variable is dichotomous. It is usually used for predicting whether something will happen or not. Independent variables may be categorical or continuous (Vogt, 1999). Models were calculated for all combinations of dependent and explanatory variables; sex and social class were incorporated as covariates. Odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals and Wald test statistics with significance levels were calculated. (Study IV)

Differences in weight, height, ponderal index and BMI between HR and control groups at different ages were tested using two-tailed t-test; which is a test of statistical significance, often of the difference between two group means. A two-tailed t-test is used to test the significance of a non-directional hypothesis, i.e. a hypothesis that says there is a difference between two averages without indicating which of the two is bigger (Vogt, 1999). A one-tailed t-test is directional, because it tests the hypothesis that one of the two group averages is bigger (Vogt, 1999). (Study V)

The relationship between childhood growth and psychiatric morbidity in adulthood was investigated only within the high-risk group, because the cumulative incidence of mental disorders, particularly psychotic disorders, in the control group was low. To investigate the relationship between growth and adulthood psychiatric morbidity within the HR group, we used logistic regression models in which the three dichotomised outcomes (schizophrenia (n=7, 6 males), schizophrenia spectrum disorder (n=11, 9 males), and any psychotic disorder (n=14, 10 males)) were used as dependent variables. Models were calculated for all combinations of dependent and explanatory (weight, height, BMI and ponderal index) variables; sex and social class were incorporated in the models as covariates. Odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals as well as likelihood ratio statistics with significance tests were reported. We also investigated whether transition from being thin at birth to having high BMI later, or vice versa, had an effect on the risk of schizophrenia. For this analysis, the ponderal index at birth, and BMI at seven and 12 years, were divided into tertiles. Changes from the 1st to 3rd tertile, or vice versa, were coded and used as an explanatory, three-category variable (change from lowest to highest tertile, change from highest to lowest tertile, or other) in the logistic regression model. Sex and social class were used as background variables. Odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals as well as likelihood ratio statistics with significance tests were reported. (Study V)

Statistical analyses in Studies II and III were performed using S-PLUS statistical software (MathSoft, 1996). For the analysis of growth change (transition from being thin at birth to having high BMI later, or vice versa) of Study IV, we used the Computer software R (Ihaka & Gentleman, 1996). All the other analyses in Study IV, as well as the analyses of Study V were performed using using SPSS statistical software (SPSS, 2002).

6. RESULTS

6.1. Cumulative incidence of mental disorders among high-risk offspring (Study II)

6.1.1. Demographic information of the cohort

In most cases in all the groups the mother's first hospitalisation was after the birth but before the offspring's school age. The mean age of the child at the mother's first hospitalization was lowest in the schizophrenia HR group (3.9 years), and highest in the control group (13.3. years). Obviously, most of the mothers in the control group had never been hospitalized for psychiatric reasons.

The proportion of hospital-treated offspring was largest in the schizophrenia HR group (26.9%), followed by the schizoaffective HR (20.0%) and schizophrenia spectrum disorder HR (20.0%) groups, and lowest in the affective disorder HR (8.0%) and control groups (11.9%). The average duration of treatment contact was longest among the offspring of mothers with other schizophrenia spectrum disorders, since the group contained offspring already treated in child psychiatric hospitals. The duration of treatment was considerably shorter among the control offspring, reflecting the fact that they had been treated for less severe disorders. Two HR offspring had died before 16 years of age; one from the schizophrenia HR group, and the other from the schizophrenia spectrum disorder HR group.

Only a few mothers (n=16) had more than one child born within the selected birth year range: one mother had three children in the range, all the others had two.

6.1.2. DSM-IV-TR diagnoses of the HR and control mothers and fathers

The diagnostic procedure based on the DSM-IV-TR criteria identified 92 of the 183 mothers as having schizophrenia, 18 with schizoaffective disorder, 20 with psychotic disorder not otherwise specified (NOS), one with brief psychotic disorder, six with schizophreniform disorder, one with schizotypal personality disorder, 16 with bipolar I disorder, four with major depressive disorder with psychotic features, one with major depressive disorder without psychotic features, and two with mood disorder NOS. Axis I comorbidity was relatively common among the HR mothers. Of the HR mothers, 55% had only one, 36% had two, and 9% had at least three Axis I disorders.

Lack of adequate information meant we were unable to assign a diagnosis for 22 mothers (with 24 offspring). For 20 of them we could not obtain the case records, either because all information on the patient had been destroyed (n=4), or the case records had been destroyed (n=16). For only two of them was the information in the hospital case notes too limited to assign a diagnosis (n=2). In contrast, for HR fathers as well as for their offspring and the control group, inadequate information leading to diagnostic deferral was often caused by a scarcity of data from a short treatment period for non-psychotic symptoms. The Hospital Discharge Register data for the mothers for whom we could not assign any diagnosis revealed the following diagnoses at discharge: 12 with schizophrenia, two with schizophreniform disorder, one with psychosis due to a general condition, two with psychotic disorder NOS, and one with depressive disorder NOS. Of their 24 offspring, two had psychiatric hospitalisations. The consensus diagnosis for one of them was psychotic disorder NOS, while the case notes of the other were missing and the only relevant document found was a register diagnosis of schizophreniform disorder.

The final HR sample consisted of 161 mothers with 179 offspring. For 149 offspring, the father was identified (altogether 132 fathers), whereas for the remainder the father was unknown to the Population Register. The final control group consisted of 176 offspring, 176 mothers and 176 fathers. Three controls were missing because of problems in their identification.

The odds of having any psychiatric disorder were higher for HR than control fathers (OR 2.57; 95% CI 1.32, 5.00, χ^2_1 =8.04, p=0.0046). The odds of having alcohol or other substance abuse or dependence were 3.36 times higher for HR than control fathers (95% CI 1.26, 9.00, χ^2_1 =6.42, p=0.011). Other Axis I disorders were not more common among HR fathers. None of the fathers of offspring in the affective disorder HR group had psychiatric disorders. In one family, both parents had schizophrenia. The number of fathers that were not known was highest in the schizoaffective HR group, and the number of married parents at the birth of the index child was also lowest in this diagnostic group.

One control mother had developed schizophrenia, and two had psychotic disorder NOS, but their children had no psychiatric hospitalisations.

6.1.3. Cumulative incidences of psychiatric disorders among HR offspring

The cumulative incidence of any psychotic disorder for the offspring of mothers with schizophrenia was 13.5% (RR 12.6 compared with controls; 95% CI 2.87, 55.5), for the offspring of mothers with schizoaffective disorder 10.0% (RR 9.4, 95% CI 1.33, 66.9), and for the offspring of mothers with other schizophrenia spectrum disorder 10.0% (RR 9.6, 95% CI 1.60, 57.3). After combining mothers with schizophrenia or schizophrenia spectrum disorders, the cumulative incidence of any psychotic disorder was 12.3% (RR 11.61, 95% CI 2.71, 49.86). Among the offspring of mothers with affective disorder, the cumulative incidence of any psychotic disorder was 4.0% (RR 3.6, 95% CI 0.33, 39.7), and not significantly different from controls. The only psychosis observed in this group was bipolar I disorder, in a child of a mother with similar disorder (Table 7). The cumulative incidence of all psychotic disorders among control offspring was 1.14% (n=2).

The cumulative incidence of schizophrenia among offspring of mothers with schizophrenia was 5.8% (RR 10.50; 95% CI 1.27, 87.4), while the cumulative incidence of schizophrenia or other schizophrenia spectrum disorders in that group was 11.5% (RR 19.7; 95% CI 2.54, >100) (Table 7). The cumulative incidence of schizophrenia among offspring of mothers with schizoaffective disorder was 5.0% (RR 9.26, 95% CI 0.58, >100), and the cumulative incidence of offspring of mothers with other schizophrenia spectrum disorder was 6.7% (RR 12.5, 95% CI 1.14, >100). None of the offspring of mothers with affective disorder developed schizophrenia. The cumulative incidence of schizophrenia among control offspring was 0.57% (n=1) (Table 7).

Table 7. Offspring DSM-IV-TR diagnoses of Axis I disorders in different maternal diagnostic groups; cumulative incidences are reported in parentheses

Diagnoses	HRsch (n=104)	HRschaff (n=20)	HRother (n=30)	HRaff (n=25)	HRdef (n=24)	Control (n=176)
Schizophrenia	7 (6.7%)	1 (5.0%)	2 (6.7%)	0	0	1 (0.57%)
Schizoaffective disorder	1 (1.9%)	1 (5.0%)	0	0	0	0
Delusional disorder	1 (0.96%)	0	0	0	0	0
Psychotic disorder NOS	2 (1.9%)	0	1 (3.3%)	0	1 (4.2%)	0
All schizophrenia spectrum disorders	11 (10.6%)	2 (10%)	3 (10%)	0	1 (4.2%)	0
Bipolar I disorder, with psychotic features	1 (0.96%)	0	0	1 (4.0%)	0	0
Major depressive disorder, with psychotic features	2 (1.9%)	0	0	0	0	1 (0.56%)
Major depressive disorder, without psychotic features	1 (0.96%)	0	3 (10%)	0	0	1 (0.56%)
Other mood disorders	9 (8.7%)	1 (5.0%)	1 (3.3%)	1 (4.0%)	0	4 (2.27%)
Anxiety disorders	1 (0.96%)	0	0	1 (4.0%)	0	0
Alcohol abuse or dependence	11 (10.6%)	1 (5.0%)	3 (10%)	0	3 (12.5%)	4 (2.27%)
Other substance abuse or dependence	5 (4.8%)	0	0	0	2 (8.3%)	1 (0.56%)
Alcohol or substance -induced psychotic disorders	1 (0.96%)	0	2 (6.7%)	0	1 (4.2%)	0
Other alcohol or substance -induced disorders	2 (1.9%)	0	0	0	0	0
Mental retardation	1 (0.96%)	0	0	0	0	2 (1.14%)
Suicide or parasuicide	1 (0.96%)	0	0	1 (4.0%)	0	0
Other psychiatric disorders	1 (0.96%)	1 (5.0%)	0	0	0	2 (1.14%)
Diagnosis deferred due to inadequate information	4 (3.8%)	0	0	0	1 (4.2%)	5 (2.84%)

HRsch=offspring of mother with schizophrenia, HRschaff=offspring of mother with schizoaffective disorder, HRother=offspring of mother with other schizophrenia spectrum disorder, HRaff=offspring of mother with affective disorder, HRdef=offspring of mother with diagnosis deferred

HR offspring had surprisingly high risk of developing alcohol or substance use related problems. Because of this, we did a poct hoc analysis where we analysed, using logistic regression, whether maternal and/or paternal alcohol or substance use disorder explained these disorders among the offspring. It turned out that paternal (OR 6.31, 95% CI 1.63, 24.5) but not maternal (OR 0.86, 95% CI 0.18, 4.16) alcohol or substance abuse increased the offspring's risk of these disorders. Non-psychotic mood disorders were more common among the schizophrenia HR offspring than other groups (Table 7). The prevalence of hospital-treated Cluster B personality disorders was also higher in the offspring of mother with schizophrenia or other psychotic disorder than in other offspring groups, being 4.8% in the offspring of mothers with schizophrenia and 10.0% in the offspring of mothers with other psychosis, compared to 0.6% among controls and 0% among offspring of mothers with affective disorder or with schizoaffective disorder (χ^2_4 =9.61, p=0.048). In logistic regression analysis, maternal substance abuse was not related to the offspring's risk of having substance abuse (OR 0.86; 95% CI 0.18, 4.16), but paternal substance abuse increased the offspring's risk of having hospital-treated alcohol or other substance abuse or dependence (OR 6.31; 95% CI 1.63, 24.5). There were no interactions between maternal and paternal alcohol or other substance abuse or dependence.

Two of the control group offspring had developed psychotic disorder, and none of their parents had any psychiatric diagnoses.

Among the schizophrenia HR offspring, four had case records whose information was inadequate for assessing consensus diagnoses. Their diagnoses at discharge were schizoaffective disorder plus alcohol dependence, autism, mental disorder NOS, and depressive disorder NOS. For eight HR and 12 control offspring currently living abroad our register information was incomplete.

The cumulative incidences of the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register diagnoses for schizophrenia and for all psychotic disorders was also calculated for both our sample and the whole population cohort born in Helsinki between 1960 and 1964 (n=41,749). By the end of 1998, 396 individuals of the population cohort had developed schizophrenia and 487 had developed any psychotic disorder. Thus, the register-based cumulative incidence of the population cohort was 0.95% for schizophrenia and 1.17% for any psychotic disorder, while the register-based incidences of the HR cohort were 3.91% for schizophrenia and 16.8% for any psychotic disorder.

6.2. Maternal symptomatology and its effect on offspring's morbidity from psychotic disorders (Study III)

6.2.1. The average scores of different maternal diagnostic groups

Mothers with schizophrenia consistently received the highest scores in items assessing positive, disorganization, and most negative symptoms. Mothers with schizoaffective symptoms received the next highest scores in these items, and actually scored higher on items assessing catatonic behaviour and negative thought disorder. They also scored higher than mothers with affective disorders on depressive symptoms, but mothers with affective disorders scored highest on manic symptoms. The mean maternal symptom scores did not differ significantly between the offspring who later developed schizophrenia and those who did not.

6.2.2. Factor analysis

The principal factor analysis with VARIMAX rotation produced four factors, which were termed 1) negative, 2) positive, 3) catatonic, and 4) affective. The negative symptom factor explained 25.4% of the variance and had the highest loadings on avolition-apathy (0.80), anhedonia-asociality (0.81), poor outcome (0.81), and affective deterioration (0.73). The positive symptoms factor explained 16.2% of the variance and had the highest loadings on bizarre delusions (0.75), hallucinations (0.64), delusions (0.58) and positive thought disorder (0.53). The catatonic symptoms factor explained 10.4% of the variance and had the highest loadings on catatonic behaviour (0.78) and negative thought disorder (0.79). Finally, the affective symptoms factor explained 6.3% of the variance and had the highest loadings on manic symptoms (0.67) and depressive symptoms (0.48). Actually, the maximum likelihood method suggested a five-factor solution. However, the fifth factor explained only 3.5% of the variance and was ambiguous, the highest loadings being 0.32 for positive thought disorder, and -0.48 for the presence of precipitating factors in the first episode. Since the interpretation of the other four factors did not change, we chose the four-factor solution as the final factor structure. We did not find a separate "disorganization" factor. The disorganization symptoms, bizarre behaviour and positive formal thought disorder, loaded almost equally on factors one and two. When we did the same principal factor analysis for the subsample of mothers with schizophrenia separately, we found the same factor solution with the same factors: negative, positive, catatonic and affective. The only difference was that now both disorganization symptoms loaded most strongly on factor 2 (bizarre behaviour 0.67, and positive formal thought disorder 0.57).

6.2.3. Effect of maternal symptoms to offspring's morbidity

The factor scores were standardized for the analysis. GAM analysis showed an inverse relationship between maternal positive symptoms factor 2 and offspring's probability of developing schizophrenia. The logistic regression model confirmed a significant effect of maternal positive symptoms on the offspring's probability of developing schizophrenia (χ^2_1 =6.67, p=0.0098). One unit increase, corresponding to one standard deviation increase, in factor 2 score lowered the probability of schizophrenia by 64% (OR 0.34, 95% CI 0.14, 0.082). All six interactions of the factor scores were tested and no significant interactions between them was detected.

When we included only mothers with schizophrenia in the analysis, the effect was even stronger (p=0.0022). None of the other analyses showed significant effects. We tested all six interactions of the factor scores and detected no significant interactions between them. Offspring's gender had no effect on the results.

6.3. Childhood developmental predictors of psychiatric morbidity (Study IV)

6.3.1. Differences between HR and control children

Compared to controls, HR children more often had emotional symptoms during childhood (χ^2_1 =7.4, p=0.006), and neurological soft signs (χ^2_1 =4.8, p=0.024), and were more prone to social inhibition during school age (Fisher's exact test, p=0.044) (Table 8).

Table 8. Factors differentiating HR and control children

Factor	p-value
Emotional symptoms during childhood	< 0.01
Neurological soft signs	< 0.05
Social inhibition during school-age	< 0.05
Thinness at birth (girls only)	< 0.05
Shortness at the age of 10 (boys only)	< 0.05

6.3.2. Factors predicting later development of mental disorders among HR offspring

Neither of the dependent variables (social class or sex) significantly influenced the odds of developing mental disorders.

Among HR children, after adjusting for sex and social class, problems in social adjustment at five or six years predicted later development of schizophrenia spectrum disorder (OR 9.73, 95% CI 1.83, 51.8, p=0.008). Two HR children had severe neurological symptoms and both developed schizophrenia (Fisher's exact test, p=0.006); the OR could not be calculated due to the denominator of zero (Table 9).

Problems in social adjustment at five or six years (OR 4.51, 95% CI 0.99, 20.6, p=0.052) and emotional symptoms during school age (OR 2.88, 95% CI 0.99, 8.34, p=0.051) tended to predict later development of any psychotic disorder.

Emotional symptoms (OR 15.7, 95% CI 3.32, 74.1, p=0.001), conduct problems (OR 18.0, 95% CI 4.41, 73.5, p<0.001) and social inhibition (OR 34.9, 95% CI 5.71, >100, p<0.001) during school age predicted later development of any mood disorder; attention problems were an almost significant predictor (OR 6.71, 95% CI 0.99, 45.5, p=0.051).

Delayed mental development (OR 3.98, 95% CI 1.07, 14.9, p=0.040), and emotional symptoms (OR 4.70, 95% CI 1.92, 11.5, p=0.001), conduct problems (OR 9.44, 95% CI 2.44, 36.3, p=0.001) and social inhibition (OR 13.62, 95% CI 2.30, 80.6, p=0.004) during school age predicted later development of any mental disorder. Problems in social adjustment at five or six years (OR 4.10, 95% CI 0.99, 17.0, p=0.052) tended to predict later development of any mental disorder.

Table 9. Factors predicting mental disorders among HR offspring

Factor	Schizophrenia	Schizophrenia spectrum disorder	Any psychotic disorder	Any mood disorder	Substance related disorder	Personality disorder
Severe neurological symptom	Fisher's exact test, p=0.006					
Delayed mental development (C)						OR 10.5, 95% CI 1.95, 56.4, p=0.005
Problems in social adjustment (C)		OR 9.73, 95% CI 1.83, 51.8, p=0.008	OR 4.51, 95% CI 0.99, 20.6, p=0.052			OR 6.22, 95% CI 1.0, 38.7, p=0.050
Conduct problems (S)				OR 18.0, 95% CI 4.41, 73.5, p<0.001	OR 13.24, 95% CI 3.14, 55.8, p<0.001	OR 5.88, 95% CI 1.23, 28.2, p=0.027
Attention problems (S)				OR 6.71, 95% CI 0.99, 45.5, p=0.051	OR 7.62, 95% CI 1.09, 53.4, p=0.041	
Emotional symptoms (S)			OR 2.88, 95% CI 0.99, 8.3, p=0.051	OR 15.7, 95% CI 3.32, 74.1, p=0.001	OR 7.23, 95% CI 1.82, 28.6, p=0.005	OR 9.55, 95% CI 1.91, 47.8, p=0.006
Social inhibition (S)						OR 12.27, 95% CI 2.19, 68.6, p=0.004
Catch-up growth	OR 22.8, 95% CI 2.0, >100, p=0.040					

C= childhood (before 7 years of age), S= school-age (7-17 years of age)

Note: High maternal positive symptom factor score predicted decreased morbidity from schizophrenia among offspring (p=.0098)

6.3.3. Factors predicting later development of mental disorders among schizophrenia HR offspring

Analysing offspring of mothers with schizophrenia spectrum disorder separately changed the results only slightly. Among schizophrenia spectrum HR children, neurological soft signs tended to predict later development of schizophrenia spectrum disorder (OR 4.48, 95% CI 0.98, 20.5, p=0.053), while problems in pre-school social adjustment no longer predicted later development of any psychotic disorder, personality disorder or any mental disorder. Social inhibition no longer predicted later development of any mood disorder.

6.4. Childhood growth and its effect on morbidity from psychotic disorders (Study V)

6.4.1. Differences between HR and control children

The high-risk girls were shorter and lighter at birth, the height difference between HR and control girls at birth being statistically significant (p=0.033). However, the HR girls caught up the controls in growth by seven years of age. In contrast, HR boys were only slightly shorter and lighter at birth than controls, but the height disparity increased with age, being statistically significant at 10 years (p=0.020). To analyse these effects further, we performed two-way ANOVAs using group (HR or control) and social class (higher or lower) as explanatory variables separately for boys and girls, with weight, height and BMI as outcome variables. The height differences between HR and control groups persisted. Among all girls, high social class was associated with low BMI at one year (p=0.022), 10 years (p=0.02) and 14 years of age (p=0.002), and with low weight at 14 years (p=0.032).

6.4.2. Factors predicting later development of mental disorders among HR offspring

Within the HR group, after controlling for sex and social class, none of the variables related to height, weight and BMI predicted future development of schizophrenia, schizophrenia spectrum or psychotic disorders in logistic regression models. However, the combination of being in the lowest tertile for ponderal index at birth but in the highest tertile for BMI at seven years predicted later development of schizophrenia (OR 22.8, 95% CI 2.0, >100, p=0.04) (Table 9).

7. DISCUSSION

7.1. Methods and methodological limitations

As one of the largest high-risk studies ever undertaken, the Helsinki HR Study offers excellent potentials for assessing the development of HR offspring from childhood to adulthood. Compared with HR studies begun before the 1980s, it also benefits from systematic case ascertainment, and is the only one that can be considered as epidemiologically representative.

This cohort was initially constructed on the basis of hospital diagnoses of schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, or schizophreniform disorder found in the archives of Helsinki City hospitals. Although the reliability of hospital diagnoses in the 60s and 70s has not been studied, more recent data show that Finnish psychiatrists tend to apply a narrow definition of schizophrenia in clinical practice and that the hospital diagnosis of schizophrenia is reasonably reliable (Suvisaari et al., 1999b). The advantage of this selection method was that all mothers, independent of the duration of hospital treatment, were included in this study.

Mothers for whom a DSM-IV-TR diagnosis could not be assigned because of inadequate information were excluded. This group were mostly cases with severe psychotic disorders who had died before 1976 and whose case notes had therefore been destroyed, plus two cases who only had short hospital treatments and thus insufficient case note information to assign diagnoses. Among the offspring of mothers with diagnoses deferred, one had psychotic disorder NOS and another had a hospital diagnosis of schizophreniform disorder, but the case notes were missing. Thus, the cumulative incidence of any psychotic disorder among the offspring of mothers with diagnoses deferred was 8.3%, and the exclusion of these cases from the HR group did not have a major effect on the cumulative incidences of psychotic disorders in the HR group. However, these offspring could have added some information to the data on childhood development.

Finnish Hospital Discharge Register was used to select offspring who had been treated for a psychiatric disorder. The accuracy of data on psychiatric diagnoses in the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register was assessed in 1986 and found to be excellent: the diagnosis in the register and in the hospital case notes was identical in 99% for schizophrenia and in 98% for all mental disorders (Keskimäki & Aro, 1991). The reliability of schizophrenia diagnosis in the Hospital Discharge Register has been assessed in several studies (e.g. (Isohanni et al., 2001a)), and found to be acceptable. In theory, it is possible that HR

offspring with psychotic symptoms may not be hospitalised as often as individuals with psychotic symptoms in the general population; in families where one family member already has a psychotic disorder, symptoms of emerging psychosis or schizophrenia spectrum personality disorder might draw less attention than in other families. However, a study that compared the ability of relatives to recognise symptoms of emerging schizophrenia in families with one vs. no previous member with schizophrenia observed that relatives in affected families were more sensitive to positive symptoms of schizophrenia, although they were less sensitive to negative symptoms than relatives in families without such history (Hambrecht, 1995).

Because case notes included data on family history, the raters could not always remain blind to whether the child belonged to the HR or control group. However, they were blind to the actual parent-child pairs, and thus the parental diagnoses did not affect the diagnostic assignment of offspring.

Although our sample size was large compared with other high-risk studies (Study I), the number of children who developed schizophrenia or other psychotic disorders was small and, as a consequence, the confidence intervals were wide. The small numbers of affected individuals prevented us from using more complex multivariate methods. Therefore, the results are rather descriptive. Nevertheless, they provide valuable information on factors that might underlie the development of schizophrenia and may thus suggest ways for larger epidemiological studies to study the aetiology and early detection of schizophrenia.

Unlike some other HR studies (Study I), it was not possible to interview the study sample, which clearly was a limitation. This may have allowed some hidden morbidity in the cohort, especially from less severe psychiatric disorders. Nevertheless, it is reasonable to assume that the prevalence of psychotic disorders is accurate: in a Finnish health survey of 8000 individuals, 99% of those with a psychotic disorder had received psychiatric treatment (Lehtinen et al., 1991). Of the 73 individuals who had developed schizophrenia by 1994 in the Northern Finland 1966 Birth cohort, only two had been treated as outpatients only (Isohanni et al., 1997). The lack of personal contact with the cohort members also makes the assessment of symptomatology less precise, and prevented us from gaining detailed information on childhood rearing environment, or specific genetics. The data available in this study reflect symptoms and conditions during hospitalisations and visits to outpatient clinics, while information from other time periods was limited. However, the average duration of treatment contact was long: over 20 years for the mothers, and half as long for the fathers and the offspring. Thus, the case-record based information usually spanned several years and was quite detailed. Further, all available information was assessed, for example the notes made by nurses and psychologists, and not just those made by the treating psychiatrists. The advantage here is that the rating of cohort members was based on life-long symptomatology, rather than symptomatology at a specific time-point as in all other HR studies. Nevertheless, although the case-record based information was quite detailed, the information on psychiatric symptomatology was less detailed than it would have been optimally.

Compared with some other high-risk studies, the information on childhood development in this study was less detailed, consisting of nurses' and doctors' ratings of regular childhood assessments coded in standard forms that were used throughout the country. The advantage of this is that the ratings were made without knowledge of the high-risk status and of the ongoing study, and so the results may be more generalizable to clinical work in primary health. However, only clinically relevant problems were recorded on the health cards, while more subtle developmental problems may have remained unrecognized, or unrecorded. The lack of information in the variables measuring the attainment of motor milestones was considerable. Information on childhood rearing environment was received from maternal, paternal and offspring's hospital records. However, it has not been analysed yet, because the quality of the information varied significantly according to how long and intensive the treatment contact had been. Therefore, these environmental factors were not considered, although they probably influenced the overall outcome or the childhood development. For example, a study has shown that maltreated children have more developmental deviations, and that maltreatment is more common among families with a psychotic parent (Bergman et al., 1997). Some of the children in this study were found to be maltreated, but since we did not have accurate information concerning maltreatment, this was not taken into account in the analyses.

Although all HR offspring have a high familial risk for schizophrenia we still do not know to what extent the familiality for schizophrenia in these families is transmitted through genes and who of the HR offspring are truly susceptible gene carriers. All HR children lived in a family environment where the mother had a psychotic disorder, or they were adopted away. This may have increased the psychological and social stress of the offspring and influenced the overall outcome. Mother's schizophrenia can have a significant effect on habits and living conditions within the family. Parental illness may also increase the instability of the rearing environment, and also cause pronounced assortative mating (Parnas et al., 1993). Thus, the problems in HR families are probably more diverse and there might have been many confounding factors that have not been taken into account.

HR children who develop schizophrenia may represent a special form of schizophrenia, since they all have an exceptionally high genetic risk. Thus, the findings on childhood development may not be generalizable to less familial forms of the disorder. However, the advantage of the HR method is that the information is collected without knowledge of the ongoing study, and can be quite detailed compared to cohort studies. Those HR children who remained unaffected formed an ideal control group. These advantages of HR research outweigh the drawbacks of the method.

7.2. Cumulative incidence of mental disorders among high-risk offspring (Study II)

7.2.1. Cumulative incidence of schizophrenia

The cumulative incidence of schizophrenia among the offspring of mothers with schizophrenia in this study is lower than in previous HR studies. The cumulative incidence was 5.8%, compared with 16.2% in the Copenhagen HR Study (Parnas et al., 1993), 13.1% in the New York HR Study (Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 1997), 8.0% in the Israeli HR Study (Ingraham et al., 1995), and 8.3% in the New York Infant Study (Fish, 1987). Several factors may have caused this. In this study, only hospital-treated cases were diagnosed and the individuals were not interviewed. In addition, the case-note information was incomplete for four offspring. Two additional offspring would probably have been diagnosed if their hospital records had been available. Both offspring had a mother with schizophrenia.

Moreover, there was only one family in this cohort in which both parents had schizophrenia, whereas in the New York and Copenhagen HR studies this super-high-risk group was considerably bigger (Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 1984; Parnas, 1985). However, it is also possible that the high prevalences observed in the New York and Copenhagen HR studies were partly due to their case selection methods. The follow-up period in the Copenhagen HR Study was also slightly longer than ours, up to 48 years of age, but because of the declining incidence of schizophrenia with increasing age, the late-onset schizophrenia cases would probably have raised the cumulative incidences in this study only slightly. In addition, the incidence of schizophrenia in Finland, as in Denmark, was higher for the cohorts in the 1950s than in the 1960s, when the offspring in our cohort were born (Munk-Jorgensen & Mortensen, 1992; Suvisaari et al., 1999b). Thus, the offspring of the Copenhagen HR Study may have born during a period (1942-52) when the incidence of schizophrenia in the general population was in fact higher than in the 1960s.

The findings of this study are similar to those from family and adoption studies. Numerous family studies have found a morbid risk of schizophrenia among first-degree relatives ranging from 1.4% to 6.5% (Kendler & Diehl, 1993). The prevalence of schizophrenia among adoptees with a biological mother with schizophrenia was 6.9% in the Finnish (Tienari et al., 2000) and 5.7% in the Danish Adoption Study (Kendler & Gruenberg, 1984). A Danish population-based study found that having a mother with schizophrenia was associated with a 7-fold risk of developing schizophrenia, which is more in accordance with our results than those from the New York and Copenhagen HR studies (Pedersen & Mortensen, 2001a). However, the Danish study, like the Helsinki HR Study, was based on a hospital discharge register which until recently included only inpatient treatments.

7.2.2. Cumulative incidence of other mental disorders

The cumulative incidence of bipolar I disorder (0.97%) and major depressive disorder with psychotic features (1.9%) among the schizophrenia HR offspring in this study is similar to the findings of the New York HR Study (bipolar I disorder 2.4%, major depressive disorder 1.2%) (Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 1997). In addition, the cumulative incidences of hospital-treated non-psychotic mood disorders in the present study were increased in the schizophrenia and the remaining HR groups. Apart from bipolar disorder, the cumulative incidence of hospital-treated mental disorders among the offspring of mothers with affective disorders was rather low and similar to those among controls, whereas in the New York HR Study, the cumulative incidences of schizophrenia-related psychotic disorders (6.0% vs. 0.7%), schizoaffective disorders (mainly schizophrenic 6.0% vs. 0.7%, mainly affective 1.5% vs. 0.0%), and non-psychotic and psychotic affective disorders (49.3% vs. 35.3%) were all increased among the affective disorder HR offspring as compared with controls (Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 1997). It is likely that the cumulative incidences in this study would have been higher if we had interviewed the probands.

Alltogether, HR mothers, fathers and offspring had increased rates of hospital-treated alcohol and other substance abuse or dependence disorders compared to controls (12.8% vs. 3.4%). In the Copenhagen HR Study, alcohol or other substance abuse was more common among the HR than control offspring (Parnas et al., 1993), whereas there was no significant difference between the HR and control groups in the New York HR Study (Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 1997). The rates among control offspring were different in these studies, too, being 11.9% in the former and 31.6% in the latter. In this present study, however, these cumulative incidence rates are based on hospital records only and reflect severe, hospital-treated forms of the disorders. Paternal, but not maternal, substance abuse increased the offspring's risk for substance abuse. This may have been partly caused by the fact that paternal substance use disorders were severe and had usually been the cause for their hospitalisations, whereas maternal substance use disorders were rarely sufficient to cause hospitalisation by themselves. Consistent with this study, the occurrence of alcoholism and/or antisocial personality disorder in the Copenhagen HR Study was higher among HR than control fathers (27% vs. 17%) (Parnas, 1985).

In this present study, the risk of developing schizophrenia or schizophrenia spectrum disorder was approximately equal in the HR groups of mothers with schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, or schizophrenia spectrum disorders. This finding agrees with the Irish Roscommon Family Study, in which the risk of schizophrenia and schizophrenia spectrum disorders was approximately equal among the relatives of probands with schizophrenia, schizotypal personality disorder, schizoaffective disorder, or other non-affective psychotic disorders (Kendler et al., 1993c).

There was also an excess of individuals with hospital-treated borderline personality disorder and non-psychotic affective disorders among HR offspring compared to controls in this study. The prevalence of any psychotic disorder among offspring of mothers with schizoaffective disorder or with other psychosis was also increased compared to controls. The risk of developing schizophrenia spectrum disorders was comparable in the HR groups of mothers with schizophrenia, schizoaffective psychoses, or other nonaffective psychoses. Our method was clearly insensitive for detecting Cluster A personality disorders. This accords with the findings of the Copenhagen HR Study (Parnas et al., 1993), where only 9.8% of persons with schizotypal personality disorders had received hospital treatment, the respective figures for paranoid and schizoid personality disorders being 20% and 0%; of the other Axis II disorders 5.6% had received inpatient treatment. We found that both borderline and antisocial personality disorders were more common among offspring of mothers with schizophrenia and schizophrenia spectrum disorders compared to controls. Many previous HR studies have found behaviour suggestive of childhood or adolescent conduct disorder among offspring of mothers with schizophrenia (Study I). The increased prevalence of Cluster B personality disorders in this cohort could suggest that adulthood personality disorders might be the continuum of behavioural problems found during childhood. In the Finnish Adoption Study, too, the risk of developing Cluster B and C personality disorders was increased among adoptees with a biological mother with schizophrenia (Tienari et al., 2000).

7.3. Maternal symptomatology and its effect on offspring's morbidity from psychotic disorders (Study III)

7.3.1. Factor solution

The factor analysis in this study was conducted in a rather unusual sample of patients with psychotic disorders: all patients were females, and all had offspring. Two studies have conducted a factor analysis based on the MSSS (Burke et al., 1996; Kendler et al., 1997a; Kendler et al., 1997b). Their study samples consisted of patients from families with at least two affected siblings, the majority of whom were males (Burke et al., 1996; Kendler et al., 1997b). Both studies found a three-factor solution. The first factor was negative symptom factor in both studies, but factors two and three were disorganization and positive symptom factors in the first study (Burke et al., 1996), and positive and affective symptom factors in the second (Kendler et al., 1997b).

In the present study, the most noteworthy difference from these findings is that we found a separate factor representing catatonic symptoms. Two symptoms, catatonic behaviour and negative thought disorder, loaded on the catatonia factor. Interestingly, the negative thought disorder, usually regarded as a negative symptom, did not have a high loading on the negative symptom factor. It may be that alogia and catatonic mutism are somehow related phenomena. Three other studies, which all included patients with all types of

psychoses, found a catatonia factor (Andreasen & Olsen, 1982; Kitamura et al., 1995; McGorry et al., 1998). However, we found the same catatonia factor even when only patients with schizophrenia were included. This was not explained by having a substantial number of mothers with catatonic schizophrenia, as none of the mothers received a consensus diagnosis of catatonic schizophrenia. One possible explanation for the lack of a separate catatonia factor in previous studies is that the scales on which the analysis were based did not assess catatonia symptoms. For example, SANS (Andreasen, 1982) and SAPS (Andreasen, 1984), which may be the most frequently used scales for the assessment of symptoms in schizophrenia, and have often been used in factor analytic studies (Peralta & Cuesta, 2001), do not rate catatonic symptoms. OCCPI (McGuffin, 1991), another instrument frequently used in factor analysis studies, has one item for catatonic symptoms but ten items for different types of delusions. Another explanation could be that catatonic symptoms occur more frequently among female patients. However, a previous study found no gender differences in the prevalence of catatonic symptoms among patients with schizophrenia (Cernovsky et al., 1998), and catatonic schizophrenia seems to be more common among males (Kendler et al., 1994c; Erlenmeyer-Kimling et al., 1997; Stober et al., 1998). The third explanation is that all mothers had been born before 1948 and had their first illness episode before 1975, at a time when catatonic symptoms and catatonic schizophrenia were more prevalent than nowadays (Stompe et al., 2002).

7.3.2. Association between maternal symptomatology and offspring's morbidity

The inverse relationship between positive symptom factor score and risk of schizophrenia among offspring calls for explanation. One possibility is that offspring of mothers with paranoid schizophrenia have a lower risk of schizophrenia compared with offspring of mothers with non-paranoid schizophrenia. Some earlier studies have found that relatives of probands with paranoid schizophrenia have a lower risk of developing schizophrenia than relatives of probands with non-paranoid schizophrenia (Kendler & Davis, 1981). The Copenhagen HR Study found that the risk of schizophrenia was considerably lower among offspring of mothers with paranoid schizophrenia (5%) than among offspring of mothers with other types of schizophrenia (29%) (Jorgensen et al., 1987). We failed to confirm this finding: the cumulative incidence of schizophrenia among offspring of mothers with paranoid schizophrenia was 3.8% (1 of 26) compared with 6.4% (5 of 78) among offspring of mothers with other types of schizophrenia (χ^2_1 =0.22, p=0.64). Thus, the negative relationship between positive symptoms and offspring's risk of schizophrenia was not explained by a lower risk of schizophrenia among offspring of mothers with paranoid schizophrenia. This accords with the Roscommon and Iowa studies, which found no relationship between subtype of schizophrenia and risk of schizophrenia or other psychotic disorders among relatives (Kendler et al., 1988; Kendler et al., 1994c). Nevertheless, it could be that with a larger sample size, the difference in the cumulative incidence of schizophrenia between offspring of mothers with paranoid and non-paranoid schizophrenia would have been statistically significant. However, a Danish adoption study found that the risk of chronic schizophrenia was predicted by the presence of pervasive negative symptoms, and by the absence of pervasive positive symptoms (Cardno et al., 2002).

Another explanation for the observation could be that positive symptoms were associated with better outcome, but this was not the case in this sample: poor outcome also loaded to the positive symptom factor, although the loading was smaller than in the negative symptom factor. We did not find any association between offspring's age when mother had her first psychotic episode and offspring's probability of developing schizophrenia, and neither did age modify the positive symptoms factor effect on schizophrenia. There was no association between offspring's age when mother had her first psychotic episode and the factor score of positive symptoms (correlation -0.05).

In this study, the DSM-IV-TR diagnoses were far better predictors of offspring morbidity than symptom factors. This accords with the Roscommon Study, which found no relationship between any measures of symptoms, course or outcome, and the risk of schizophrenia or psychosis among relatives (Kendler et al., 1994b).

It is important to note that all mothers suffered from psychotic disorder. The results of this study only suggest that maternal positive symptoms are less harmful to the child than other maternal psychotic symptoms, not that they are protective against schizophrenia.

Tsuang et al. have suggested that 'psychosis is the fever of severe mental illness - a serious but nonspecific indicator', and that other types of symptoms, particularly negative ones, are more important in the diagnosis of schizophrenia (Tsuang et al., 2000). The negative association between positive symptom factor score and risk of schizophrenia among offspring supports this view. However, this study failed to find any association between negative symptom factor score and risk of schizophrenia.

Some previous studies have found that disorganization symptoms are associated with increased risk of nonaffective psychotic disorders in first-degree relatives (Cardno et al., 1997; van Os et al., 1997b). There was no separate disorganization factor in our study. However, symptoms of disorganization loaded most strongly on the positive symptom factor. In this respect, these findings are at odds with previous studies.

Nevertheless, some maternal symptoms seemed to be less harmful to the children than others. Whether this association could be explained by different genetic loading of these symptoms, by different impact of these symptoms on rearing environment, or by some other risk factor associated with the specific symptomatology, is not known. Previous studies have shown that some factors related to rearing environment are associated with later development of schizophrenia (Walker et al., 1981; Parnas et al., 1985; Mirsky et al., 1995b; Schiffman et al., 2002). Although these findings concerning rearing environment

have received little attention lately, they complement results from the Finnish adoptive family study suggesting that an unstable or otherwise nonoptimal rearing environment interacts with genetic risk in elevating the risk of schizophrenia (Wahlberg et al., 1997; Tienari et al., 2004). Thus, it is possible that supportive measures for the family, particularly during early childhood, may help prevent schizophrenia among HR children.

7.4. Childhood developmental predictors of psychiatric morbidity (Study IV)

7.4.1. Differences between HR and control children

HR offspring more often had emotional symptoms before school age than controls. This accords with many previous HR study findings that HR children are more depressive, hyperactive, and immature (Study I). The most prevalent pre-school emotional symptoms in our cohort were regressive behaviour, withdrawal, restlessness and psychosomatic symptoms, and these symptoms were most common among offspring of mothers with schizoaffective disorder. The New York HR Study found that schizophrenia HR offspring performed worse in the Wisconting Card Sorting Test in young adulthood than affective disorder HR offspring or controls, independently of whether they later developed schizophrenia or not (Wolf et al., 2002). Consistently with previous studies (Study I; Schubert & McNeil, 2004), HR children in our study more often had neurological soft signs than controls. Neurological soft signs were most common when the mother had affective disorder, although in the Swedish HR Study, offspring of mothers with affective disorder did not have neurological signs more often than controls (Schubert & McNeil, 2004). A recent family study found that neurological soft signs were more common among parents of patients with schizophrenia who were the presumed carriers of the genetic loading based on their family history than among parents who were presumed non-carriers, supporting the hypothesis that neurological signs are associated with genetic risk of schizophrenia (Gourion et al., 2004). HR offspring, particularly of mothers with schizophrenia, also differed from controls in being socially inhibited during school age. Many previous HR studies have also found the behaviour of HR offspring to be more often disturbed during school-age compared with controls (Study I).

Attention problems were more common among school-aged HR children than among controls, and these problems tended to predict schizophrenia spectrum disorders and mood disorders, although not to a statistically significant degree. Attention deficit is seen as one of the most promising phenotypic indicators of vulnerability to schizophrenia (Michie et al., 2000). Attention deficit may lead to academic difficulties, which have been found to be more common among HR children and adolescents than controls in previous HR studies (Study I), although academic difficulties could also reflect other risk factors that are more prevalent in these families, as suggested by the Rochester Longitudinal Study (Sameroff et al., 1998).

7.4.2. Developmental factors predicting future development of schizophrenia spectrum disorders

Problems in social adjustment were equally common among HR and control offspring, but HR offspring who had problems in social adjustment at pre-school-age had an increased risk of schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Instead, social adjustment problems, conduct problems and emotional symptoms during school age predicted future non-psychotic psychiatric disorders, and emotional symptoms tended to predict psychotic disorders. Problems in pre-school social adjustment in our cohort were assessed at five and six years, when a health assessment priority is to identify children who may be unable to start education at the normal age of seven. Two of the five HR boys and one of the six HR girls with problems in pre-school social adjustment developed schizophrenia spectrum disorder. The adolescents with future schizophrenia spectrum disorders in our cohort no longer differed significantly in their social adjustment from HR children who did not develop mental disorders. Many previous studies have suggested an association between problems in social adjustment and behaviour, and schizophrenia (Jorgensen et al., 1987; Mirsky et al., 1995a; Olin et al., 1995). According to previous research, pre-schizophrenic children and adolescents also have emotional symptoms more often than others (Carter et al., 1999; Poulton et al., 2000; Bolinskey et al., 2001). In this study, social inhibition during school-age tended to be more common among HR children who later developed schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Poor social and school adjustment seem to be among the most commonly found development abnormalities in pre-schizophrenic individuals.

Conduct and attentional problems and social inhibition were more common among HR children who developed schizophrenia spectrum disorders, but not statistically significantly. It may be that these children's problems did not draw as much attention at school-age as they did at the pre-school assessments.

In cohort studies, children who later develop schizophrenia have been found to reach motor milestones later, and to learn to speak later than those who remain unaffected (Study I). The divergent finding in this study may be explained by our smaller sample size or by the less detailed information we had (only whether the child had reached the milestones by a certain age). Because of the nature of our data in the present study, cautious is needed in making any further conclusions, although it might also be that the developmental adversity necessary to develop schizophrenia is somehow different among offspring who have an especially high genetic risk than in those who have no family history of schizophrenia. This might be interesting to assess in further studies.

7.4.3. Developmental factors predicting other mental disorders

Emotional symptoms during school age tended to predict later development of any psychotic disorder. Previous studies have found that school age internalising and externalising symptoms both predict future psychotic disorders (Cannon et al., 2001).

Emotional symptoms, conduct problems, social inhibition, and attention problems during school age were strong predictors of future mood disorders among HR offspring. The Dunedin Multidisciplinary Health and Development Study found that individuals with juvenile-onset depression had an excess of behavioural and emotional problems, as well as motor development problems (Jaffee et al., 2002). The results of this study suggest that emotional and conduct problems and social inhibition increase the risk of future mood disorders among individuals with high genetic risk for psychotic disorders. The odds ratios increased when only HR offspring whose mothers had a schizophrenia spectrum disorder were analysed, suggesting that the observed associations were not caused by elevated genetic risk of affective disorders. Conduct and attention problems were also highly predictive of future mood disorders. The Dunedin Multidisciplinary Health and Development Study found that particularly juvenile-onset depression is highly comorbid with conduct disorder and attention-deficit disorder (Jaffee et al., 2002), which complements our findings. Although neurological soft signs did not predict later development of mood disorders in this study, it is interesting that the British 1946 National Birth cohort found excess twitching and grimacing among children with childhood affective disturbance (van Os et al., 1997a), and in our cohort, neurological soft signs were most common among offspring of mothers with affective disorder, suggesting a possible connection also between familial risk for affective disorder and neurological soft signs. In many studies patients with affective disorder and their relatives have neurological signs more often than controls, but fewer neurological abnormalities than patients with schizophrenia and their relatives (Schubert & McNeil, 2004).

Interestingly, besides psychotic disorders only personality disorder was predicted by behavioural problems before school age, and was the only diagnosis where developmental predictors were observed from early childhood through adolescence. Delayed mental development and problems in social adjustment during childhood, as well as emotional symptoms, conduct problems, and social inhibition during school age, predicted later personality disorders. Two HR children developed antisocial personality disorder, five borderline personality disorder, and two personality disorder NOS. That no cluster A personality disorders were found reflects our method of case selection. As the Copenhagen HR Study showed, individuals with cluster A personality disorders rarely receive hospital treatment (Parnas et al., 1993), whereas individuals with Cluster B disorders often become hospitalised for their impulsive, aggressive or self-destructive behaviour. Cluster B personality disorders being so common in our sample, our findings concerning delayed mental development in early childhood could be explained by previous research suggesting that persistent antisocial behaviour is associated with both pre-school and school-age neurocognitive deficits (Moffitt, 1993; Raine et al., 2002). Consistent with our findings, earlier studies have found that childhood aggressivity, withdrawal, lack of social skills and mental health problems are risk factors for antisocial personality disorder (Holmes et al., 2001; Moffitt et al., 2002). Individuals who develop borderline personality disorder also have more emotional symptoms and conduct disorder throughout childhood and adolescence (Joyce et al., 2003). Conduct problems self-evidently predict future antisocial personality disorder since they are part of its diagnostic criteria.

Emotional symptoms, conduct problems, and attention problems during school age predicted future substance related disorders. Similarly, the Danish Longitudinal Study of Alcoholism found that childhood unhappiness and antisocial personality disorder predicted alcohol abuse and dependence (Knop et al., 2003).

Overall, developmental problems predicting personality, mood, and substance use disorders among individuals at high genetic risk of schizophrenia do not differ from those identified in population-based cohort studies, but the observed odds ratios are much higher. Thus, the effect of these problems is more severe in the presence of genetic vulnerability to psychotic disorders.

7.5. Childhood growth and its effect on morbidity from psychotic disorders (Study V)

7.5.1. Differences between HR and control children

Both boys and girls were shorter than controls at birth, although the difference was statistically significant only for girls. The most likely explanation could be that their gestational age was slightly shorter; delivery prior to the 38th week was more common in the HR group (Wrede et al., 1980). Social class did not explain the lower height at birth among HR girls. The fact that HR boys but not girls were shorter than controls later in childhood is more difficult to explain. The difference in centimetres was larger at each successive measurement point, although it was statistically significant only at age 10. Since there was no difference in the ponderal index or BMI, inadequate caloric intake is an unlikely explanation, because it causes the weight percentile to fall first, and height only thereafter (Foye & Sulkes, 1990). One possible explanation could be delayed puberty, but unfortunately we were unable to estimate the onset of puberty from the health cards. Numerous factors related to childhood rearing environment, such as father's or own social class (Walker et al., 1988; Peck & Lundberg, 1995), education (Silventoinen et al., 1999), maternal care (Kuh & Wadsworth, 1989), economic difficulties (Peck & Lundberg, 1995; Silventoinen et al., 2001), large family (Peck & Lundberg, 1995) and family discord and divorce (Peck & Lundberg, 1995), have been found to have an effect on adult height. A Finnish study found that the effect of childhood economic difficulties, education and social class on adult body height is more marked among males than females (Silventoinen et al., 2001). Since economic difficulties, family discord and divorce, and poor parenting may all be more common in HR families, these factors could explain the lower childhood and adolescence height among HR boys. We investigated whether social class could explain the

differences in height and weight among offspring, but found no significant association between social class and growth variables among male offspring. Instead, among female offspring (both HR and controls), lower BMI at the age of 1, 10, and 14 years was significantly associated with higher social class, as well as lower weight at the age of 14 years.

7.5.2. Factors related to growth predicting future development of schizophrenia

In this study, the transition from being thin at birth to having BMI in the highest tertile at age seven predicted later development of schizophrenia, while an earlier Finnish study found an association between low BMI during childhood and later development of schizophrenia (Eriksson et al., 1999). One possible explanation for this controversial finding could be the different time period when the members of these cohorts were born. The earlier cohort was born between 1924 and 1933, while ours was born between 1960 and 1964. Low BMI during the 1920s and 1930s was often related to poverty and poor nutrition, while nowadays in the developed world, low social class is more commonly associated with high BMI (Sobal & Stunkard, 1989). In fact, low BMI during childhood and adolescence was associated with higher social class among females in our cohort.

Childhood BMI is influenced by both genetic and environmental factors (Borjeson, 1976; Stunkard et al., 1986). Mother's nutritional state already during pregnancy seems to influence child's later metabolism (Barker, 1998; Parizkova, 1998). Both nutritional deprivation and overnutrition during pregnancy have been found to be associated with later obesity (Ravelli et al., 1976; Pettit et al., 1983). Offspring who were exposed to undernutrition during the first and second trimester of pregnancy due a famine in the Netherlands during the Second World War were more often obese in adolescence than controls, while those who were exposed to undernutrition during the last trimester of pregnancy were less often obese (Ravelli et al., 1976). Interestingly, there is also an association between increased incidence of schizophrenia among those individuals who were exposed to severe famile during the first trimester in utero during this famine (Susser et al., 1996). According to this, our results concerning the BMI change could be related to prenatal nutrition.

Many studies have suggested that catch-up growth in previously growth-restricted children, especially among males, is a risk factor for later development of chronic diseases, such as cardiovascular diseases and high blood pressure (Law et al., 2002; Adair & Cole, 2003). This has been interpreted as evidence of foetal programming of cardiovascular diseases (Adair & Cole, 2003). Interestingly, the risk growth profile for schizophrenia in our study is similar to that found for cardiovascular diseases (Eriksson et al., 1999). All HR offspring with catch-up growth who later developed schizophrenia were males. Our finding was also specific to schizophrenia: there were no cases with catch-up growth among offspring with other psychotic disorders. The geographical variation in the incidence and prevalence of cardiovascular diseases (Tunstall-Pedoe et al., 1994, Jousilahti et al 1998)

and schizophrenia (Salokangas et al., 1987; Lehtinen et al., 1990; Hovatta et al., 1997) in Finland is similar. Further, the overall morbidity and mortality from cardiovascular diseases is higher among schizophrenia patients than in the general population (Brown, 1997; Joukamaa et al., 2001). This may suggest that cardiovascular diseases and schizophrenia may share some environmental or genetic risk factors.

7.6. General discussion

The findings of Studies II to V confirm the conclusion of Study I that children of mothers with psychotic disorder are more likely to have behavioural and developmental problems than control children, and that some of these problems are associated with later development of mental disorders.

Whether the developmental and behavioural differences between children and adolescents with or without a mother with psychotic disorder are caused by a genetic variation, stressful environment or some other environmental factor, is not known. The neurodevelopmental aspect of schizophrenia suggests that these abnormalities are due to an underlying abnormality of neural networks. These findings, however, are not specific to schizophrenia. Offspring at high risk for other disorders also tend to show similar developmental problems, although usually milder than those experienced by schizophrenia HR children, while severe neurological abnormalities seem to be specific to schizophrenia (Cannon et al., 2002a). Nevertheless, it has been shown that maternal social class, severity and chronicity of maternal illness despite the specific diagnosis, and maltreatment are often stronger predictors of poor functioning among children than parental schizophrenia (Sameroff et al., 1984; Bergman et al., 1997). At least part of these developmental problems, maybe the mildest ones, may thus have been caused by living in a nonoptimal family environment, rather than by having a high risk for developing schizophrenia due to parental psychotic disorder.

Some of these developmental or behavioural abnormalities are predictive of psychotic disorders. Still, none of the developmental precursors identified thus far is specific for schizophrenia, and none provides a necessary and sufficient relationship with it (Jones & Tarrant, 1999). Most individuals who have problems in childhood development, even within the high-risk group, do not develop schizophrenia. Conversely, even if the average performance on most measures is poorer among schizophrenia high-risk subjects, the performance of individual high-risk subjects is usually within the normal range. Most of these developmental problems found are relatively common, and most of the children with these symptoms remain unaffected. It is also not known if these factors associated with later development of psychotic disorders are independent risk factors, indicators of an ongoing disorder-related process, or reflections of other risk factors (Ellison et al., 1998). The concept of schizophrenia as a neurodevelopmental disorder may carry with it an unwarranted determinism, which may lead to therapeutic nihilism (Lieberman, 1999). There are several facts about developmental psychopathology worth remembering here. Firstly, genetic influences are probabilistic, not deterministic (Rutter & Sroufe, 2000). Secondly, for many developmental outcomes, it is the quantity rather than quality of risk factors that is most predictive (Sameroff, 2000). Thirdly, positive experiences in adolescence and adulthood can have a crucial influence in protecting from some adulthood psychiatric disorders, provided that they bring about a substantial change in life opportunities or in self-concept (Rutter & Sroufe, 2000). Whether they can also have an impact on the diminishing risk for developing schizophrenia is unknown. Fourthly, a child's development includes factors that protect from developmental problems, and these are usually simply the positive pole of the risk factors (Sameroff, 2000).

Although the HR study method offers the possibility of assessing childhood developmental factors associated with schizophrenia, one problem is that only approximately 10% of HR children develop schizophrenia, making the predictions concerning vulnerability indicators unprecise. In our study, 75% of the HR offspring had never been hospitalized because of a psychiatric disorder. More than half of the children who had problems in social adjustment at pre-school-age did not develop a schizophrenia spectrum disorder, and a large majority of children who had psychiatric symptoms in school did not develop a psychotic disorder. The only marker with high specificity was severe neurological symptoms, in which case both of the children developed schizophrenia. On the other hand, most of the children who later developed schizophrenia spectrum disorder had some problem during childhood or adolescence noted in primary care. Most of these children had multiple problems, for example emotional symptoms during childhood, academic impairment and problems in social adjustment at pre-school-age, supporting the view that the quantity of risk factors is more predictive than the quality. Carter et al created a multivariate prediction model of schizophrenia based on the results of the Copenhagen HR Study (Carter et al., 2002). Using the estimations for genetic risk, birth factors, autonomic responsiveness, cognitive functioning, rearing environment, personality and school behaviour, they found that schizophrenia was predicted by the interaction of genetic risk with rearing environment and disruptive school behaviour (Carter et al., 2002). 75% of adolescents with future schizophrenia were correctly predicted using this estimation (Carter et al., 2002).

Although HR research has generated valuable information on the identification of early developmental factors and early antecedents of schizophrenia, one problem is that about 90% of all individuals with schizophrenia do not have a parent with the disorder, and about over half of all individuals with schizophrenia have neither a first nor second degree relative with schizophrenia (Gottesman & Erlenmeyer-Kimling, 2001). Thus, case selection methods for research other than the traditional HR case selection method have been suggested. These include the longitudinal assessment of individuals at considerably high risk for schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders because of a genetic abnormality, such as chromosome 22q11 deletion (Murphy & Owen, 2001) or t(1:11)(q43,q21) translocation (Clair et al., 1990), or because of an extreme exposure to environmental risk factors possibly associated with schizophrenia, such as very preterm birth, prenatal viral infection or instability of early rearing environment. Another possibility for detecting the most vulnerable children is to use liability indicators detected by HR studies, such as attention deficits or MMPI-derived scales, or to use other scales developed to identify psychosis-prone individuals (Chapman & Chapman, 1987). However, it may be difficult to find a sufficient number of such individuals, and findings from these special groups may not be generalizable to other patients with schizophrenia.

The prediction of psychotic disorders might help us to understand the process of onset and might enable us to intervene prior to psychosis onset during the prodromal phase, and at best to prevent schizophrenia. Indeed, there is evidence to suggest that the prevention of, or at least the ability to delay the onset of a psychotic disorder could be possible (Yung, 2003). However, there are some ethical problems concerning prevention and prodromal research. Many individuals who experience attenuated psychotic symptoms do not develop psychotic disorders. Calling such symptoms prodromal implies inevitable progression to psychosis, although psychosis is not an invariable outcome of such symptoms. Therefore, the trials where undiagnosed children or prodromal adolescents receive antipsychotic medication have been criticized (Gottesman & Erlenmeyer-Kimling, 2001).

Although antipsychotic drugs are the most obvious choice due to their efficacy in treating the fully psychotic disorder, it has also been suggested that other interventions may be more appropriate for the early stages of illness (Gottesman & Erlenmeyer-Kimling, 2001; Yung, 2003). Treating a person with prodromal symptoms may just make the patient feel better without perhaps treating the underlying disorder, and it may progress, leaving the individual at risk of relapse (Yung, 2003). Neuroprotective agents, antidepressants, and nonpharmacologic therapies may be of more benefit in the high-risk groups (Yung, 2003). Psychotherapies and other strategies that present little danger of deleterious effects can obviously tolerate higher false positive and lower sensitivity rates (Gottesman & Erlenmeyer-Kimling, 2001). Possible psychological costs should also be taken into account, such as stigmatization among peers versus the benefits afforded by psychological therapies, even for subjects who prove to be false positive (Gottesman & Erlenmeyer-Kimling, 2001). Factors that predict psychotic and non-psychotic disorders are partly similar, which also suggests not treating adolescents with such symptoms with antipsychotic medication. Another problem is that most prevention projects have included only subjects who were seeking help, whereas at the population level most individuals with attenuated psychotic symptoms do not seek help (Yung, 2003).

The HR study method also poses ethical questions. Mental disorders have long been among the most stigmatising disorders (Mueser & McGurk, 2004). Widely held myths about individuals with schizophrenia are that they are violent, childlike and irresponsible (Mueser & McGurk, 2004). They are also likely to be held more responsible for their disorders than people with other disorders, which leads to discrimination (Mueser & McGurk, 2004). Stigma can also contribute to denial of the illness by patients, which may lead them to delay seeking help. Being this kind of a high-risk, i.e. a "special family" in health care services, could also lead to concern in the child, maybe even to a feeling of stigma, and thereby increasing the inner distress in the family.

Although HR offspring who develop schizophrenia are not representative of all persons with schizophrenia, because only a minority of the latter have an affected parent(s), findings from cohort studies support the validity of these developmental and behavioural markers as vulnerability indicators of schizophrenia. Their sensitivity and specificity on the population level are unacceptably low, but they might be useful in genetic studies of psychotic disorders, and in identifying the most vulnerable high-risk children for preventive programs.

8. IMPLICATIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

The cumulative incidences of schizophrenia and schizophrenia spectrum disorders among HR offspring were in the same range as among first-degree relatives of probands with schizophrenia and among adoptees having a biological mother with schizophrenia, but lower than those found in most previous HR studies. The prognosis of HR children may thus not be as poor as suggested by previous HR studies. When planning new HR studies, the case selection method and awareness of paternal status should be carefully considered.

Having a mother with schizophrenia increases the risk of a wide range of mental disorders among offspring, not just nonaffective psychotic disorders. The risks for schizoaffective disorder, schizophrenia and other nonaffective psychoses were in the same range among HR offspring, supporting the view of a shared genetic (or other) background of schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Paternal but not maternal substance abuse was associated with offspring's morbidity from substance abuse disorders. All these should be noted in genetic studies of schizophrenia.

Factor analytic studies offer an opportunity for genetic studies searching for specific phenotypes for schizophrenia. Interestingly, we found a separate catatonia factor. Further research might thus study catatonic symptoms more carefully. Although DSM-diagnoses were better predictors of schizophrenia, it might be useful to divide patients into different subgroups according to symptomatology, for example for pharmacogenetic purposes, because in clinical work it is often noted that patients with different symptoms respond differently to specific pharmaceuticals.

The HR method may be helpful in searching for the endophenotype underlying schizophrenia by assessing factors that differentiate HR and control children more precisely, although at least some of them are probably due to other than genetic factors. Findings of HR studies may be replicated in larger cohort studies. If specific genetic methods were included in HR study methodology, it might offer a unique possibility to separate the effects of genes and environment.

The finding that HR children were shorter than controls in this study needs to be replicated in larger cohorts. However, it is important to note that maternal status affects offspring's birth status. This should be considered when interpreting findings of associations between, for example, low birth weight or shortness at birth and later schizophrenia. In general, cohort studies should, if possible, take parental status into account as an explanatory variable. Theoretically, it is possible that some of the

childhood predictive factors found in cohort studies are caused by children with a high familial risk, and some others by more sporadic cases. The developmental problems that underlie familial and sporadic schizophrenia might not be the same.

Severe neurological symptoms are perhaps a strong marker for genetic vulnerability for schizophrenia, and this might be useful to take into account when planning new strategies to detect most vulnerable children. However, it is also possible that there is a specific subtype of schizophrenia which is more likely to be associated with severe neurological symptoms. The association of catch-up growth and later schizophrenia needs to be replicated with larger study samples, and possible confounding factors should be taken into account. It would also be interesting to assess if this association is also present among individuals who develop schizophrenia but do not have a genetic predisposition.

It might also be useful to study in more detail individuals who have a developmental abnormality, but who do not develop the disorder. It would be interesting to assess whether there is a combination of risk factors, or one specific risk factor, among those who develop the disorder, or if there are some protective factors among those who have the abnormalities but do not develop the disorder.

9. CONCLUSIONS AND CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

These results confirm that offspring of mothers with psychotic disorder have an increased risk for various mental disorders and more emotional and developmental problems from early childhood onwards, and that some of these factors are predictive of later psychiatric morbidity.

These children have an increased risk especially for psychotic and substance related disorders. Whether this is caused by shared genetic or environmental risk factors is not known. However, almost two-thirds of the HR individuals in this study had never been hospitalized for psychiatric reasons, indicating that the prognosis of HR offspring is not as poor as suggested.

Psychiatric disorders, especially alcohol and substance abuse disorders, were more common among HR than control fathers, which further increased the risk of mental disorders among the offspring. HR fathers seemed quite often to have pathological personality traits, although usually so mild that they were not hospitalized because of them. Problems appear to accumulate in certain families; the spouses of women with psychotic disorder have often also had (psychiatric) problems, maybe due to assortative mating, and the child may himself have personality traits that lead him to problems with behaviour and social adjustment. All this renders such families more and more susceptible to, for example, adversity or social problems, such as withdrawal from social contacts. This suggests that mental health services should perhaps devote special attention to the whole family if it includes a member with a psychotic disorder, whether noted in adult psychiatric units, social services, or in childhood health care. Relieving the stigma of receiving psychiatric support could make it easier for such families to seek psychiatric help. Although positive symptoms are presumably not protective against schizophrenia, it should also be noted in clinical settings that the most visible symptoms (i.e. positive symptoms) are not necessarily the most harmful to a child. It should also be recognized that having a mother with schizophrenia increases the risk of various other mental disorders among offspring. They are also at an increased risk of developing non-psychotic disorders, particularly affective and substance abuse disorders, which should be noted when planning supportive measures for HR offspring.

The HR offspring have more emotional and developmental problems than controls. This may be caused by a specific genetic vulnerability, environmental factors, or both. Several studies have shown that instability of early rearing environment and other family related

factors are predictive of developmental and behavioural problems in the child. This may suggest that at least in some cases, childhood emotional and developmental problems might be a sign of familial instability. Thus, families having a child with these problems should perhaps be offered more intensive social support, if needed. It may even be worthwhile assessing if these mothers need some support in the overall management of their children, especially if they have a psychotic disorder.

Developmental epidemiological research poses the question of whether prevention of schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders is possible, at least in some cases. Findings of childhood factors associated with psychotic disorders may offer some strategies for the prevention of schizophrenia. The prevention model for high-risk individuals contrasts with universal and selective prevention strategies, although there might be some shared risk factors in both. As pregnancy and birth complications seem to increase the risk for schizophrenia, especially among HR offspring, intensive care already during pregnancy might be offered to women with a history of psychotic disorder. Prevention of schizophrenia may also include, for example, more careful health and social care of families with children (especially families with a parent with psychotic disorder), and political strategies against drug (especially cannabis) abuse.

In this study, predictive developmental symptoms have been identified in primary care. The problems predictive of schizophrenia spectrum disorders and personality disorders were seen already prior to school-age. Thus, it might be suggested that special attention should focus on problems in social adjustment and neurological development at the five-year health check, especially if the child has a mother with a psychotic disorder. On the contrary, some adolescents prone to non-psychotic disorders, and perhaps those prone to psychotic disorders, might be identified during school-age by displaying behavioural problems, for example disruptive or withdrawn behaviour. Children and adolescents with behavioural, especially psychotic-like, symptoms in clinical settings should perhaps be followed up through childhood and adolescence even after their presenting problems have resolved, particularly if they have a family history of schizophrenia.

Although treatment may be indicated on clinical grounds at an individual patient level, the setting of specific programs, especially if they are to include pharmacotherapy, is not justified with our present state of knowledge. Nevertheless, children or adolescents at high risk for psychosis should perhaps be offered intensive monitoring of their mental state, discrete counselling for risk factors and emerging signs of psychotic disorder, and, depending on the clinical condition, age, and other (e.g. ethical) factors, they could perhaps be offered either low-dose medication or other biological or psychological treatments, particularly if they have a family history of schizophrenia. In this way it might be possible to relieve the human suffering of these families, delay the onset, or at best even prevent an individual from developing a psychotic disorder.

10. SUMMARY

This thesis comprises a set of studies of the Helsinki High-Risk cohort, a programme designed to investigate offspring born in Helsinki to mothers with an original diagnosis of schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder or schizophreniform psychoses. The aim of these studies was to evaluate whether the development of HR offspring differs from that of other children, which mental disorders these offspring have a heightened risk for, and which maternal or childhood developmental factors are associated with the increased risk for mental disorders.

Psychiatric morbidity was investigated using information on hospital treatments from the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register. Based on this information, all case notes for mothers, fathers and offspring were collected. All cohort members were thereby rediagnosed according to DSM-IV-TR criteria. Mothers were divided into four diagnostic groups: schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, other nonaffective psychoses, and affective disorders. Offspring's morbidity from mental disorders was calculated in all these maternal diagnostic groups. The HR offspring had a heightened risk of developing a wide range of severe mental disorders.

The cumulative incidences of any psychotic disorder, and of schizophrenia were approximately equal among offspring of mothers with schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, and other spectrum disorders, and they were in the same range as found for first degree relatives of patients in previous cohort studies, but slightly lower than in previous HR studies. The cumulative incidences for psychotic disorders among offspring of mothers with affective disorder were only slightly increased compared to controls, and there was no offspring with schizophrenia in the affective disorder HR group. The offspring of mothers with schizophrenia spectrum psychosis also had an increased risk for non-psychotic disorders, particularly affective and substance use disorders. The HR fathers also had psychiatric disorders more often, particularly alcohol and substance use disorders among the offspring. Paternal, but not maternal, alcohol and substance use disorders increased the risk of alcohol and substance use disorders among the HR offspring.

Maternal psychotic and affective symptomatology was assessed using a principal factor analysis of maternal symptoms of some items of various structured rating scales. The result was a four-factor solution (negative, positive, catatonic, and affective symptom factors). High maternal positive symptom factor score predicted decreased morbidity to schizophrenia among offspring. This result suggests that maternal positive symptoms are

less harmful to the child than other maternal psychotic symptoms, and supports the view that positive symptoms are nonspecific symptoms of psychosis rather than core features of schizophrenia.

The association of childhood developmental factors and later development of psychotic disorder was assessed using information in childhood and school health cards. Children at increased familiar risk for psychotic disorder had more emotional and neurological symptoms, and more problems in social adjustment than controls. Most of these problems predicted future psychiatric morbidity. Problems elevating the risk of schizophrenia spectrum disorders manifested before school age, and were related to neurological development and social adjustment, while problems elevating the risk for nonpsychotic disorders manifested at school-age and were related to emotional and social problems. All these problems were noted in primary care.

Information from the childhood health cards was used also to assess whether the growth of HR children differs from that of control children, and whether factors related to growth in the HR group predict later development of psychotic disorder. The high-risk girls were shorter than controls at birth, while HR boys were only slightly shorter at birth compared with controls, but the difference in height increased with age, being statistically significant at age 10. Among HR children, catch up growth (the combination of being thin at birth but having a high BMI at seven years) predicted later development of schizophrenia.

Offspring of a mother with psychotic disorder have an increased risk for various mental disorders, and more often have emotional and developmental problems during childhood and adolescence compared to controls. Some of these factors are predictive of future development of mental disorders. Whether these factors are independent risk factors, associated with other risk factors or indicators of an ongoing process, needs further study.

11. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was conducted at the Department of Mental Health and Alcohol Research of the National Public Health Institute. I wish to thank the Director General of the National Public Health Institute, Professor Pekka Puska, M.D., Ph.D., for the facilities to perform this study. As an academic dissertation, this work was carried out at the Department of Psychiatry in the University of Helsinki, for which opportunity I am sincerely thankful.

I am most grateful to my supervisor, Professor Jouko Lönnqvist, M.D., Ph.D. It is a privilege to have been given the opportunity to be part of the superb research group he has created. His worldly wisdom, enormous knowledge and supportive attitude have made this work a pleasure to carry out. I have the greatest respect for his lifelong dedication and formidable contribution to the field of psychiatry.

I wish to deeply thank Docent Jaana Suvisaari, M.D., Ph.D for supervising this thesis and for introducing me to psychiatric research. She also had a crucial role in the studies themselves, and I value her input as I was writing this thesis. She always had time and understanding for me, and commented on the manuscripts promptly and with great care. Her knowledge of the field is most impressive.

I am most grateful to Docent Jari Haukka, Ph.D. for conducting the statistical analyses in some of the original articles, and for helping to plan this study with all his expertise in epidemiology. I also am grateful for his patience in listening to my endless stories while we shared an office.

I also want to thank Gunnel Wrede, Ph.D. for her tremendous contribution to the original assessment of the cohort, for giving us access to the data, and for her wise and supporting comments during this work.

Professor Pirkko Räsänen, M.D., Ph.D., and Professor Matti Joukamaa, M.D., Ph.D. deserve my warm thanks for their thorough review and constructive comments concerning this thesis.

I am most grateful to all the research colleagues I have had the pleasure to work with. Despite being in different projects, we have shared many interesting discussions on research matters as well as on life outside work. Profound thanks to Annamari Tuulio-Henriksson, Lic.Phil. for being a co-author in our review, for her enjoyable company at congresses we have attended, and for her supportive friendship. I am also deeply thankful to Tuula Kieseppä, M.D. for originally inspiring me to begin psychiatric

research, and for her enjoyable company and discussions during congresses. I am grateful to Ritva Arajärvi, M.D., Docent Timo Partonen M.D., Ph.D, and many other department members for creating an enjoyable working atmosphere. I specially want to thank Jonna Ukkola, M.D. for supporting me through many frustrating spells at work and for offering me her friendship beyond the department. This work could not have taken place without the help of the department's skilful secretarial staff: Tiina Hara, Tuula Koski and Sirkka Laakso, and research assistants Sanna Hannuksela, Anna Henriksson and Kirsi Niinistö.

My sincere thanks to Marjut Schreck for helping with so many of the practical aspects of the thesis, including her layout skills.

Warm thanks to Richard Burton, B.Sc. for his careful linguistic work with the text.

I sincerely appreciate the financial support for the study provided by the Stanley Medical Research Institute, the Finnish Medical Society, the Foundation for Psychiatric Research in Finland, the Finnish Psychiatric Association, the Jalmari and Rauha Ahokas Foundation and the Emil Aaltonen Foundation.

I am deeply grateful to my mother, Liisa Larkas, Ph.D., for the understanding and comfort she offered me during this work. My father, Docent psychoanalyst Timo Niemi, M.D., Ph.D., deserves my sincere thanks for all his support and for the family's ongoing interest in psychiatry. I also want to thank their life-companions, Harry Lind, Mc.S. (Pharm.) and psychoanalyst Marita Niemi, M.psych., for their encouragement over these years. I am most grateful to my sister Paula Arvilommi, M.D. and her husband Jaakko Arvilommi, MEd for their support and for putting up with the daily phone calls I made, and to my brother Mikko Niemi, M.D., Ph.D. for his patience, support and smart advice about this work. Special thanks go to three little ladies, Lotta, Ronja, and Ilona Arvilommi, for reminding me about the important things in life and for their wise words on its meaning. I also deeply appreciate all my animal and human friends, especially Tuuli and Titi Ahde, Erika Burmansson and Jaakko Rekola (and my wonderful godchild Isla), and Kata and Kiia Kallio.

Finally, my sincerest thanks go to my adorable companion in life, Vikke Häkkinen, Mmus, for giving me the most important support of all, for trusting me even though the frustrating times, for all our fascinating discussions, and, above all, for being the most important person in my life.

12. REFERENCES

Abi-Dargham, A. Do we still believe in the dopamine hypothesis? New data bring new evidence. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 2004; 7 Suppl 1: 1-5.

Adair, LS, Cole, TJ. Rapid child growth raises blood pressure in adolescent boys who were thin at birth. Hypertension 2003; 41(3): 451-456.

Amminger, P, Pape, S, Rock, D, Roberts, S, Ott, SL, Squires-Wheeler, E, Kestenbaum, C, Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L. Relationship between childhood behavioral disturbance and later schizophrenia in the New York High-Risk Project. Am J Psychiatry 1999; 156(4): 525-530.

Andreasen, N. Negative symptoms in schizophrenia. Definition and reliability. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1982; 39: 784-788.

Andreasen, NC, Olsen, S. Negative v positive schizophrenia. Definition and validation. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1982; 39(7): 789-794.

Andreasen, NC. The Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms (SAPS). University of Iowa, Iowa City, USA, 1984.

Andreasen, NC. A Unitary Model of Schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1999; 56: 781-787.

APA. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth edition, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR). American Psychiatric Association, Washington DC, USA, 2000.

Arseneault, L, Cannon, M, Poulton, R, Murray, R, Caspi, A, Moffitt, TE. Cannabis use in adolescence and risk for adult psychosis: longitudinal prospective study. BMJ 2002; 325(7374): 1212-1213.

Arseneault, L, Cannon, M, Witton, J, Murray, RM. Causal association between cannabis and psychosis: examination of the evidence. Br J Psychiatry 2004; 184: 110-117.

Ayalon, M, Merom, H. The teacher interview. Schizophr Bull 1985; 11(1): 117-120.

Aylward, E, Walker, E, Bettes, B. Intelligence in schizophrenia: meta-analysis of the research. Schizophr Bull 1984; 10(3): 430-459.

Barker, DJ. Mothers, babies, and disease later in life. Latimer Trend & Company, Plymouth, USA, 1994: 14-36.

Barker, DJ. Fetal undernutrition and obesity later in life. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1998; 22 (Suppl 3): 89.

Barr, C, Mednick, S, Munk-Jorgensen, P. Exposure to influenza epidemics during gestation and adult schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1990; 47: 869-874.

Bayley, N. Bayley Scales of Infant Development. Psychological Corporation, New York, USA, 1969.

Bearden, C, Rosso, I, Hollister, J, Sanchez, L, Hadley, T, Cannon, T. A prospective cohort study of childhood behavioral deviance and language abnormalities as predictors of adult schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 2000; 26: 395-410.

Bennedsen, BE, Mortensen, PB, Olesen, AV, Henriksen, TB. Preterm birth and intra-uterine growth retardation among children of women with schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 1999; 175: 239-245.

Bennedsen, BE, Mortensen, PB, Olesen, AV, Henriksen, TB, Frydenberg, M. Obstetric complications in women with schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2001; 47(2-3): 167-175.

Bergman, A, Wolfson, M, Walker, E. Neuromotor functioning and behavior problems in children at risk for psychopathology. J Abnorm Child Psychol 1997; 25(3): 229-237.

Blennow, G, McNeil, T. Neurological deviations in newborns at psychiatric high risk. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1991; 84: 179-184.

Bleuler, E, Dementia Praecox and the group of schizophrenias. Zinlin, J, transl. International Universities Press, 1950, New York, USA, 1911.

Bogenschutz, MP, Nurnberg, HG. Classification of mental disorders. Kaplan & Sadock's comprehensive textbook of psychiatry. B. J. Sadock and V. A. Sadock. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, USA, 2000: 824-853.

Boks, MPM, Russo, S, Knegtering, R, van den Bosch, RJ. The specifity of neurological signs in schizophrenia: a review. Schizophr Res 2000; 43: 109-116.

Bolinskey, K, Gottesman, II, Nichols, D, Shapiro, B, Roberts, S, Adamo, U, Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L. A new MMPI-derived indicator of liability to develop schizophrenia: Evidence from the New York High-Risk Project. Assessment 2001; 8(2): 127-143.

Borjeson, M. The aetiology of obesity in children. A study of 101 twin pairs. Acta Paediatr Scand 1976; 65(3): 279-287.

Brown, S. Excess mortality of schizophrenia. A meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 1997; 171: 502-508.

Brown, A, Schaefer, C, Wyatt, R, Goetz, R, Begg, M, German, J, Susser, E. Maternal exposure to respiratory infections and adult schizophrenia spectrum disorders: a prospective birth cohort study. Schizophr Bull 2000a; 26: 287-295.

Brown, AS, Cohen, P, Greenwald, S, Susser, E. Nonaffective psychosis after prenatal exposure to rubella. Am J Psychiatry 2000b; 157(3): 438-443.

Brown, AS, Cohen, P, Harkavy-Friedman, J, Babulas, V, Malaspina, D, Gorman, JM, Susser, ES. A.E. Bennett Research Award. Prenatal rubella, premorbid abnormalities, and adult schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 2001; 49(6): 473-486.

Brown, AS, Schaefer, CA, Wyatt, RJ, Begg, MD, Goetz, R, Bresnahan, MA, Harkavy-Friedman, J, Gorman, JM, Malaspina, D, Susser, ES. Paternal age and risk of schizophrenia in adult offspring. Am J Psychiatry 2002; 159(9): 1528-1533.

Brown, AS, Susser, ES. In utero infection and adult schizophrenia. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev 2002; 8(1): 51-57.

Brown, AS, Begg, MD, Gravenstein, S, Schaefer, CA, Wyatt, RJ, Bresnahan, M, Babulas, VP, Susser, ES. Serologic evidence of prenatal influenza in the etiology of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2004; 61(8): 774-780.

Buka, SL, Tsuang, MT, Torrey, EF, Klebanoff, MA, Bernstein, D, Yolken, RH. Maternal infections and subsequent psychosis among offspring. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001; 58(11): 1032-1037.

Burke, JG, Murphy, BM, Bray, JC, Walsh, D, Kendler, KS. Clinical similarities in siblings with schizophrenia. Am J Med Genet 1996; 67(3): 239-243.

Byrne, M, Hodges, A, Grant, E, Owens, D, Johnstone, E. Neuropsychological assessment of young people at high genetic risk for developing schizophrenia compared with controls: preliminary findings of the Edinburgh High Risk Study (EHRS). Psychol Med 1999; 29: 1161-1173.

Byrne, M, Browne, R, Mulryan, N, Scully, A, Morris, M, Kinsella, A, Takei, N, McNeil, T, Walsh, D, O'Callaghan, E. Labour and delivery complications and schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 2000; 176: 531-536.

Byrne, M, Clafferty, BA, Cosway, R, Grant, E, Hodges, A, Whalley, HC, Lawrie, SM, Owens, DG, Johnstone, EC. Neuropsychology, genetic liability, and psychotic symptoms in those at high risk of schizophrenia. J Abnorm Psychol 2003; 112(1): 38-48.

Cahill, M, Chant, D, Welham, J, McGrath, J. No significant association between prenatal exposure poliovirus epidemics and psychosis. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2002; 36(3): 373-375.

Campbell, M, Machin, D. Medical Statistics. A commonsense approach. John Wiley & Sons, West Sussex, England, UK, 1993.

Cannon, M, Jones, P, Gilvarry, C, Rifkin, L, McKenzie, K, Foerster, A, Murray, R. Premorbid social functioning in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: similarities and differences. Am J Psychiatry 1997; 154: 1544-1550.

Cannon, M, Jones, P, Huttunen, M, Tanskanen, A, Huttunen, T, Rabe-Hesketh, S, Murray, R. School performance in Finnish children and later development of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1999; 56: 457-463.

Cannon, M, Walsh, E, Hollis, C, Kargin, M, Taylor, E, Murray, RM, Jones, PB. Predictors of later schizophrenia and affective psychosis among attendees at a child psychiatry department. Br J Psychiatry 2001; 178: 420-426.

Cannon, M, Caspi, A, Moffitt, TE, Harrington, H, Taylor, A, Murray, RM, Poulton, R. Evidence for early-childhood, pan-developmental impairment specific to schizophreniform disorder: results from a longitudinal birth cohort. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2002a; 59(5): 449-456.

Cannon, M, Jones, PB, Murray, RM. Obstetric complications and schizophrenia: historical and meta-analytic review. Am J Psychiatry 2002b; 159(7): 1080-92.

Cannon, T, Mednick, S, Parnas, J. Antecedents of predominantly negative and predominantly positive-symptom schizophrenia in a high-risk population. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1990; 47: 622-632.

Cannon, T, Mednick, S, Parnas, J, Schulsinger, F, Praestholm, J, Vestergaard, A. Developmental brain abnormalities in the offspring of schizophrenic mothers: I. Contributions of genetic and perinatal factors. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993; 50: 551-564.

Cannon, TD, Mednick, SA, Parnas, J, Schulsinger, F, Praestholm, J, Vestergaard, A. Developmental brain bnormalities in the offspring of schizophrenic mothers: II. Structural brain characteristics of schizophrenia and schizotypal personality disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1994; 51: 955-962.

Cannon, T, Kaprio, J, Lönnqvist, J, Huttunen, M, Koskenvuo, M. The genetic epidemiology of schizophrenia in a Finnish twin cohort. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1998; (55): 67-74.

Cannon, T, Bearden, C, Hollister, J, Rosso, I, Sanchez, L, Hadley, T. Childhood cognitive functioning in schizophrenia patients and their unaffected siblings: a prospective cohort study. Schizophr Bull 2000; 26: 379-393.

Cardno, AG, Holmans, PA, Harvey, I, Williams, MB, Owen, MJ, McGuffin, P. Factor-derived subsyndromes of schizophrenia and familial morbid risks. Schizophr Res 1997; 23(3): 231-238.

Cardno, A, Marshall, E, Coid, B, Macdonald, A, Ribchester, T, Davies, N, Venturi, P, Jones, L, Lewis, S, Sham, P, Gottesman, I, Farmer, A, McCuffin, P, Reveley, A, Murray, R. Heritability estimates for psychotic disorders. The Maudsley twin psychosis series. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1999; 56: 162-168.

Cardno, AG, Thomas, K, McGuffin, P. Clinical variables and genetic loading for schizophrenia: analysis of published Danish adoption study data. Schizophr Bull 2002; 28(3): 393-399.

Carpenter, WT, Jr., Strauss, JS, Muleh, S. Are there pathognomonic symptoms in schizophrenia? An empiric investigation of Schneider's first-rank symptoms. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1973; 28(6): 847-52.

Carter, JW, Parnas, J, Cannon, TD, Schulsinger, F, Mednick, SA. MMPI variables predictive of schizophrenia in the Copenhagen High-Risk Project: a 25-year follow-up. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1999; 99: 432-440.

Carter, JW, Schulsinger, F, Parnas, J, Cannon, T, Mednick, SA. A multivariate prediction model of schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 2002; 28(4): 649-682.

Cernovsky, ZZ, Landmark, JA, Merskey, H, O'Reilly, RL. The relationship of catatonia symptoms to symptoms of schizophrenia. Can J Psychiatry 1998; 43(10): 1031-1035.

Chapman, LJ, Chapman, JP. The search for symptoms predictive of schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 1987; 13(3): 497-503.

Clair, DS, Blackwood, D, Muir, W, Carothers, A, Walker, M, Spowart, G, Gosden, C, Evans, H. Association within a family of a balanced autosomal translocation with major mental illness. Lancet 1990; 336(8706): 13-16.

Clayton, D, Hills, M. Statistical models in epidemiology. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, 1993.

Colp, RJ. Psychiatry: past and future. Kaplan and Sadock's comprehensive textbook of psychiatry. Eds: Sadock, JA and Sadock VA. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, USA, 2000: 3301-3344.

Cornblatt, B, Obuchowski, M. Update of high-risk research: 1987-1997. International Review of Psychiatry 1997; 9: 437-447.

Cosway, R, Byrne, M, Clafferty, R, Hodges, A, Grant, E, Abukmeil, S, Lawrie, S, Miller, P, Johnstone, E. Neuropsychological change in young people at high risk for schizophrenia: Results from the first two neuropsychological assessments of the Edinburgh High Risk Study. Psychol Med 2000; 30: 1111-1121.

Cosway, R, Byrne, M, Clafferty, R, Hodges, A, Grant, E, Morris, J, Abukmeil, SS, Lawrie, SM, Miller, P, Owens, DG, Johnstone, EC. Sustained attention in young people at high risk for schizophrenia. Psychol Med 2002; 32(2): 277-286.

Crow, T, Done, D, Sacker, A. Childhood precursors of psychosis as clues to its evolutionary origins. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 1995; 245: 61-69.

Dalman, C, Allebeck, P. Paternal age and schizophrenia: further support for an association. Am J Psychiatry 2002; 159(9): 1591-1592.

David, A, Malmberg, A, Brandt, L, Allebeck, P, Lewis, G. IQ and risk for schizophrenia: a population-based cohort study. Psychol Med 1997; 27: 1311-1323.

Davidson, M, Reichenberg, A, Rabinowitz, J, Weiser, M, Kaplan, Z, Mark, M. Behavioral and intellectual markers for schizophrenia in apparently healthy male adolescents. Am J Psychiatry 1999; 156(9): 1328-1335.

Davies, G, Welham, J, Chant, D, Torrey, EF, McGrath, J. A systematic review and meta-analysis of Northern Hemisphere season of birth studies in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 2003; 29(3): 587-593.

Davis, KL, Davidson, M, Mohs, RC, Kendler, KS, Davis, BM, Johns, CA, DeNigris, Y, Horvath, TB. Plasma homovanillic acid concentration and the severity of schizophrenic illness. Science 1985; 227(4694): 1601-1602.

Davis, KL, Kahn, RS, Ko, G, Davidson, M. Dopamine in schizophrenia: a review and reconceptualization. Am J Psychiatry 1991; 148(11): 1474-1486.

Dazzan, P, Murray, RM. Neurological soft signs in first-episode psychosis: a systematic review. Br J Psychiatry Suppl 2002; 43: 50-57.

DeLisi, LE, Boccio, AM, Riordan, H, Hoff, AL, Dorfman, A, McClelland, J, Kushner, M, van Eyl, O, Oden, N. Familial thyroid disease and delayed language development in first admission patients with schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res 1991; 38(1): 39-50.

Done, DJ, Crow, TJ, Johnstone, EC, Sacker, A. Childhood antecedents of schizophrenia and affective illness: social adjustment at ages 7 and 11. Br Med J 1994; 309: 699-703.

Dwork, A. Postmortem studies of the hippocampal formation in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 1997; 23(3): 385-402.

Dworkin, R, Cornblatt, B, Friedmann, R, Kaplansky, L, Lewis, J, Rinaldi, A, Shilliday, C, Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L. Childhood precursors of affective vs. social deficits in adolescents at risk for schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 1993; 19(3): 563-577.

Ekelund, J, Hovatta, I, Parker, A, Paunio, T, Varilo, T, Martin, R, Suhonen, J, Ellonen, P, Chan, G, Sinsheimer, JS, Sobel, E, Juvonen, H, Arajarvi, R, Partonen, T, Suvisaari, J, Lonnqvist, J, Meyer, J, Peltonen, L. Chromosome 1 loci in Finnish schizophrenia families. Hum Mol Genet 2001; 10(15): 1611-1617.

Ekelund, J, Hennah, W, Hiekkalinna, T, Parker, A, Meyer, J, Lonnqvist, J, Peltonen, L. Replication of 1q42 linkage in Finnish schizophrenia pedigrees. Mol Psychiatry 2004: 1037-1041.

Ellison, Z, van Os, J, Murray, R. Special feature: Childhood personality characteristics of Schizophrenia: Manifestations of, or risk factors for, the disorder. J Personal Disord 1998; 12(3): 247-261.

Emamian, ES, Hall, D, Birnbaum, MJ, Karayiorgou, M, Gogos, JA. Convergent evidence for impaired AKT1-GSK3beta signaling in schizophrenia. Nat Genet 2004; 36(2): 131-137.

Eriksson, JG, Forsen, T, Tuomilehto, J, Winter, PD, Osmond, C, Barker, DJ. Catch-up growth in childhood and death from coronary heart disease: longitudinal study. BMJ 1999; 318(7181): 427-431.

Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L, Marcuse, Y, Cornblatt, B, Friedman, D, Rainer, J, Rutschmann, J. The New York High Risk Project. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1984: 173-174.

Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L, Cornblatt, B. The New York High-Risk Project: a followup report. Schizophr Bull 1987; 13(3): 451-461.

Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L, Cornblatt, B. A summary of attentional findings in the New York High-Risk Project. J Psychiatr Res 1992; 26: 405-426.

Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L, Adamo, UH, Rock, D, Roberts, SA, Bassett, AS, Squires-Wheeler, E, Cornblatt, BA, Endicott, J, Pape, S, Gottesman, II. The New York High-Risk Project. Prevalence and comorbidity of axis I disorders in offspring of schizophrenic parents at 25-year follow-up. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1997; 54: 1096-1102.

Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L. Neurobehavioral deficits in offspring of schizophrenic parents: liability indicators and predictors of illness. Am J Med Genet 2000; 97: 65-71.

Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L, Rock, D, Roberts, S, Janal, M, Kestenbaum, C, Cornblatt, B, Adamo, U, Gottesmann, I. Attention, memory, and motor skills as childhood predictors of schizophrenia-related psychoses: the New York High-Risk Project. Am J Psychiatry 2000; 157: 1416-1422.

ETK, KELA. ETK-KELA -yhteistilastointi, 2004.

Evans, K, McGrath, J, Milns, R. Searching for schizophrenia in ancient Greek and Roman literature: a systematic review. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2003; 107(5): 323-330.

Falloon, IR. Early intervention for first episodes of schizophrenia: a preliminary exploration. Psychiatry 1992; 55(1): 4-15.

Fish, B. Children at risk for schizophrenia. A longitudinal perspective. A. Watt, Wynne and Rolf. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA, 1984: 423-439.

Fish, B. Infant Predictors of the longitudinal Course of Schizophrenic Development. Schizophr Bull 1987; 13(3): 395-409.

Fish, B, Marcus, J, Hans, S, Auerbach, J, Perdue, S. Infants at risk for schizophrenia: Sequelae of a genetic neurointegrative defect. Archives General Psychiatry 1992; 49: 221-235.

Foye, H, Sulkes, S. Developmental and behavioral pediatrics. W.B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia, PA, USA, 1990: 1-56.

Freedman, L, Rock, D, Roberts, S, Cornblatt, B, Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L. The New York High-Risk Project: attention, anhedonia and social outcome. Schizophr Res 1998; 30: 1-9.

Freud, S. The interpretation of dreams. Hogarth Press, 1953, London, UK, 1900.

Freud, S. Three essays on the Theory of Sexuality. Hogarth Press, 1953, London, UK, 1905.

Garmezy, N, Devine, V, Nuechterlein, KH, Phipps-Yonas, S, Driscoll, RM. Children at risk for schizophrenia. A longitudinal perspective. Eds: Watt, NF, Anthony, EJ, Wynne, LC, Rolf, JE. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA, 1984: 287-327.

Geddes, J, Lawrie, S. Obstetric complications and schizophrenia: A Meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 1995; 167: 786-793.

General Register Office. A Glossary of Mental Disorders: Based on the International statistical Clasification of Diseases, Injuries and Causes of Death. Her Majesty's Stationery Office, London, UK, 1967.

Gilvarry, C, Takei, N, Russell, A, Rushe, T, Hemsley, D, Murray, RM. Premorbid IQ in patients with functional psychosis and their first-degree relatives. Schizophr Res 2000: 417-429.

Goff, DC, Coyle, JT. The emerging role of glutamate in the pathophysiology and treatment of schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 2001; 158(9): 1367-1377.

Goldner, EM, Hsu, L, Waraich, P, Somers, JM. Prevalence and incidence studies of schizophrenic disorders: a systematic review of the literature. Can J Psychiatry 2002; 47(9): 833-843.

Goldstein, J, Seidman, L, Buka, S, Horton, N, Donatelli, J, Rieder, R, Tsuang, M. Impact of genetic vulnerability and hypoxia on overall intelligence by age 7 in offspring at high risk for schizophrenia compared with affective psychosis. Schizophr Bull 2000; 26(2): 323-334.

Goodman, SH. Emory University Project on children of disturbed parents. Schizophr Bull 1987; 13(3): 411-423.

Goodman, SH, Brumley, HE. Schizophrenic and depressed mothers: relational deficits in parenting. Dev Psychol 1990; 26: 31-39.

Goodman, S, Emory, E. Perinatal complications in births to low socioeconomic status schizophrenic and depressed women. J Abnorm Psychol 1992; 101(2): 225-229.

Gottesman, II, Shields, J. A polygenic theory of schizophrenia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1967; 58(1): 199-205.

Gottesmann, II, Shields, J. Schizophrenia: The Epigenetic Puzzle. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA, 1982: 75-77.

Gottesman, II. Schizophrenia epigenesis: past, present, and future. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1994; 90: 26-33.

Gottesman, II, Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L. Family and twin strategies as a head start in defining prodromes and endophenotypes for hypothetical early-interventions in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2001; 51(1): 93-102.

Gourion, D, Goldberger, C, Olie, JP, Loo, H, Krebs, MO. Neurological and morphological anomalies and the genetic liability to schizophrenia: a composite phenotype. Schizophr Res 2004; 67(1): 23-31.

Hambrecht, M. A second case of schizophrenia in the family: is it observed differently? Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 1995; 245(4-5): 267-269.

Hans, S, Marcus, J, Nuechterlein, K, Asarnow, R, Styr, B, Auerbach, J. Neurobehavioral deficits at adolescence in children at risk for schizophrenia: The Jerusalem Infant Development Study. AGP 1999; 56: 741-748.

Hare, EH, Price, JS. Birth rank in schizophrenia: with a consideration of the bias due to changes in birth-rate. Br J Psychiatry 1970; 116(533): 409-420.

Harrison, G, Fouskakis, D, Rasmussen, F, Tynelius, P, Sipos, A, Gunnell, D. Association between psychotic disorder and urban place of birth is not mediated by obstetric complications or childhood socio-economic position: a cohort study. Psychol Med 2003; 33(4): 723-731.

Harrison, PJ, Owen, MJ. Genes for schizophrenia? Recent findings and their pathophysiological implications. Lancet 2003; 361(9355): 417-419.

Hastie, T, Tibshirani, R. Generalized additive models. Chapman and Hall, London, UK, 1990.

Haukka, J, Suvisaari, J, Varilo, T, Lönnqvist, J. Regional variation in the incidence of schizophrenia in Finland: a study of birth cohorts born from 1950 to 1969. Psychol Med 2001; 31: 1045-1053.

Heckers, S. Neuropathology of schizophrenia: Cortex, thalamus, basal ganglia, and neurotransmitter-specific projection systems. Schizophr Bull 1997; 23(3): 403-421.

Hennah, W, Varilo, T, Kestila, M, Paunio, T, Arajarvi, R, Haukka, J, Parker, A, Martin, R, Levitzky, S, Partonen, T, Meyer, J, Lonnqvist, J, Peltonen, L, Ekelund, J. Haplotype transmission analysis provides evidence of association for DISC1 to schizophrenia and suggests sex-dependent effects. Hum Mol Genet 2003; 12(23): 3151-3159.

Hodges, A, Byrne, M, Grant, E, Johnstone, E. People at risk of schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 1999; 174: 547-553.

Hollister, J, Laing, P, Mednick, S. Rhesus incompatibility as a risk factor for schizophrenia in male adults. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996; 53: 19-24.

Holmes, SE, Slaughter, JR, Kashani, J. Risk factors in childhood that lead to the development of conduct disorder and antisocial personality disorder. Child Psychiatry Hum Dev 2001; 31(3): 183-193.

Hovatta, I, Terwilliger, JD, Lichtermann, D, Makikyro, T, Suvisaari, J, Peltonen, L, Lonnqvist, J. Schizophrenia in the genetic isolate of Finland. Am J Med Genet 1997; 74(4): 353-360.

Howes, OD, McDonald, C, Cannon, M, Arseneault, L, Boydell, J, Murray, RM. Pathways to schizophrenia: the impact of environmental factors. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 2004; 7 Suppl 1: 7-13.

Ihaka, R, Gentleman, R. R: A Language for Data Analysis and Graphics. Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics 1996; 5(3): 299-314.

Ingraham, L, Kugelmass, S, Frenkel, E, Nathan, M, Mirsky, A. Twenty-Five-Year Followup of the Israeli High-Risk Study: Current and Lifetime Psychopathology. Schizophr Bull 1995; 21(2): 183-192.

Ismail, B, Cantor-Graae, E, McNeil, T. Minor physical anomalies in schizophrenia patients and their siblings. Am J Psychiatry 1998; 155: 1695-1702.

Isohanni, I, Järvelin, M-R, Jones, P, Jokelainen, J, Isohanni, M. School performance as a predictor of psychiatric hospitalization in adult life. A 28-year follow-up in the Northern Finland 1966 birth cohort. Psychol Med 1998; 28: 967-974.

Isohanni, I, Järvelin, M-R, Jones, P, Jokelainen, J, Isohanni, M. Can excellent school performance be a precursor of schizophrenia? A 28-year follow-up in the Northern Finland 1966 birth cohort. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1999; 100: 17-26.

Isohanni, I, Jarvelin, MR, Rantakallio, P, Jokelainen, J, Jones, PB, Nieminen, P, Croudace, T, Isohanni, M. Juvenile and early adulthood smoking and adult educational achievements -a 31-year follow-up of the Northern Finland 1966 Birth Cohort. Scand J Public Health 2001a; 29(2): 87-95.

Isohanni, M, Mäkikyrö, T, Moring, J, Räsänen, P, Hakko, H, Partanen, U, Koiranen, M, Jones, P. A comparison of clinical and research DSM-III-R diagnoses of schizophrenia in a Finnish national birth cohort. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 1997; 32: 303-308.

Isohanni, M, Jones, P, Kemppainen, L, Croudace, T, Isohanni, I, Veijola, J, Rasanen, S, Wahlberg, KE, Tienari, P, Rantakallio, P. Childhood and adolescent predictors of schizophrenia in the Northern Finland 1966 birth cohort -a descriptive life-span model. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2000; 250(6): 311-319.

Isohanni, M, Jones, PB, Moilanen, K, Rantakallio, P, Veijola, J, Oja, H, Koiranen, M, Jokelainen, J, Croudace, T, Jarvelin, M. Early developmental milestones in adult schizophrenia and other psychoses. A 31-year follow-up of the Northern Finland 1966 Birth Cohort. Schizophr Res 2001b; 52(1-2): 1-19.

Isohanni, M, Murray, G, Jokelainen, J, Croudace, T, Jones, P. The persistence of developmental markers in childhood and adolescence and risk for schizophrenic psychoses in adult life. A 34-year follow-up of the Northern Finland 1966 Birth cohort. Schizophr Res 2004; 71(2-3): 213-225.

Jablensky, A, Sartorius, N, Ernberg, G, Anker, M, Korten, A, Cooper, JE, Day, R, Bertelsen, A. Schizophrenia: manifestations, incidence, and course in different cultures. A World Health Organization Ten-Country Study. Psychol Med 1992; Suppl. 20: 1-97.

Jaffee, SR, Moffitt, TE, Caspi, A, Fombonne, E, Poulton, R, Martin, J. Differences in early childhood risk factors for juvenile-onset and adult-onset depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2002; 59(3): 215-222.

James, C, Worland, J. School behavior in adolescent children of parents with mental disorder. J Nerv Ment Dis 1983; 171: 234-240.

Janssen, I, Krabbendam, L, Bak, M, Hanssen, M, Vollebergh, W, de Graaf, R, van Os, J. Childhood abuse as a risk factor for psychotic experiences. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2004; 109(1): 38-45.

Johnstone, E, Abukmeil, S, Byrne, M, Clafferty, R, Grant, E, Hodges, A, Lawrie, S, Owens, D. Edinburgh High Risk Study -findings after four years: demographic, attainment and psychopathological issues. Schizophr Res 2000; 46: 1-15.

Johnstone, EC, Lawrie, SM, Cosway, R. What does the Edinburgh high-risk study tell us about schizophrenia? Am J Med Genet 2002; 114(8): 906-912.

Jones, P, Rodgers, B, Murray, R, Marmot, M. Child developmental risk factors for adult schizophrenia in the British 1946 birth cohort. Lancet 1994; 344: 1398-1402.

Jones, P, Rantakallio, P, Hartikainen, A-L, Isohanni, M, Sipilä, P. Schizophrenia as a long-term outcome of pregnancy, delivery, and perinatal complications: A 28-Year follow-up of the 1966 North Finland general population Birth Cohort. Am J Psychiatry 1998; 155(3): 355-364.

Jones, P, Tarrant, C. Specificity of developmental precursors to schizophrenia and affective disorders. Schizophr Res 1999; 39: 121-125.

Joukamaa, M, Heliovaara, M, Knekt, P, Aromaa, A, Raitasalo, R, Lehtinen, V. Mental disorders and cause-specific mortality. Br J Psychiatry 2001; 179: 498-502.

Joyce, PR, McKenzie, JM, Luty, SE, Mulder, RT, Carter, JD, Sullivan, PF, Cloninger, CR. Temperament, childhood environment and psychopathology as risk factors for avoidant and borderline personality disorders. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2003; 37(6): 756-64.

Jorgensen, Å, Taesdale, TW, Parnas, J, Schulsinger, F, Schulsinger, H, Mednick, SA. The Copenhagen High-Risk Project: The diagnosis of maternal schizophrenia and it's relation to offspring diagnosis. Br J Psychiatry 1987; 151: 753-757.

Kelly, BD, Feeney, L, O'Callaghan, E, Browne, R, Byrne, M, Mulryan, N, Scully, A, Morris, M, Kinsella, A, Takei, N, McNeil, T, Walsh, D, Larkin, C. Obstetric adversity and age at first presentation with schizophrenia: evidence of a dose-response relationship. Am J Psychiatry 2004; 161(5): 920-922.

Kemppainen, L, Makikyro, T, Jokelainen, J, Nieminen, P, Jarvelin, MR, Isohanni, M. Is grand multiparity associated with offsprings' hospital-treated mental disorders? A 28-year follow-up of the North Finland 1966 birth cohort. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2000; 35(3): 104-108.

Kemppainen, L, Veijola, J, Jokelainen, J, Hartikainen, AL, Jarvelin, MR, Jones, P, Croudace, T, Isohanni, M. Birth order and risk for schizophrenia: a 31-year follow-up of the Northern Finland 1966 Birth Cohort. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2001; 104(2): 148-152.

Kendell, R, McInneny, K, Juszczak, E, Bain, M. Obstetric complications and schizophrenia. Two case-control studies based on structured obstetric records. Br J Psychiatry 2000; 174: 516-522.

Kendler, KS, Davis, KL. The genetics and biochemistry of paranoid schizophrenia and other paranoid psychoses. Schizophr Bull 1981; 7(4): 689-709.

Kendler, KS, Gruenberg, AM. An independent analysis of the Danish Adoption Study of Schizophrenia. VI. The relationship between psychiatric disorders as defined by DSM-III in the relatives and adoptees. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1984; 41(6): 555-564.

Kendler, KS, Gruenberg, AM, Tsuang, MT. Psychiatric illness in first-degree relatives of schizophrenic and surgical control patients. A family study using DSM-III criteria. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1985; 42(8): 770-779.

Kendler, KS, Gruenberg, AM, Tsuang, MT. A DSM-III family study of the nonschizophrenic psychotic disorders. Am J Psychiatry 1986; 143: 1098-1105.

Kendler, KS, Gruenberg, AM, Tsuang, MT. A family study of the subtypes of schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 1988; 145(1): 57-62.

Kendler, KS, Diehl, SR. The genetics of schizophrenia: a current, genetic-epidemiologic perspective. Schizophr Bull 1993; 19(2): 261-285.

Kendler, KS, McGuire, M, Gruenberg, A, O'Hare, A, Spellman, M, Walsh, D. The Roscommon Family Study I. Methods, diagnosis of probands, and risk of schizophrenia in relatives. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993a; 50: 527-540.

Kendler, KS, McGuire, M, Gruenberg, AM, O'Hare, A, Spellman, M, Walsh, D. The Roscommon Family Study. III. Schizophrenia-related personality disorders in relatives. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993b; 50(10): 781-788.

Kendler, KS, McGuire, M, Gruenberg, AM, Spellman, M, O'Hare, A, Walsh, D. The Roscommon Family Study. II. The risk of nonschizophrenic nonaffective psychoses in relatives. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993c; 50(8): 645-52.

Kendler, KS, Gruenberg, AM, Kinney, DK. Independent diagnoses of adoptees and relatives as defined by DSM-III in the provincial and national samples of the Danish Adoption Study of Schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1994a; 51: 456-468.

Kendler, KS, McGuire, M, Gruenberg, AM, Walsh, D. Clinical heterogeneity in schizophrenia and the pattern of psychopathology in relatives: results from an epidemiologically based family study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1994b; 89(5): 294-300.

Kendler, KS, McGuire, M, Gruenberg, AM, Walsh, D. Outcome and family study of the subtypes of schizophrenia in the west of Ireland. Am J Psychiatry 1994c; 151(6): 849-856.

Kendler, KS, Gallagher, TJ, Abelson, JM, Kessler, RC. Lifetime prevalence, demographic risk factors, and diagnostic validity of nonaffective psychosis as assessed in a US community sample. The National Comorbidity Survey. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996; 53(11): 1022-1031.

Kendler, K, Krakowski-Shuman, L, O'Neill, A, Straub, R, MacLean, C, Walsh, D. Resemblance of psychotic symptoms and syndromes in affected sibling pairs from the Irish Study of high-density schizophrenia families: evidence for possible etiologic heterogenity. Am J Psychiatry 1997a; 154: 191-198.

Kendler, KS, Karkowski-Shuman, L, O'Neill, FA, Straub, RE, MacLean, CJ, Walsh, D. Resemblance of psychotic symptoms and syndromes in affected sibling pairs from the Irish Study of High-Density Schizophrenia Families: evidence for possible etiologic heterogeneity. Am J Psychiatry 1997b; 154(2): 191-198.

Kendler, KS, Gardner, CO, Jr. Twin studies of adult psychiatric and substance dependence disorders: are they biased by differences in the environmental experiences of monozygotic and dizygotic twins in childhood and adolescence? Psychol Med 1998; 28(3): 625-633.

Keskimäki, I, Aro, S. Accuracy of data diagnoses, procedures and accidents in the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register. International Journal of Health Sciences 1991; 2: 15-21.

Kety, S, Wender, P, Jacobsen, B, Ingraham, L, Jansson, L, Faber, B. Mental illness in the biological and adoptive relatives of schizophrenic adoptees. Replication of the Copenhagen Study in the rest of Denmark. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1994; 51: 442-455.

Kitamura, T, Okazaki, Y, Fujinawa, A, Yoshino, M, Kasahara, Y. Symptoms of psychoses. A factor-analytic study. Br J Psychiatry 1995; 166(2): 236-240.

Klein, M. Envy and gratitude and other works 1946-1963. The Hogarth Press ltd, London, UK, 1980.

Klein, RH, Salzman, LF. Response - contingent learnings in children at risk. Children at risk for schizophrenia. A longitudinal perspective. Eds: Watt, NF, Anthony, JE, Wynne, L and Rolf, JE. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA, 1984: 371-375.

Knop, J, Penick, EC, Jensen, P, Nickel, EJ, Gabrielli, WF, Mednick, SA, Schulsinger, F. Risk factors that predicted problem drinking in Danish men at age thirty. J Stud Alcohol 2003; 64(6): 745-755.

Koponen, H, Rantakallio, P, Veijola, J, Jones, P, Jokelainen, J, Isohanni, M. Childhood central nervous system infections and risk for schizophrenia. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2004; 254(1): 9-13.

Korkeila, JA, Lehtinen, V, Tuori, T, Helenius, H. Patterns of psychiatric hospital service use in Finland: a national register study of hospital discharges in the early 1990s. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 1998; 33(5): 218-223.

Kraepelin, E, Barclay, R, Robertson, G. Dementia praecox and paraphenia. EdS: Livingstone, E, Livingstone, S. Edinburgh, UK, 1919.

Kremen, W, Buka, S, Seidman, L, Goldstein, J, Koren, D, Tsuang, M. IQ decline during childhood and adult psychotic symptoms in a community sample: a 19-year longitudinal study. Am J Psychiatry 1998; 155: 672-677.

Kugelmass, S, Faber, N, Ingraham, LJ, Frenkel, E, Nathan, M, Mirsky, AF, Shakhar, GB. Reanalysis of SCOR and Anxiety Measures in the Israeli High-Risk Study. Schizophr Bull 1995; 21(2): 205-217.

Kuh, D, Wadsworth, M. Parental height: childhood environment and subsequent adult height in a national birth cohort. Int J Epidemiol 1989; 18(3): 663-668.

Lam, D, Miron, J, Riley, A. Modeling seasonality in fecundability, conceptions, and births. Demography 2002; 31: 321-346.

Laruelle, M, Kegeles, LS, Abi-Dargham, A. Glutamate, dopamine, and schizophrenia: from pathophysiology to treatment. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2003; 1003: 138-158.

Law, CM, Shiell, AW, Newsome, CA, Syddall, HE, Shinebourne, EA, Fayers, PM, Martyn, CN, de Swiet, M. Fetal, infant, and childhood growth and adult blood pressure: a longitudinal study from birth to 22 years of age. Circulation 2002; 105(9): 1088-1092.

Lawrie, SM, Abukmeil, SS. Brain abnormality in schizophrenia. A systematic and quantitative review of volumetric magnetic resonance imaging studies. Br J Psychiatry 1998; 172: 110-120.

Lawrie, S, Whalley, H, Kestelman, J, Abukmeil, S, Byrne, M, Hodges, A, Owens, D, Johnstone, E. Magnetic resonance imaging of brain in people at high risk of developing schizophrenia. Lancet 1999; 353: 30-33.

Lawrie, SM, Whalley, HC, Abukmeil, SS, Kestelman, JN, Donnelly, L, Miller, P, Best, JJ, Owens, DG, Johnstone, EC. Brain structure, genetic liability, and psychotic symptoms in subjects at high risk of developing schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 2001; 49(10): 811-823.

Lehtinen, V, Joukamaa, M, Lahtela, K, Raitasalo, R, Maatela, J, Aromaa, A. Prevalence of mental disorders among adults in Finland: basic results from the Mini Finland Health Survey. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1990; 81: 418-425.

Lehtinen, V, Joukamaa, M, Jyrkinen, T, Lahtela, K, Raitasalo, R, Maatela, J, Aromaa, A. Mental Health and Mental Disorders in the Finnish Adult Population. Publications of the Social Insurance Institution, Helsinki, Finland, 1991.

Lencz, T, Smith, CW, Auther, A, Correll, CU, Cornblatt, B. Nonspecific and attenuated negative symptoms in patients at clinical high-risk for schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2004; 68(1): 37-48.

Lewis, CM, Levinson, DF, Wise, LH, DeLisi, LE, Straub, RE, Hovatta, I, Williams, NM, Schwab, SG, Pulver, AE, Faraone, SV, Brzustowicz, LM, Kaufmann, CA, Garver, DL, Gurling, HM, Lindholm, E, Coon, H, Moises, HW, Byerley, W, Shaw, SH, Mesen, A, Sherrington, R, O'Neill, FA, Walsh, D, Kendler, KS, Ekelund, J, Paunio, T, Lonnqvist, J, Peltonen, L, O'Donovan, MC, Owen, MJ, Wildenauer, DB, Maier, W, Nestadt, G, Blouin, JL, Antonarakis, SE, Mowry, BJ, Silverman, JM, Crowe, RR, Cloninger, CR, Tsuang, MT, Malaspina, D, Harkavy-Friedman, JM, Svrakic, DM, Bassett, AS, Holcomb, J, Kalsi, G, McQuillin, A, Brynjolfson, J, Sigmundsson, T, Petursson, H, Jazin, E, Zoega, T, Helgason, T. Genome scan meta-analysis of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder, part II: Schizophrenia. Am J Hum Genet 2003; 73(1): 34-48.

Lieberman, J. Is schizophrenia a neurodegenerative disorder? A clinical and neurobiological perspective. Biol Psychiatry 1999; 46: 729-739.

Lifshitz, M, Kugelmass, S, Karov, M. Perceptual-motor and memory performance of high-risk children. Schizophr Bull 1985; 11(1): 74-84.

Lukoff, D, Snyder, K, Ventura, J, Nuechterlein, KH. Life events, familial stress, and coping in the developmental course of schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 1984; 10(2): 258-292.

Maki, P, Veijola, J, Joukamaa, M, Laara, E, Hakko, H, Jones, PB, Isohanni, M. Maternal separation at birth and schizophrenia -a long-term follow-up of the Finnish Christmas Seal Home Children. Schizophr Res 2003; 60(1): 13-19.

Malaspina, D, Harlap, S, Fennig, S, Heiman, D, Nahon, D, Feldman, D, Susser, ES. Advancing paternal age and the risk of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001; 58(4): 361-367.

Malmberg, A, Lewis, G, David, A, Allebeck, P. Premorbid adjustment and personality in people with schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 1998; 172: 308-313.

Marcus, J, Auerbach, J, Wilkinson, L, Burack, C. Infants at risk for schizophrenia, The Jerusalem Infant Development Study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1981; 38: 703-713.

Marcus, J, Hans, S, Lewow, E, Wilkinson, L, Burack, C. Neurological findings in high-risk children: Childhood assessment and 5-year followup. Schizophr Bull 1985; 11(1): 85-100.

Marcus, J, Hans, SL, Nagler, S, Auerbach, JG, Mirsky, AF, Aubrey, A. Review of the NIMH Israeli Kibbutz-City Study and the Jerusalem Infant Development Study. Schizophr Bull 1987; 13(3): 425-438.

Marcus, J, Hans, S, Auerbach, J, Auerbach, A. Children at risk for schizophrenia: The Jerusalem Infant Development Study: II. Neurobehavioral deficits at school age. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993; 50: 797-809.

Martin, N, Boomsma, D, Machin, G. A twin-pronged attack on complex traits. Nat Genet 1997; 17(4): 387-392.

MathSoft. S-PLUS, Version 3.4 for Unix Supplement, Seattle, USA, 1996.

McCarley, RW, Wible, CG, Frumin, M, Hirayasu, Y, Levitt, JJ, Fischer, IA, Shenton, ME. MRI anatomy of schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 1999; 45(9): 1099-1119.

McCullagh, P, Nelder, J. A. Generalized linear models. Chapman and Hall, London, UK, 1994.

McDonald, C, Grech, A, Toulopoulou, T, Schulze, K, Chapple, B, Sham, P, Walshe, M, Sharma, T, Sigmundsson, T, Chitnis, X, Murray, RM. Brain volumes in familial and non-familial schizophrenic probands and their unaffected relatives. Am J Med Genet 2002; 114(6): 616-625.

McGlashan, T, Hoffman, R. Schizophrenia as a disorder of developmentally reduced synaptic connectivity. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000; 57: 637-648.

McGorry, PD, Bell, RC, Dudgeon, PL, Jackson, HJ. The dimensional structure of first episode psychosis: an exploratory factor analysis. Psychol Med 1998; 28(4): 935-947.

McGrath, J, Welham, J, Pemberton, M. Month of birth, hemisphere of birth and schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 1995; 167(6): 783-785.

McGrath, JJ, Feron, FP, Burne, TH, Mackay-Sim, A, Eyles, DW. The neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia: a review of recent developments. Ann Med 2003; 35(2): 86-93.

McGrath, J, Saari, K, Hakko, H, Jokelainen, J, Jones, P, Jarvelin, MR, Chant, D, Isohanni, M. Vitamin D supplementation during the first year of life and risk of schizophrenia: a Finnish birth cohort study. Schizophr Res 2004a; 67(2-3): 237-245.

McGrath, JJ, Saha, S, Welham, J, El Saadi, O, MacCauley, C, Chant, DC. A systematic review of the incidence of schizophrenia: the distribution of rates and the influence of sex, urbanicity, migrant status and methodology. BMC Med 2004b; 2(1): 13.

McGue, M, Gottesman, II. A single dominant gene still cannot account for the transmission of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1989; 46(5): 478-480.

McGuffin, P, Farmer, A., Harvey, I. A polydiagnostic application of operational criteria in studies of psychotic illness. Development and reliability of the OPCRIT System. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1991; 48: 764-770.

McNeil, TF, Kaij, L, Malquist-Larsson, A, Näslund, B, Persson-Blennow, I, McNeil, N, Blennow, G. Offspring of women with nonorganic psychoses: Development of a longitudinal study of children at high risk. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1983; 68: 234-250.

McNeil, TF, Näslund, B, Persson-Blennow, I, Kaij, L. Offspring of women with nonorganic psychosis: mother-infant interaction at three- and -a-half and six months of age. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1985; 71: 551-558.

McNeil, T, Kaij, L. Swedish High-Risk Study: Sample characteristics at age 6. Schizophr Bull 1987; 13(3): 373-381.

McNeil, T, Cantor-Graae, E, Cardenal, S. Prenatal cerebral development in individuals at genetic risk for psychosis: head size at birth in offspring of women with schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 1993a; 10: 1-5.

McNeil, T, Harty, B, Blennow, G, Cantor-Graae, E. Neuromotor deviation in offspring of psychotic mothers: a selective developmental deficiency in two groups of children at heightened psychiatric risk. J Psychiatr Res 1993b; 27: 39-54.

Mednick, S, McNeil, T. Current methodology in resarch on the etiology of schizophrenia. Psychol Bull 1968; 70(6): 681-693.

Mednick, S, Schulsinger, F. Some premorbid characteristics related to breakdown in children with schizophrenic mothers. J Psychiatr Res 1968; (6): 267-291.

Mednick, S. Breakdown in individuals at high risk for schizophrenia. Possible predispositional perinatal factors. Ment Hyg 1970; 54: 50-63.

Mednick, SA, Parnas, J, Schulsinger, F. The Copenhagen High-Risk Project, 1962-86. Schizophr Bull 1987; 13(3): 485-495.

Mednick, S, Machon, R, Huttunen, M, Bonett, D. Adult schizophrenia following prenatal exposure to an influenca epidemic. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1988; 45: 189-192.

Metsanen, M, Wahlberg, KE, Saarento, O, Tarvainen, T, Miettunen, J, Koistinen, P, Laksy, K, Tienari, P. Early presence of thought disorder as a prospective sign of mental disorder. Psychiatry Res 2004; 125(3): 193-203.

Michie, P, Kent, A, Stienstra, R, Castine, R, Johnson, J, Dedman, K, Wichmann, H, Box, J, Rock, D, Rutherford, E, Jablensky, A. Phenotypic markers as risk factors in schizophrenia: Neurocognitive functions. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 2000; 34 (Suppl): 74-85.

Millar, JK, Wilson-Annan, JC, Anderson, S, Christie, S, Taylor, MS, Semple, CA, Devon, RS, Clair, DM, Muir, WJ, Blackwood, DH, Porteous, DJ. Disruption of two novel genes by a translocation co-segregating with schizophrenia. Hum Mol Genet 2000; 9(9): 1415-1423.

Miller, P, Byrne, M, Hodges, A, Lawrie, SM, Owens, DG, Johnstone, EC. Schizotypal components in people at high risk of developing schizophrenia: early findings from the Edinburgh High-Risk Study. Br J Psychiatry 2002a; 180: 179-184.

Miller, PM, Byrne, M, Hodges, A, Lawrie, SM, Johnstone, EC. Childhood behaviour, psychotic symptoms and psychosis onset in young people at high risk of schizophrenia: early findings from the edinburgh high risk study. Psychol Med 2002b; 32(1): 173-179.

Miller, PM, Lawrie, SM, Byrne, M, Cosway, R, Johnstone, EC. Self-rated schizotypal cognitions, psychotic symptoms and the onset of schizophrenia in young people at high risk of schizophrenia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2002c; 105(5): 341-345.

Mirsky, A, Kugelmass, S, Ingraham, L, Frenkel, E, Nathan, M. Overview and summary: Twenty-five-year followup of High-Risk Children. Schizophr Bull 1995a; 21(2): 227-239.

Mirsky, A, Silberman, E, Latz, A, Nagler, S. Adult outcomes of High-Risk Children: Differential effects of town and kibbutz rearing. Schizophr Bull 1995b; 21(2): 150-154.

Moffitt, TE. Adolescence-limited and life-course-persistent antisocial behavior: a developmental taxonomy. Psychol Rev 1993; 100(4): 674-701.

Moffitt, TE, Caspi, A, Harrington, H, Milne, BJ. Males on the life-course-persistent and adolescence-limited antisocial pathways: follow-up at age 26 years. Dev Psychopathol 2002; 14(1): 179-207.

Mortensen, PB, Pedersen, CB, Westergaard, T, Wohlfahrt, J, Ewald, H, Mors, O, Andersen, PK, Melbye, M. Effects of family history and place and season of birth on the risk of schizophrenia. N Engl J Med 1999; 340(8): 603-8.

Mueser, KT, McGurk, SR. Schizophrenia. Lancet 2004; 363(9426): 2063-2072.

Munk-Jorgensen, P, Mortensen, PB. Incidence and other aspects of the epidemiology of schizophrenia in Denmark, 1971-87. Br J Psychiatry 1992; 161: 489-495.

Murphy, K, Owen, M. Minor physical anomalies and their relationship to the aetiology of schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 1996; 168: 139-142.

Murphy, K, Owen, M. Velo-cardio-facial syndrome: a model for understanding the genetics and pathogenesis of schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 2001; 179: 397-402.

Murray, RM, Lewis, SW. Is schizophrenia a neurodevelopmental disorder? Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1987; 295(6600): 681-682.

Murray, RM, Fearon, P. The developmental 'risk factor' model of schizophrenia. J Psychiatr Res 1999; 33(6): 497-499.

Nagler, S, Glueck, Z. The clinical interview. Schizophr Bull 1985; 11(1): 38-47.

Neale, JM, Winters, KC, Weintraub, S. Information processing deficits in children at high risk for schizophrenia. Children at risk for schizophrenia. A longitudinal perspective. Eds: Watt, NF, Anthony, JE, Wynne, L and Rolf, JE. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA, 1984: 264-277.

Norman, RM, Malla, AK. Stressful life events and schizophrenia. I: A review of the research. Br J Psychiatry 1993; 162: 161-166.

Nuechterlein, KH. Sustained attention among children vulnerable to adult schizophrenia and among hyperactive children. Children at risk for schizophrenia. A longitudinal perspective. Eds: Watt, NF, Anthony, JE, Wynne, L and Rolf, JE. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA, 1984: 304-312.

Näslund, B, Persson-Blennow, I, McNeil, T, Kaij, L, Malmquist-Larsson, A. Deviations on exploration, attachment, and fear of strangers in high-risk and control infants at one year of age. Am J Orthopsychiatry 1984a; 54: 569-577.

Näslund, B, Persson-Blennow, I, McNeil, T, Kaij, L, Malmquist-Larsson, A. Offspring of women with nonorganic psychosis: infant attachment to the mother at one year of age. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1984b; 69: 231-241.

Näslund, B, Persson-Blennow, I, McNeil, TF, Kaij, L. Offspring of women with nonorganic psychosis: mother-infant interaction at three and six weeks of age. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1985; 71: 441-450.

O'Callaghan, E, Sham, PC, Takei, N, Murray, G, Glover, G, Hare, EH, Murray, RM. The relationship of schizophrenic births to 16 infectious diseases. Br J Psychiatry 1994; 165(3): 353-356.

O'Donovan, MC, Williams, NM, Owen, MJ. Recent advances in the genetics of schizophrenia. Hum Mol Genet 2003; 12 Spec No 2: 125-133.

O'Driscoll, GA, Florencio, PS, Gagnon, D, Wolff, AV, Benkelfat, C, Mikula, L, Lal, S, Evans, AC. Amygdala-hippocampal volume and verbal memory in first-degree relatives of schizophrenic patients. Psychiatry Res 2001; 107(2): 75-85.

- Olin, S-CS, John, RS, Mednick, SA. Assessing the predictive value of teacher reports in a high risk sample for schizophrenia: a ROC analysis. Schizophr Res 1995; 16: 53-66.
- Ott, S, Allen, J, Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L. The New York High-Risk Project: Observations on the rating of early manifestations of schizophrenia. American Journal of Medical Genetics (Neuropsychiatric genetics) 2001; 105: 25-27.
- Ott, SL, Roberts, S, Rock, D, Allen, J, Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L. Positive and negative thought disorder and psychopathology in childhood among subjects with adulthood schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2002; 58(2-3): 231-239.
- Owen, MJ, O'Donovan, MC, Gottesman, II. Schizophrenia. Psychiatric Genetics and Genomics. P. McGuffin, M. J. Owen and I. I. Gottesman. Oxford University Press, New York, USA, 2002: 247-266.
- Ozeki, Y, Tomoda, T, Kleiderlein, J, Kamiya, A, Bord, L, Fujii, K, Okawa, M, Yamada, N, Hatten, ME, Snyder, SH, Ross, CA, Sawa, A. Disrupted-in-Schizophrenia-1 (DISC-1): mutant truncation prevents binding to NudE-like (NUDEL) and inhibits neurite outgrowth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003; 100(1): 289-294.
- Palmer, CG, Turunen, JA, Sinsheimer, JS, Minassian, S, Paunio, T, Lonnqvist, J, Peltonen, L, Woodward, JA. RHD maternal-fetal genotype incompatibility increases schizophrenia susceptibility. Am J Hum Genet 2002; 71(6): 1312-1319.
- Parizkova, J. Interaction between physical activity and nutrition early in life and their impact on later development. Nutrition Research Reviews 1998; 11: 1-21.
- Parnas, J, Schulsinger, F, Schulsinger, H, Mednick, SA, Taesdale, TW. Behavioral precursors of schizophrenia spectrum. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1982; 39: 658-664.
- Parnas, J. Mates of schizophrenic mothers, a study of assortative mating from the American-Danish High Risk Project. Br J Psychiatry 1985; 146: 490-497.
- Parnas, J, Taesdale, TW, Schulsinger, H. Institutional rearing and diagnostic outcome in children of schizophrenic mothers. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1985; 42: 762-769.
- Parnas, J, Cannon, T, Jacobsen, B, Schulsinger, H, Schulsinger, F, Mednick, S. Lifetime DSM-III-R diagnostic outcomes in the offspring of schizophrenic mothers. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993; 50: 707-714.
- Peck, MN, Lundberg, O. Short stature as an effect of economic and social conditions in childhood. Soc Sci Med 1995; 41(5): 733-738.

Pedersen, C, Mortensen, P. Family history, place and season of birth as risk factors for schizophrenia in Denmark: a replication and reanalysis. Br J Psychiatry 2001a; 179: 46-52.

Pedersen, CB, Mortensen, PB. Evidence of a dose-response relationship between urbanicity during upbringing and schizophrenia risk. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001b; 58(11): 1039-1046.

Peralta, V, Cuesta, MJ. How many and which are the psychopathological dimensions in schizophrenia? Issues influencing their ascertainment. Schizophr Res 2001; 49(3): 269-285.

Persson-Blennow, I, Näslund, B, McNeil, TF, Kaij, L. Offspring of women with nonorganic psychosis: mother-infant interaction at one year of age. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1986; 73: 207-213.

Persson-Blennow, I, Binett, B, McNeil, T. Offspring of women with nonorganic psychosis: mother-infant interaction and fear of strangers during the first year of life. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1988; 78: 379-383.

Petronis, A. The origin of schizophrenia: genetic thesis, epigenetic antithesis, and resolving synthesis. Biol Psychiatry 2004; 55(10): 965-970.

Pettit, D, Baird, H, Aleck, Kea. Excessive obesity in offspring of Pima Indian women with diabetes during pregnancy. N Engl J Med 1983; 308: 43-45.

Poulton, R, Caspi, A, Moffitt, TE, Cannon, M, Murray, R, Harrington, H. Children's self-reported psychotic symptoms and adult schizophreniform disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000; 57: 1053-1058.

Raine, A, Yaralian, PS, Reynolds, C, Venables, PH, Mednick, SA. Spatial but not verbal cognitive deficits at age 3 years in persistently antisocial individuals. Dev Psychopathol 2002; 14(1): 25-44.

Rajarethinam, R, Sahni, S, Rosenberg, DR, Keshavan, MS. Reduced superior temporal gyrus volume in young offspring of patients with schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 2004; 161(6): 1121-1124.

Rantakallio, P, Jones, P, Moring, J, von Wendt, L. Association between central nervous system infections during childhood and adult onset schizophrenia and other psychoses: a 28-year follow-up. Int J Epidemiol 1997; 26(4): 837-843.

Ratakonda, S, Gorman, JM, Yale, SA, Amador, XF. Characterization of psychotic conditions. Use of the domains of psychopathology model. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1998; 55(1): 75-81.

Ravelli, G, Stein, Z, Susser, M. Obesity of young men after famine exposure in utero and early infancy. N Engl J Med 1976; 295: 349-353.

Reber, AS. Dictionary of Psychology. Penguin, St Ives plc, UK, 1985.

Reichenberg, A, Weiser, M, Rabinowitz, J, Caspi, A, Schmeidler, J, Mark, M, Kaplan, Z, Davidson, M. A population-based cohort study of premorbid intellectual, language, and behavioral functioning in patients with schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, and nonpsychotic bipolar disorder. Am J Psychiatry 2002; 159(12): 2027-2035.

Rieder, R, Rosenthal, D, Wender, P, Blumenthal, H. The offspring of schizophrenics: Fetal and neonatal deaths. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1975; 32: 200-211.

Rieder, R, Broman, S, Rosenthal, D. The offspring of schizophrenics: II. Perinatal factors and IQ. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1977; 34: 789-799.

Rieder, R, Nicholas, P. Offspring of schizophrenics III: Hyperactivity and neurological soft signs. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1979; 36: 665-674.

Rolf, J. The social and academic competence of children vulnerable to schizophrenia and other behavior pathologies. J Abnorm Psychol 1972; 80(3): 225-243.

Rosso, I, Bearden, C, Hollister, J, Gasperoni, T, Sanchez, L, Hadley, T, Cannon, T. Childhood neuromotor dysfunction in schizophrenia patients and their unaffected siblings: a prospective cohort study. Schizophr Bull 2000; 26: 367-378.

Rund, B, Borg, N. Cognitive deficits and cognitive training in schizophrenic patients: a review. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1999; 100: 85-95.

Rutter, M, Sroufe, L. Developmental psychopathology: Concepts and challenges. Dev Psychopathol 2000; 12: 265-296.

Salokangas, RKR, Marttila, J, Räkköläinen, V, Kaljonen, A, Kytölä, J. Reports for Psychiatrica Fennica, Report No 75: First-Contact psychiatric patients. Foundation for Psychiatric Research, Helsinki, Finland, 1987.

Salokangas, R. First-contact rate for schizophrenia in community psychiatric care. Consideration of the oestrogen hypothesis. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 1993; 242: 337-346.

Sameroff, A, Barocas, R, Seifer, R. The early development of children born to mentally ill women. Children at risk for schizophrenia. A longitudial perpective. Eds: Watt, NF, Anthony, JE, Wynne, L and Rolf, JE. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, New York, USA, 1984: 482-514.

Sameroff, AJ, Seifer, R, Zax, M, Barocas, R. Early indicators of developmental risk: Rochester Longitudinal Study. Schizophr Bull 1987; 13(3): 383-394.

Sameroff, AJ, Seifer, R, Baldwin, A, Baldwin, C. Stability of intelligence from preschool to adolescence: The influence of social and family risk factors. Child Dev 1993; 64: 80-97.

Sameroff, AJ, Bartko, WT, Baldwin, A, Baldwin, C, Seifer, R. Family and social influences on the development of child competence. Families, Risk, and Competence. Eds: Lewis, M and Feiring, C. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers, 1998: 187-206.

Sameroff, AJ. Developmental systems and psychopathology. Development and psychopatology 2000; 12: 297-312.

Schiffman, J, LaBrie, J, Carter, J, Cannon, T, Schulsinger, F, Parnas, J, Mednick, S. Perception of parent-child relationships in high-risk families, and adult schizophrenia outcome of offspring. J Psychiatr Res 2002; 36: 41-47.

Schreiber, H, Baur-Seack, K, Kornhuber, HH, Wallner, B, Friedrich, JM, De Winter, IM, Born, J. Brain morphology in adolescents at genetic risk for schizophrenia assessed by qualitative and quantitative magnetic resonance imaging. Schizophr Res 1999; 40(1): 81-84.

Schubert, EW, McNeil, TF. Prospective study of adult mental disturbance in offspring of women with psychosis. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2003; 60(5): 473-480.

Schubert, EW, McNeil, TF. Prospective study of neurological abnormalities in offspring of women with psychosis: birth to adulthood. Am J Psychiatry 2004; 161(6): 1030-1037.

Seidman, LJ, Faraone, SV, Goldstein, JM, Kremen, WS, Horton, NJ, Makris, N, Toomey, R, Kennedy, D, Caviness, VS, Tsuang, MT. Left hippocampal volume as a vulnerability indicator for schizophrenia: a magnetic resonance imaging morphometric study of nonpsychotic first-degree relatives. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2002; 59(9): 839-849.

Sham, PC, MacLean, CJ, Kendler, KS. Risk of schizophrenia and age difference with older siblings. Evidence for a maternal viral infection hypothesis? Br J Psychiatry 1993; 163: 627-33.

Shenton, ME, Dickey, CC, Frumin, M, McCarley, RW. A review of MRI findings in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2001; 49(1-2): 1-52.

Siever, LJ, Davis, KL. The pathophysiology of schizophrenia disorders: perspectives from the spectrum. Am J Psychiatry 2004; 161(3): 398-413.

Silventoinen, K, Lahelma, E, Rahkonen, O. Social background, adult body-height and health. Int J Epidemiol 1999; 28(5): 911-918.

Silventoinen, K, Lahelma, E, Lundberg, O, Rahkonen, O. Body height, birth cohort and social background in Finland and Sweden. Eur J Public Health 2001; 11(2): 124-129.

Siris, SG. Suicide and schizophrenia. J Psychopharmacol (Oxf) 2001; 15(2): 127-135.

Sobal, J, Stunkard, AJ. Socioeconomic status and obesity: a review of the literature. Psychol Bull 1989; 105(2): 260-275.

Sohlberg, S. Personality and neuropsychological performance of high-risk children. Schizophr Bull 1985; 11(1): 48-60.

Sohlberg, S, Yaniv, S. Social adjustment and cognitive performance of High-Risk Children. Schizophr Bull 1985; 11(1): 61-65.

SPSS. SPSS for Windows, Version 11.5.1. SPSS Inc, Chicago, USA, 2002.

Stefansson, H, Sigurdsson, E, Steinthorsdottir, V, Bjornsdottir, S, Sigmundsson, T, Ghosh, S, Brynjolfsson, J, Gunnarsdottir, S, Ivarsson, O, Chou, TT, Hjaltason, O, Birgisdottir, B, Jonsson, H, Gudnadottir, VG, Gudmundsdottir, E, Bjornsson, A, Ingvarsson, B, Ingason, A, Sigfusson, S, Hardardottir, H, Harvey, RP, Lai, D, Zhou, M, Brunner, D, Mutel, V, Gonzalo, A, Lemke, G, Sainz, J, Johannesson, G, Andresson, T, Gudbjartsson, D, Manolescu, A, Frigge, ML, Gurney, ME, Kong, A, Gulcher, JR, Petursson, H, Stefansson, K. Neuregulin 1 and susceptibility to schizophrenia. Am J Hum Genet 2002; 71(4): 877-892.

Stober, G, Franzek, E, Haubitz, I, Pfuhlmann, B, Beckmann, H. Gender differences and age of onset in the catatonic subtypes of schizophrenia. Psychopathology 1998; 31(6): 307-312.

Stompe, T, Ortwein-Swoboda, G, Ritter, K, Schanda, H, Friedmann, A. Are we witnessing the disappearance of catatonic schizophrenia? Compr Psychiatry 2002; 43(3): 167-174.

Straub, RE, Jiang, Y, MacLean, CJ, Ma, Y, Webb, BT, Myakishev, MV, Harris-Kerr, C, Wormley, B, Sadek, H, Kadambi, B, Cesare, AJ, Gibberman, A, Wang, X, O'Neill, FA, Walsh, D, Kendler, KS. Genetic variation in the 6p22.3 gene DTNBP1, the human ortholog of the mouse dysbindin gene, is associated with schizophrenia. Am J Hum Genet 2002; 71(2): 337-348.

Stunkard, AJ, Sorensen, TI, Hanis, C, Teasdale, TW, Chakraborty, R, Schull, WJ, Schulsinger, F. An adoption study of human obesity. N Engl J Med 1986; 314(4): 193-198.

Sullivan, PF, Kendler, KS, Neale, MC. Schizophrenia as a complex trait: evidence from a meta-analysis of twin studies. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2003; 60(12): 1187-1192.

Sundquist, K, Frank, G, Sundquist, J. Urbanisation and incidence of psychosis and depression: follow-up study of 4.4 million women and men in Sweden. Br J Psychiatry 2004; 184: 293-298.

Susser, E, Lin, S, Brown, A, Lumey, L, Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L. No relation between risk of schizophrenia and prenatal exposure to influenza in Holland. Am J Psychiatry 1994; 151: 922-924.

Susser, E, Neugebauer, R, Hoek, H, Brown, A, Lin, S, Labovitz, D, Gorman, J. Schizophrenia after prenatal famine: further evidence. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996; 53: 25-31.

Suvisaari, J, Haukka, J, Tanskanen, A, Hovi, T, Lönnqvist, J. Association between prenatal exposure to poliovirus infection and adult schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 1999a; 156(7): 1100-1102.

Suvisaari, JM, Haukka, JK, Tanskanen, AJ, Lonnqvist, JK. Decline in the incidence of schizophrenia in Finnish cohorts born from 1954 to 1965. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1999b; 56(8): 733-740.

Suvisaari, JM, Haukka, JK, Lonnqvist, JK. Season of birth among patients with schizophrenia and their siblings: evidence for the procreational habits hypothesis. Am J Psychiatry 2001; 158(5): 754-757.

Suvisaari, J, Mautemps, N, Haukka, J, Hovi, T, Lonnqvist, J. Childhood central nervous system viral infections and adult schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 2003; 160(6): 1183-1185.

Suvisaari, J. Skitsofrenian riskitekijät. Suomen Lääkärilehti 2004; 41: 3865-3969.

Tibbo, P, Hanstock, C, Valiakalayil, A, Allen, P. 3-T proton MRS investigation of glutamate and glutamine in adolescents at high genetic risk for schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 2004; 161(6): 1116-1118.

Tienari, P, Wynne, L. Adoption studies of schizophrenia. Ann Med 1994; 26: 233-237.

Tienari, P, Wynne, LC, Moring, J, Lahti, I, Naarala, M, Sorri, A, Wahlberg, KE, Saarento, O, Seitamaa, M, Kaleva, M, et al. The Finnish adoptive family study of schizophrenia. Implications for family research. Br J Psychiatry Suppl 1994; (23): 20-26.

Tienari, P, Wynne, L, Moring, J, Läksy, K, Nieminen, P, Sorri, A, Lahti, I, Wahlberg, K-E, Naarala, M, Kurki-Suonio, K, Saarento, O, Koistinen, P, Tarvainen, T, Hakko, H, Miettunen, J. Finnish adoptive family study: sample selection and adoptee DSM-III-R diagnoses. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2000; 101: 433-443.

Tienari, P, Wynne, LC, Laksy, K, Moring, J, Nieminen, P, Sorri, A, Lahti, I, Wahlberg, KE. Genetic boundaries of the schizophrenia spectrum: evidence from the Finnish Adoptive Family Study of Schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 2003; 160(9): 1587-1594.

Tienari, P, Wynne, LC, Sorri, A, Lahti, I, Laksy, K, Moring, J, Naarala, M, Nieminen, P, Wahlberg, KE. Genotype-environment interaction in schizophrenia-spectrum disorder. Long-term follow-up study of Finnish adoptees. Br J Psychiatry 2004; 184: 216-222.

Tochigi, M, Okazaki, Y, Kato, N, Sasaki, T. What causes seasonality of birth in schizophrenia? Neurosci Res 2004; 48(1): 1-11.

Torrey, E, Rawlings, R, Waldman, I. Schizophrenic births and viral diseases in two states. Schizophr Res 1988; 1: 73-77.

Torrey, E, Miller, J, Rawlings, R, Tolken, R. Seasonality of births in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a review of the literature. Schizophr Res 1997; 28: 1-38.

Tsuang, M. Schizophrenia: genes and environment. Biol Psychiatry 2000; 47: 210-220.

Tsuang, MT, Stone, WS, Faraone, SV. Toward reformulating the diagnosis of schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 2000; 157: 1041-1050.

Tunstall-Pedoe, H, Kuulasmaa, K, Amouyel, P, Arveiler, D, Rajakangas, AM, Pajak, A. Myocardial infarction and coronary deaths in the World Health Organization MONICA Project. Registration procedures, event rates, and case-fatality rates in 38 populations from 21 countries in four continents. Circulation 1994; 90(1): 583-612.

Wahlbeck, K, Forsen, T, Osmond, C, Barker, DJ, Eriksson, JG. Association of schizophrenia with low maternal body mass index, small size at birth, and thinness during childhood. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001; 58(1): 48-52.

Wahlberg, K-E, Wynne, L, Oja, H, Keskitalo, P, Pykäläinen, L, Lahti, I, Moring, J, Naarala, M, Sorri, A, Seitamaa, M, Läksy, K, Kolassa, J, Tienari, P. Gene-environment interaction in vulnerability to schizophrenia: Findings from the finnish adoptive family study of schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 1997; 154(3): 355-362.

Walker, E, Cudeck, R, Mednick, S, Schulsinger, F. Effects of parental absence and institutionalization on the development of clinical symptoms in high-risk children. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1981; 63: 95-109.

Walker, E, Aylward, E. Handbook of longitudinal research. Eds: Mednick, SA, Harway M and Finello, K. Praeger, Publishers, New York, USA, 1984; 2: 453-455.

Walker, E, Grimes, K, Davis, D, Smith, A. Childhood precursors of schizophrenia: facial expressions of emotion. Am J Psychiatry 1993; 150: 1654-1660.

Walker, EF, Diforio, D. Schizophrenia: a neural diathesis-stress model. Psychol Rev 1997; 104(4): 667-685.

Walker, E, Diforio, D, Baum, K. Developmental neuropathology and the precursors of schizophrenia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1999; 99 Suppl 395: 12-19.

Walker, J, Curtis, V, Murray, RM. Schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: similarities in pathogenic mechanisms but differences in neurodevelopment. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 2002; 17 Suppl 3: 11-19.

Walker, M, Shaper, AG, Wannamethee, G. Height and social class in middle-aged British men. J Epidemiol Community Health 1988; 42(3): 299-303.

van Erp, TG, Saleh, PA, Rosso, IM, Huttunen, M, Lonnqvist, J, Pirkola, T, Salonen, O, Valanne, L, Poutanen, VP, Standertskjold-Nordenstam, CG, Cannon, TD. Contributions of genetic risk and fetal hypoxia to hippocampal volume in patients with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder, their unaffected siblings, and healthy unrelated volunteers. Am J Psychiatry 2002; 159(9): 1514-1520.

van Erp, TG, Saleh, PA, Huttunen, M, Lonnqvist, J, Kaprio, J, Salonen, O, Valanne, L, Poutanen, VP, Standertskjold-Nordenstam, CG, Cannon, TD. Hippocampal volumes in schizophrenic twins. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2004; 61(4): 346-453.

van Os, J, Jones, P, Lewis, G, Wadsworth, M, Murray, R. Developmental precursors of affective illness in a general population birth cohort. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1997a; 54(7): 625-631.

van Os, J, Marcelis, M, Sham, P, Jones, P, Gilvarry, K, Murray, R. Psychopathological syndromes and familial morbid risk of psychosis. Br J Psychiatry 1997b; 170: 241-246.

van Os, J, Driessen, G, Gunther, N, Delespaul, P. Neighbourhood variation in incidence of schizophrenia. Evidence for person-environment interaction. Br J Psychiatry 2000; 176: 243-248.

van Os, J, Hanssen, M, Bijl, RV, Vollebergh, W. Prevalence of psychotic disorder and community level of psychotic symptoms: an urban-rural comparison. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001; 58(7): 663-668.

van Os, J. Does the urban environment cause psychosis. Br J Psychiatry 2004; 184: 287-288.

Watson, CG, Kucala, T, Tilleskjor, C, Jacobs, L. Schizophrenic birth seasonality in relation to the incidence of infectious diseases and temperature extremes. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1984; 41(1): 85-90.

Weinberger, DR. Implications of normal brain development for the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1987; 44(7): 660-9.

Weinberger, DR. Schizophrenia: From neuropathology to neurodevelopment. Lancet 1995; 346: 552-557.

Weinberger, DR, McClure, RK. Neurotoxicity, neuroplasticity, and magnetic resonance imaging morphometry: what is happening in the schizophrenic brain? Arch Gen Psychiatry 2002; 59(6): 553-558.

Weintraub, S, Neale, JM. The Stony Brook High-Risk Project. Children at risk for schizophrenia. A longitudinal perspective. Eds: Watt, NF, Anthony, JE, Wynne, L and Rolf, JE. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA, 1984: 243-285.

Weintraub, S. Risk Factors in Schizophrenia: The Stony Brook High-Risk Project. Schizophr Bull 1987; 13(3): 439-450.

Velakoulis, D, Wood, SJ, McGorry, PD, Pantelis, C. Evidence for progression of brain structural abnormalities in schizophrenia: beyond the neurodevelopmental model. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2000; 34 (Suppl): 113-126.

Westergaard, T, Mortensen, PB, Pedersen, CB, Wohlfahrt, J, Melbye, M. Exposure to prenatal and childhood infections and the risk of schizophrenia: suggestions from a study of sibship characteristics and influenza prevalence. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1999; 56(11): 993-998.

WHO. The Tenth Revision of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD-10): Diagnostic Criteria for Research. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 1993.

Winnicott, D. Collected papers. Through paediatrics to psychoanalysis. Tavistock, London, UK, 1951.

Vogt, W. Dictionary of statistics & methodology. SAGE Publications, Inc., London, UK, 1999.

Wolf, LE, Cornblatt, BA, Roberts, SA, Shapiro, BM, Erlenmeyer-Kimling, L. Wisconsin Card Sorting deficits in the offspring of schizophrenics in the New York High-Risk Project. Schizophr Res 2002; 57(2-3): 173.

Woods, B. Is schizophrenia a progressive neurodevelopmental disorder? Toward a unitary pathogenetic mechanism. Am J Psychiatry 1998; 155: 1661-1670.

Worland, J, Lander, H, Hesselbrock, V. Psychological evaluation of clinical disturbance in children at risk for psychopathology. Journal of abnormal psychopathology 1979; 88(1): 13-26.

Worland, J, Weeks, D, Weiner, S, Schechtman, J. Longitudinal, prospective evaluations of intelligence in children of risk. Schizophr Bull 1982; 8: 135-141.

Worland, J, James, C, Anthony, J, McGinnis, M, Cass, L. St. Louis Risk Research project: comprehensive progress report of experimental studies. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA, 1984: 105-147.

Wrede, G, Mednick, S, Huttunen, M, Nilsson, C. Pregnancy and delivery complications in the births of an unselected series of Finnish children with schizophrenic mothers. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1980; 62: 369-381.

Wrede, G. Vulnerability to schizophrenia: A theoretical and empirical approach. Department of Psychology, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland, 1984.

Wright, IC, Rabe-Hesketh, S, Woodruff, PW, David, AS, Murray, RM, Bullmore, ET. Meta-analysis of regional brain volumes in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 2000; 157(1): 16-25.

Wynne, LC, Cole, RE, Perkins, P. University of Rochester Child and Family Study: Risk research in progress. Schizophr Bull 1987; 13(3): 463-476.

Xu, X, Wang, WP, Guo, ZP, Cheung, YB, Karlberg, J. Seasonality of growth in Shanghai infants (n=4128) born in 11 consecutive years. Eur J Clin Nutr 2001; 55(8): 714-725.

Yasuno, F, Suhara, T, Okubo, Y, Sudo, Y, Inoue, M, Ichimiya, T, Takano, A, Nakayama, K, Halldin, C, Farde, L. Low dopamine d(2) receptor binding in subregions of the thalamus in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 2004; 161(6): 1016-1022.

Yolken, RH, Torrey, EF. Viruses, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorder. Clin Microbiol Rev 1995; 8(1): 131-145.

Yung, A, Phillips, L, McGorry, P, McFarlane, C, Francey, S, Harrigan, S, Patton, G, Jackson, H. Prediction of psychosis: A step towards prevention of schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 1998; 172 (Suppl. 33): 14-20.

Yung, AR. Commentary: The schizophrenia prodrome: a high-risk concept. Schizophr Bull 2003; 29(4): 859-865.

Yung, AR, Phillips, LJ, Yuen, HP, McGorry, PD. Risk factors for psychosis in an ultra high-risk group: psychopathology and clinical features. Schizophr Res 2004; 67(2-3): 131-142.

Zahner, GEP, Hsieh, C-C, Fleming, JA. Introduction to epidemiologic research methods in: Textbook in Psychiatric Epidemiology. A John Wiley & Sons, New York, USA, 1995: 24-28.

Zammit, S, Allebeck, P, Andreasson, S, Lundberg, I, Lewis, G. Self reported cannabis use as a risk factor for schizophrenia in Swedish conscripts of 1969: historical cohort study. BMJ 2002; 325(7374): 1199.

Zornberg, G, Buka, S, Tsuang, M. Hypoxic-ischemia related fetal/neonatal complications and risk of schizophrenia and other nonaffective psychoses: A 19-year longitudinal study. Am J Psychiatry 2000; 157: 196-202.

13. APPENDIX

Definitions:

AFFECTIVE PSYCHOSIS= any psychosis with prominent pathological mood symptoms (such as euphoria or depression)

CATATONIA= pathological condition with motoric immobility or stupor, or with excessive motor activity not influenced by external stimuli, extreme negativism, stereotyped movements, prominent mannerisms, or grimacing, echolalia or echopraxia

COHORT STUDY= a study of the same group (cohort) over time, but not necessarily of the same individual members of that group

CONCORDANCE= proportion of twin pairs who are similarly affected

DELUSION= false beliefs held despite evidence to the contrary

FOLLOW-UP STUDY= a study of the same group (cohort) over time, with the same individual members of that group

GENE-ENVIRONMENT INTERACTION= different effects of a environmental exposure on disorder risk in persons with different genotype or vice versa (different effects of a genotype on disease risk in persons with different environmental exposures)

GENOTYPE= genetic constitution

HALLUCINATIONS= sensory perceptions occurring without the appropriate stimulation of the corresponding sensory organ

HERITABILITY= measures the degree to which genetic factors influence the variability in the phenotype: if phenotypic variability (V_p) is divided into statistically independent genetic (V_g) and environmental variability (V_e) , heritability (h^2) can be calculated as the ratio of genetic and phenotype variances $(h^2 = V_g / V_p)$. Specific to the population and time period studied

HIGH-RISK METHOD= a method of studying the early antecedents of a disorder by investigating individuals who are at increased risk of developing it, typically those with a family history of the disorder

INCIDENCE= number of new cases of a disorder or illness that appear in a population during a specified period. Can be divided into incidence density (number of events occurring per unit of population per unit of time) and cumulative incidence (estimate of the probability of the occurrence of an outcome event over a specified period of time)

NEGATIVE SYMPTOMS= condition with affective flattening, alogia (reduced quantity or context of speech), avolition-apathy (diminished ability to initiate and follow through on plans), anhedonia (lack of pleasure)-associality, or inattentiveness

NONAFFECTIVE PSYCHOSIS= any psychosis without prominent pathological mood symptoms

ODDS RATIO= a ratio of one odds to another. The odds ratio is a measure of association, but unlike other measures of association, '1.0' means that there is *no* relationship between the variables. The size of any relationship is measured by the difference (in either direction) from 1.0. An odds ratio less than 1.0 indicates an inverse or negative relation; an odds ratio greater than 1.0 indicated a direct or positive relation

PHENOTYPE= the observable characteristics of an individual, determined by genetic and environmental factors

POSITIVE SYMPTOMS= condition with hallucinations, delusions, suspiciousness, persecutory ideas, or grandiosity

PREVALENCE= number of cases of a disorder present either at a particular point in time (point prevalence) or during a particular period of time (period prevalence)

PROBAND= the individual who first comes to the attention of investigators and, because of his disorder, leads to a detailed study of the genetic transmission pattern within the family to determine if there is pattern within the family that might be genotypic in nature

PSYCHIATRIC EPIDEMIOLOGY= the branch of psychiatric research that investigates how mental illness is distributed in the population, and the factors that influence the distribution

PSYCHOTIC SYMPTOMS= abnormal (pathologic) experiences that are mistakenly taken as real (including delusions, hallucinations, or bizarre behaviours); conditions where there have been some loss of contact with reality

RISK FACTOR= an attribute or exposure that is associated with an increased probability of a specified outcome (not necessarily causal)

RISK RATIO= relative risk= a ratio of two rates of categorical variables; the ratio of the risk of a disorder among the exposed compared with the risk among the unexposed (for rare diseases, such as schizophrenia, the odds ratio approximates the relative risk)

SCHIZOPHRENIA= a disorder that manifests with multiple signs and symptoms involving thought, perception, emotion, movement and behaviour. Those manifestations combine in various ways, creating considerable diversity among patients, but the cumulative effect of the illness is always severe and usually long-lasting

(Reber, 1985; Zahner et al., 1995; Vogt, 1999; Mueser & McGurk, 2004)